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Highlights 2008

+6.5%

Sales

Symrise outperforms the market
+ 6,5 % in local currency

19,9 %

EBITDA margin
forecasted EBITDA margin achieved

|HOVAS

Adjusted EPS

adjusted earnings per share
(EPS) reaches 2007 level

9,3 %

Free cashflow/sales

strong cash flow generation




Key Figures

€ million 2007 2008 Change AR % Change LC %
Sales 1,274.5 1,319.9 3.6 6.5

Scent & Care 671.3 671.8 0.1 3

Flavor & Nutrition 603.2 648.1 7.4 10.4
EBITDA 2721 262.5 -4 -4
EBITDA margin % 21.3 19.9

Scent & Care 134.7 130.2 -3 -3

Flavor & Nutrition 137.4 132.3 -4 -4
EBITA 232.3 221.6 -5 -5
EBITA margin % 18.2 16.8

Scent & Care 114.7 109.8 -4 -4

Flavor & Nutrition 117.6 111.8 -5 -5
EBIT 195.7 187.0 -4 -5
EBIT margin % 15.4 14.2

Scent & Care 98.6 94.8 -4 -4

Flavor & Nutrition 971 92.1 -5 -6
Net loss/income for the year 97.4 90.4 -7 -2
Earnings per share € 0.82 0.76 -7 -2
Dividend per share € 0.50 0.50
Balance sheet total 1,790.9 1,890.7
Shareholders’ equity 642.7 648.4
Capital ratio % 35.9 34.3
Investments (excluding acquisitions) 40.6 45.0
Employees (as of December, 31) number 5,046 5,219
Operating Free Cashflow 145.5 123.4

N N

SALES AND EBITDA SALES AND EBITDA SHARE OF SALES

SCENT & CARE FLAVOR & NUTRITION OF THE DIVISIONS

€ million € million %

AR ; 49
- =8 - 51 Flavor & Nutrition
Scent & Care
M Sales Sales
M EBITA M EBITA
06 07 08 06 07 08

* Adjusted for integration and
\ restructing expenses

* Adjusted for integration and
k restructing expenses
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FINANCES/STRATEGY

-

Chronicle 2008 - Highlights

SCENT & CARE

January 2 February March 5 April 1-2 April 24
Symrise and No developments Annual Press and 2008 All Stars Small / Mid-Cap
Cambridge Thera- Analyst Conference Conference, Conference,
nostics enter into in Frankfurt. New York. London.
a strategic part-
nership. March 12-13 April 21 April 25
Small / Mid Cap Symrise and Symrise acquires

January 14-16 Conference, Cutech found the US-based
German Invest- London. SCoutech. flavors business
ment Seminar, The company of Chr. Hansen.
New York. offers customers

from the cos- April 29
January 21-23 metics, pharma- Shareholders’
German Corporate ceutical and Meeting in
Conference, nutrition supple- Frankfurt.
Frankfurt. ment industries

highly developed

testing methods

for production

agents.
June 2 to serve the July 4 July July 11
Renowned derma-  Chinese market. Symrise sponsors Symrise enters into Symrise expands
tologist Xuemin the building of a a biotech partner- its facility in

Wang joins the
Symrise Scientific
Advisory Board.

June 4

Symrise opens its
new Creative Cen-
ter in Shanghai.
The center pools
the Scent & Care
division’s expertise

October 16
Symrise opens a
new development
center in Moscow,
including new
laboratories for
the Sweet, Savory
and Beverages
business units,

as well as a Center
for Sensory Con-
sumer Science.

June 4

Symrise launches
“Navigator,” its
new sensory
consumer science
research system.
It also opens a
Center for Con-
sumer Research

new school in
China’s earthquake-
stricken Sichuan
province.

July 15

Frank Pellmann
becomes Symrise’s
new European HR

ship with Therapeu-
tic Peptides Inc.
(TPI) in the US,
thereby acquiring
exclusive marketing
rights to state-of-
the-art cosmetics
agents.

Mexico City with
new laboratories
for developing
flavorings and
culinary appli-
cations.

in Shanghai. director.
/
" 7
October 8 October 31 November 12-13  November 6
High-class scents Symrise releases Germany Confer- Symrise acquires
for a good cause: its first genealogy ence, Frankfurt. the US-based fra-
Symrise perfumers  for skin care grance business
and international products. November 18-20  of Manheimer
fashion designers Global Consumer &  Fragrances.
join forces to cre- Q Retail Conference,
ate exclusive per- Yol oo New York.
fumes for
charitable organi- m November 24
zations. o Symrise enters into
a strategic partner-
October 14 ship with US-based
Symrise and First Choice Ingre-
Cutech receive dients, expanding
the award for the companies’
Best New Tech- leading role in the
nology at the HBA area of enzyme-
industry awards in modified flavors.
New York.
- J
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Vice President
for Innovation/
Marketing Fabric
& Home Care.

ics” by becoming
the exclusive mar-
keters of organi-
cally grown plant
extracts from
California-based
Bayliss Ranch.

grances, becoming
one of the leading
fragrance produc-
ers in the US air
care market

September 12
Best of Germany
Conference,
New York.

September 24 - 25
German Investment
Conference,
Munich.

November 14
Symrise opens its
Global Citrus Cen-
ter in Brazil to ex-
pand its innovative
technologies in
citrus flavors.

-

November 12
Nathalie Feisthauer -

becomes Symrise’s

new Senior Per-
fumer in its Paris
Creative Center.

November 17
The American
Society of Per-
fumers presents
its Perfumers
Choice Awards
in New York,
recognizing
four Symrise
perfumers.

-

November 20
Symrise, BRAIN
and AnalytiCon
acquire exclusive
marketing rights
for innovative
cosmetic agents
made from natural
ingredients.

tion Day” in Ham-
burg, which
highlights trends,
target groups and
PR relating to suc-
cessful beverage
products.

December 11
Symrise expands
its Vienna facility,
opening the Mar-
garine Compe-
tence Center,
which focuses on
developing new
culinary products.

s Y 4 N

April 25 April 2 May 15-16 May 26 June 4-5
Symrise organizes Novel sunscreen Chemicals SymClariol® and German
the “taste for care: Symrise de- Conference, SymMollient® W/S Corporate
life®” symposium velops innovative Zurich. win the BSB Inno- Conference,
on healthier nutri- recipes for sun vation Prize in Frankfurt.
tion. Participants protection that are Amsterdam.
include leading easier on the skin.
food producers,
trade association April 8
members and Symrise’s Scent &
policymakers. Care division re-

structures its inno-

vation management

activities.

J
e " N

July 15 August 4 September 3 September 18 October 9
Holger Wetzler Symrise focuses Symrise acquires Symrise initiates Symrise is joined
becomes Symrise on “green cosmet- International Fra- “Beverage Innova- by top chef

Marcus Leben,
who contributes
his culinary
expertise in the
area of savory
flavors.

Y
December 18
Symrise launches

its SymTriol™
cosmetic agent.
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“For the year as a whole
we managed to stay at
the same high level as
in 2007, our record year.”
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2008: A financial crisis became an economic crisis spanning the world and unparalleled in history. When the year
came to a conclusion, there was no end in sight. Ever-new questions arose that are still waiting to be answered. If
there was an economic word of the year, it was “uncertainty” - written large and more and more often, and used
almost exclusively in the plural. We at Symrise have a response. Our response by no means denies the uncertainties.
Instead, it says that there are ways of not only surviving them, but also continuing to live profitably despite these
uncertainties. Our response: continuity, flexibility, stability.

We owe our stability to the strategy we adopted when we went public at the end of 2006. We see this strategy
confirmed again by our results in 2008. And we view our good results as the accomplishment of the more than
5,000 people at Symrise worldwide. They implement the strategy all year round and constitute the real value
of the company.

The difficulties our competitors had to contend with in 2008 also affected us. Raw materials prices were high, and
growth in the developed markets was restrained, particularly in Western Europe and generally in the fine fragrance
and luxury segment. As the dimensions and consequences of the economic crisis became clearer in the second half
of the year, our customers’ ordering and inventory behavior became increasingly cautious and conservative. The
negative developments became more apparent from quarter to quarter, reflected above all by a comparison between
the quarters and our record year, 2007. In accordance with these developments, we had to adjust our expectations
from quarter to quarter.

For the year as a whole, however, we managed to stay at the same high level as in 2007. We achieved important
goals. Including our important acquisitions, our sales grew by 6.5% at local currency. Our EBITA compared to last
year was down slightly by 5%. In the unfavorable environment of 2008, we regard our EBITDA margin of almost

20% as good - better than or comparable to the other leading companies in the flavors and fragrances industry. It
is especially good in comparison with other industries. Our underlying earnings per share remain on last year’s level
at€1.02.

But it is never solely a matter of results and it is always wrong to view a single year in isolation. It is primarily
a question of how we achieved our good results, and whether they helped position us to continue to develop in
the years to come.

The decisive question is: Can we maintain in the next few years the stability we have demonstrated since our
flotation? When | strategically examine the development of our industry on the one hand, and our own develop-
ment and results on the other in the last three years, the answer is a resounding yes.

The flavors and fragrances industry is stable. Within this stable industry, Symrise is one of the four market leaders.
The flavors and fragrances industry largely has to do with satisfying fundamental needs such as eating, personal care
and household hygiene. These basic needs also have to be met in times of crisis.
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At Symrise, around 90% of our products are geared to satisfying basic needs. While this does not make us immune to
crises, it does make us crisis-proof to a large degree. If we manage to meet these needs more efficiently, quickly and
creatively, we will not only confront problems during the crisis, but also discover new opportunities. I'm confident
that we will be able to maintain our stability in 2009.

I would like to give a few reasons for why | am confident.

» The potential of our “AND” products, products that offer new and additional functions, is becoming more apparent
in both divisions. In the Fragrances & Care division, cosmetic active ingredients, sun protection filters (UV filters)
and our Life Essentials in general are showing good growth; in the Flavor & Nutrition division our “taste for life®”
products are growing well;

~

We are on the core lists of important global customers and have supplemented this business with good relation-
ships to attractive regional and local customers in important markets;

~

We have a good position in the fastest-growing markets, Asia and Eastern Europe;

~

With the acquisition of Chr. Hansen Flavors, Intercontinental Fragrances and Manheimer Fragrances, we signifi-
cantly bolstered our presence in North America; the integration work has been completed successfully, and both di-
visions are showing good growth in the important US market;

~

We heightened our proximity to customers and to the market. We further expanded our citrus competencies by
opening a new center in Brazil; we extended our knowledge in the important Chinese market thanks to a new
Creative Center in Shanghai. We also opened development centers in Mexico City and Moscow to be able to
better serve the rapidly growing markets there;

~

Alliances we forged to enhance our innovativeness are starting to bear fruit after only a short time; here | will cite
as examples our partnerships with the biotech experts BRAIN and the specialists for natural products AnalytiCon
Discovery.

As we reported at the end of 2008, personal reasons led me to decide not to renew my contract as CEO of Symrise.
My contract runs out at the end of October 2009. | announced my decision at an early stage to give the Supervisory
Board enough time to find the right person to help Symrise develop successfully in the years to come.

My personal decision does not change Symrise’s strategy. It means that another person, to be more precise another
person in a team of more than 5,000 people, will further develop the corporate strategy. The task remains the same:
to consistently and profitably realize the potential in our processes and products, in our markets and above all in our
people.

But let’s not deceive ourselves. 2009 will not be easy. The uncertainties that devastated the global economy in
2008 will also be felt in 2009. Those who still speak of certainty have not learned the lessons of last year - or have
not accepted them. Those who promise certainty are laboring under an illusion. Those who speak of stability are
positive-thinking realists who insist in an economically critical way on differentiating between illusion and hope and
base their hope on the content of their business.
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We can hope that 2009 will bring the world economy more certainty. But we have to plan without this certainty. We
at Symrise will find the certainty missing in the economic environment in our corporate strategy. Hyper-activism will
be the wrong approach; increased interaction between employees and with our customers will be more important
than ever. As a result, we will know better what our customers need, and how we can provide it faster, better and
more profitably. Due to the uncertainties of the global economy, it is impossible to make precise forecasts. But even
in this situation, Symrise’s strategy promises stable growth.

At the Shareholders’ Meeting on May 11, 2009, we will propose paying a dividend of € 0.50 per share. The total
dividend payment amounts to approximately € 59 million. This confirms our dividend strategy of paying 50% of our
adjusted profit to our shareholders. We view the dividend payment in the current difficult economic situation
as well-earned acknowledgment of the trust that you, our shareholders, have put in us. It is also a sign

of the trust we have in ourselves that we will continue to earn your trust in the future.

Sincerely,

GeJroId Linzbach
CEO

Annual Report 2008 Symrise AG | 9
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Dr. Heinz-)iirgen Bertram Dr. Gerold Linzbach
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Growth Means Stability - in Nature
and in Our Business :
-

Mint refreshes and cools — and simply tastes good. It is one of our most important
natural raw materials, playing a key role in both our Flavor & Nutrition division and
our Scent & Care division. In the Mint segment, we offer the entire range of mint
aromas and intermediate products for toothpaste, mouthwashes and gum. Symrise

is the market leader in aromatization of toothpastes and mouthwashes.

In nature and in a business enterprise,
growth is a sign of inner forces and

a favorable environment. In a business
enterprise, however, it is not a self-evident
process but a strategic one. Our strategy
makes growth the nature of our business.
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SALES AND EBITDA
TOTAL COMPANY*
€ million

M before
going public

M Sales
[ EBITDA

05 06 07 08

* Adjusted for integration and
restructuring expenses

GROWTH - THE NATURE OF OUR BUSINESS

Growth is not self-evident - neither in nature nor in business. We
see growth as a goal, and as the result of a long-term strategy.

Growth - a reference value in space and time

Growth is a value, but not an absolute value. It is measurable, and
has to be measured in space and time. Growth is also a future
value. Today’s growth has to be the beginning of tomorrow’s. A
company that doesn’t strategically ensure that it will grow tomor-
row has already stopped growing today.

We don’t want to be incomparable. We prefer to simply become
better and better. We want our performance and our competitive-
ness to measure up. That’s why we critically compare ourselves
with our goals, with our market and with the best companies in our
industry. We don’t just make these comparisons for a day, for a
quarter or for a year. These periods are important to us, but they
aren’t the basis for measuring growth that we’re striving for. We’re
striving for growth that is apparent today and foreseeable for
tomorrow - long-term, continuous, stable growth.

A new beginning

Symrise’s roots date back to 1875 when the
Haarmann & Reimer company was founded
in Holzminden. In 2003, Haarmann &
Reimer merged with another Holzminden
company called Dragoco. Dragoco was
founded in 1915. Our roots are recogniz-
able in our logo. When the hummingbird of
Haarmann & Reimer joined forces with the
dragon of Dragoco, the result was something
colorful, dynamic, new. Symrise went on the stock
market at the end of 2006.

Our flotation marked a new beginning. A new age dawned in which
we started measuring our growth in a different context, under
tighter competitive conditions. The new era began with a sharp-
ened strategic focus, and with a promise: We intend to grow faster
than our market - today and tomorrow.

The path to this goal is our strategy. Our strategy has an impressive
simplicity; it requires continuous, stringent consistency. We seek to
offer innovative products. When we research and develop our prod-
ucts, we focus on the needs of our customers. The main focus is
products that offer added benefits - our “AND” products. We want
to be well-positioned in the fastest-growing areas - with large multi-
national customers and in the emerging markets.

14 | Annual Report 2008 Symrise AG



ALWAYS
INSPIRIN
MORE...

THE POWER OF ‘AND’
the appeal of our products
and technologies

OUR THREE
BRAND PILLARS

INDISPENSABLE BOLD
the measure of our service

our unmistakable way
of doing things

The flavors and fragrances market - a growing

market that is growing together

The market for flavors and fragrances (F&F market) achieves an-
nual sales of approximately € 13 to € 14 billion. More than 500
companies are active in this industry worldwide. More than 50% of
the total sales is generated by the top four companies: Givaudan
S.A. (20%) and Firmenich S.A. (13%), both from Switzerland; IFF
(12%) from the USA; and Symrise (10%). In recent years, the mar-
ket has been characterized by consolidation. We expect this con-
solidation process to continue. Due to higher entry barriers, we
do not expect any new companies to enter the top tier in our in-
dustry. However, we do anticipate continued stiff competition.

We estimate that the F&F market will grow by 2% to 3% a year in
the long term. The financial and economic crisis that became ever
clearer and more drastic in the second half of 2008 affected the
F&F market, albeit less so than other industries. According to our
estimates, the F&F market grew by less than 2% because of the
global economic downturn.

Symrise continues to grow - and faster

In 2008, we grew further, in spite of the fact that we had to strug-
gle with high raw materials prices throughout the year and with
the economic crisis. When the business environment worsened,

we had to adjust our original expectations to the new situation.
Yet at the end of the year we had grown twice as fast as the mar-
ket. On alocal currency basis, our sales including our acquisitions
in the US rose by 6.5% (3.6% at the current exchange rates). With
an EBITDA of € 262.5 million (- 0.4%), we reached the level of our
record year, 2007. Our adjusted earnings per share (EPS) were
€ 1.02, equivalent to the previous year’s level. With a good cash
flow of 9.6% of sales revenue, we recorded an EBITDA margin
of nearly 20%.

And the future?

At present, the economic signs are not good worldwide. Economic
policy measures are being implemented; it will take time before
we see whether they have an effect. We consider it a good sign
that we were able to achieve so much in 2008. The first half of
2009 will surely be difficult, and the year as a whole will be a
challenge. But we are well-positioned strategically, self-critical
enough to learn from last year and open to opportunities that can
arise even in times of crisis. And we believe we will be able to keep
the promise of our strategy next year as well.
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Flavors and Fragrances Are More
Than Just Flavors and Fragrances

Lemon remains one of the world’s most popular and versatile fruits. In 2008, we
opened a new Global Citrus Center in Sorocaba, Brazil. With access to first-rate
raw materials and by expanding our innovative technologies, we will be able to
extend our market position in the citrus aromas segment.

Those who grow change. We’re growing
because we know how the needs of our
customers change. And because we’re
not content to merely satisfy their needs.
The names of our divisions express some-
thing that makes us different and that
changes the flavors and fragrances indus-
try. Our divisions are called Scent & Care
and Flavors & Nutrition.
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SHARE OF SALES OF
THE DIVISIONS
%
49
Flavor & Nutrition
51

Scent & Care

More than just flavors and fragrances?

Why are flavors and fragrances more than just flavors and fra-
grances at Symrise? There are two interrelated answers to this
question. “Always inspiring more...” is a basic principle of our cor-
porate philosophy. But another fundamental tenet of our Com-
pany’s philosophy is not to see everything only from our
perspective, but also from that of the market. We offer more be-
cause our customers need more - more and more variety.

Basic needs - the constancy of change

Almost 90% of our products have to do with satisfying basic needs.
Our products focus on food, body care and household hygiene.
People will continue to have all of these needs regardless of the
times. But times change and so do people. The way people eat,
care for themselves and clean constantly changes, depending on
the culture they live in, the state of the technology, the prosperity
of the society - and on each individual. These changes are our chal-
lenges. We have to react to them with product ideas that are con-
crete, precise and efficient. And we have to react better and faster
than the competition.

Reconciling opposites through new approaches

and more inspiration

People today live more consciously. They want more for themselves
and require more from the products they use. It is not easy to
satisfy people with simple answers because their questions have
become more complex.

With the increasing wealth of many countries in the world, the issue
of nutrition has changed. People want foods that not only satisfy
hunger and taste good, but that are also healthy. Tasting good
and being healthy is not a contradiction, but a requirement. Can a
product taste good with less sugar? Can a product taste spicier
without salt?

In addition, people today have a different understanding of beauty.
Cosmetics not only relate to aesthetics but also to health. For
body- and health-conscious people, appearance and reality are not
opposites. Can you get older without your skin aging too? Can you
enjoy the sun without it damaging your skin?

People’s self-awareness today includes a growing awareness of
nature and the environment. Here, too, a seeming contradiction
has become a new requirement. The desire for products made from
more natural raw materials is connected with the desire to protect
nature’s raw materials.

18 | Annual Report 2008 Symrise AG



Our requirement is to meet new requirements
with innovative approaches.

Care that gets under your skin

Beauty comes from within - with the help of products from the
Life Essentials business unit of our Scent & Care division. Symrise
is entering new territory in the context of the F&F market, exploit-
ing the “Power of AND” to the full extend. Beauty and health are
combined through the use of substances that protect people
“under the skin” from dangerous UV radiation, that slow down skin
aging and that soothe irritated skin.

People are more than what they eat

What people demand from food today is what they demand from
themselves. They want to enjoy life to the fullest, but not at the
expense of their health. Can foods have a full taste with less sugar,
salt and fat? Is natural flavor in today’s food only a memory of yes-
terday? Not everything necessary for health tastes good. Can we
make a virtue out of taste necessity? Is it possible to not only sup-
press unpleasant tastes but also to arouse new taste impressions
at the same time? In our Flavor & Nutrition division, the answer is
“taste for life™.” The categorical imperatives of today’s cuisine are
“lighten up™,” “be natural™” and “get active™.”

Market knowledge and closeness to customers -
partnerships for success

Our customers view us as a partner because for us success is al-
ways the result of good collaboration, whether with our large multi-
national customers who have put us on their core lists, or with our
regional and local customers with whom we generate around
two-thirds of our sales. In 2008, we took several steps to boost
our strengths.

Fortification for the future

In Scent & Care, we bolstered our position in the world’s largest
market by making two acquisitions. The acquisition of the US
divisions of Manheimer Fragrances and Intercontinental Fra-
grances have made us a main competitor in this important market
for fragrance manufacturers. With the purchases, we gained
access to raw materials as well as to development and production
capacities in the important organic fragrance segment. A global air
care center in the United States is planned for 2009.

In addition, we formed important alliances in the US. We height-
ened our expertise in the “green cosmetics” segment by entering
into an alliance with the California company Bayliss. We are taking
over the exclusive sales of organic plant extracts, which are used
in cosmetics and body care products with organic ingredients -

products that are becoming more and more important. An alliance
with the biotech company Therapeutic Peptides, Inc has given us
access to the innovative group of peptide substances, which are
used, for example, in anti-aging products.

Thanks to our partnership with Cambridge Theranostics in Great
Britain, we can now tap the potential in the fast-growing “beauty
from within” segment.

In Flavor & Nutrition, we also increased our competitiveness in the
United States through important acquisitions. We took over the
aroma division of Chr. Hansen and as a result are well-positioned
in the attractive US flavor market. A strategic alliance with the
American company First Choice Ingredients has bolstered our po-
sition in the dairy product segment.

We opened a Global Citrus Center in South America in 2008. In
Sorocaba, Brazil, we have direct access to high-quality raw mate-
rials as well as innovative technologies and can thus expand our
market position in the citrus segment. We also improved our cus-
tomer service in Mexico by adding new development and applica-
tion labs.

We strategically developed our presence in Europe by expanding
our Vienna branch. From there, we will be able to step up cooper-
ation with our customers in Austria and southeastern Europe. A
new development center in Moscow will help us better understand
and satisfy customer needs in this growing market.

We market more than 30,000 products in over 140 coun-
tries. In the manufacture of our products, we use approxi-
mately 10,000 natural and synthetic raw materials from
all over the world. For more information about our prod-
ucts, visit our website at www.symrise.com.
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Innovation |s Never Just About Products

Vanilla led to one of our first innovations. In 1874, Dr. Wilhelm Haarmann,
one of the founders of our company, made vanillin as the first synthetic aroma
compound. Today we are focusing on developing and marketing natural vanilla

aromas and extracts.

Innovation does not begin with products.
It begins earlier, with the way in which
we think about products. For example,

our “AND” products offer an added benefit.

But where does the “AND” come from?
Can it be that R & D actually begins and
ends with consumer research and market-

Ing? Yes, and ...
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Innovation is not an art, unless...

In a business enterprise, innovation is not an art, unless the art
comes from ability - and the ability comes not only from the re-
search lab but also from the market. A philosopher may contem-
plate things in general, but an entrepreneur knows that there is no
such thing as a product per se. Every successful product is a prod-
uct for someone. Therefore, in our research activities we have
turned things on their head, so to speak, with the feet standing in
the respective market in which the product is sold. We have inte-
grated our research and development, consumer research and
marketing activities worldwide.

A new star rising in the East -

the Creative Center in Shanghai

China is a huge market that is becoming more and more important
for Symrise. The Chinese market - like the emerging markets in
general - is growing faster than the established markets. In China,
our sales are growing with the market. Our new Creative Center in
Shanghai aims to ensure that things stay that way.

The new Creative Center is in the Puxi district, in the heart of mod-
ern Shanghai. Here, all of the departments and creative resources
of our Scent & Care division are bundled. At the same time, the
center in Shanghai will serve as a hub for northeast Asia.

Navigator - a center within a center

Our strategy of integrating market needs and research and devel-
opment is finding its most consistent expression thus far in Shang-
hai. At the heart of the new Creative Center is a center for
consumer research - the global “Navigator Center.”

Navigator is a unique system developed by Symrise for consumer
research. Navigator combines different approaches and methods
far exceeding the possibilities of classical analysis methods. With
the aid of Navigator, we can utilize an international database which
is continuously updated by our worldwide “Consumer Insight”
network. The new system is used to understand consumer trends
and to analyze the language of consumers. Information on con-
sumer acceptance of different categories of flavors and fragrances
is evaluated. As a result, we gain better insight into the sensory
categories that are decisive for research and development and for
the successful positioning of our products in the different markets.

Navigator provides us with useful information about the prefer-
ences and consumer trends of important Asian growth markets in-
cluding the Chinese, Indian, Indonesian, Thai and Philippine
markets. At the same time, it enables us to compare consumer
needs internationally and thus identify global trends. By creating a
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common “fragrance language” on the basis of the Symrise ge-
nealogy, the Navigator optimizes communication between con-
sumer researchers, fragrance developers, marketing managers and
customers. Focus group rooms and sensory facilities ensure that
qualitative research can be done continuously at the location.

Testing for the skin without testing the skin

Strategic alliances play a key role in our research activities. By
forming alliances, we supplement our own strengths purposefully
and efficiently - and successfully. For instance, together with the
Italian biotechnology company Cutech we developed a whole-skin
model which can be used to test the effectiveness of, for example,
skin pigmentation modulators and substances that fight cellulites
or skin aging. The new model, called PSOCM (Pig Skin Organ Cul-
ture Model), is an ethical, versatile, timesaving and cost-effective
alternative to animal experiments and artificial skin models. The
pigskin used for the test models comes exclusively from animals
from meat manufacture; therefore, usage fully complies with the
new EU cosmetics guideline. In September 2008, this innovation
recieved the HBA (Health & Beauty America) Best Technology
Award in New York.

An innovative trap for fruit

At our new Global Citrus Center in Brazil, SympTrap® will play a
key role. SympTrap® is an innovative method used to recover high-
quality aromatic substances that are normally lost when fruits and
vegetables are processed. Using the method, we can exploit raw
materials more completely than before - without expending sig-
nificantly more energy. The interplay between quality, technology
and sustainability is setting trends for the future.

Consumer
. Research
Creation ()

&
Marketing

“AND” products and production

“The Power of AND” is more than a product philosophy. We also
intend to offer our customers added benefits in the supply chain.
Our innovative approach is called Symchronize™. This integrated
approach is realized in close contact with selected customers and
encompasses the entire value chain, from raw material procure-
ment to the end product. Customer service, integration and trans-
border cooperation also play a key role in the production context.
Our goals are integrated with the goals of our partners in the sup-
ply chain - they are “Symchronized.” The Symchronization of joint
processes optimizes resource usage, inventories and cycle times.

All of our research activities are customer and market oriented. In
both divisions, they are integrated directly into the organization
and closely entwined with our market research. Hence we have
R & D centers at different sites worldwide: in Brazil, China,
Germany, France, India, Japan, Mexico, Austria, the Russian Fed-
eration, Singapore and the US. We supplement our own research
activities through strategic alliances with leading researchers and
research facilities across the globe. About a fifth of our total work-
force is involved in research. In 2008, we spent 6.5% of our sales
(around € 86 million) on research and development.

For more information on our latest product innovations,
visit our website at www.symrise.com.

Annual Report 2008 Symrise AG | 23

Company




24

Annual Report 2008 Symrise AG



Responsibility Knows No Boundaries

Company

The candeia tree grows in the Brazilian highlands. Alpha-bisabolol is obtained

from the oil of the tree. Alpha-bisabolol has an anti-inflammatory effect and is

an important component of many cosmetics products. Symrise is the world’s largest
manufacturer of natural alpha-bisabolol and an important advocate of the principles
of sustainability. We invest a great deal to help preserve the candeia tree in its
natural habitat.

In a globally active company like
Symrise, responsibility is at home
everywhere. In Holzminden, where
we originated; in the United States,
where we bolstered our presence
In 2008 with new acquisitions; in
Shanghai, where we opened a

new Creative Center; and in the
Brazilian rain-forest, where we obtain
our alpha-bisabolol from the
candeia tree.
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Responsibility begins at home

What do a “snack garden” in a small German town and the Brazil-
ian rainforest have in common? Responsibility. To be more pre-
cise, the corporate responsibility of Symrise. As different as a
rainforest is from a snack garden, they have one common feature:
Symrise is at home there. And where you are at home you have re-
sponsibility.

What does it mean for a global company to be at home?
For a globally operating company such as Symrise, that means
being at home in more than 140 countries - and taking responsi-
bility in all of these nations. A company active around the globe has
to have an environmental strategy - in several respects. The com-
pany has to recognize local regulations and at the same time set
global standards for itself. And sometimes, global standards can
bring about a world of change at a location.

Regulations are good, planning ahead is better -

strategy, not control

Corporate social responsibility (CSR) is an integral part of our strat-
egy. It characterizes the way we think and act from the beginning.
It is not an afterthought. With increasing economic globalization,
itis plainer than ever before: We are part of a whole, because there
is only one world. Our company’s success is indivisible from the
world in which we achieve it. And when there is a worldwide
economic crisis, it becomes evident how much the world needs a
healthy economy to ensure prosperity and to push through envi-
ronmental measures. As part of the world, we as a company are
co-responsible for it - not reactively, but proactively. For us, the re-
sult is a world of commitment.

» We are committed to our shareholders. We do everything we can
to maintain and increase the value of the company.

~

We are committed to our employees. Our success is their
accomplishment. Safe working conditions, development oppor-
tunities and fair treatment of staff are prequisites at Symrise.

~

We are committed to our customers. We provide quality and con-
tinuously improve it. Our quality is partially responsible for our
customers’ success and encompasses many things: product
quality and safety, reliable delivery, fair prices and good coop-
eration.

~

We’re committed to our neighbors in the countries in which we
operate around the world. We respect their culture and needs.
We view the safety and environmental compatibility of our sites
and products as joint, actively shared interests. As a company,
our interest is economically motivated. But it is also anchored in
society with local roots. An understanding of the countries in
which we are active is part of our self-understanding.

~

We are committed to nature - in several respects. Our products
are largely based on natural raw materials. Part of the nature of
our business is to protect the nature that we need. Our aim is to
utilize raw materials stemming from renewable resources. Using
state-of-the-art technologies we process raw materials more
effectively than ever before. As a result, we consume fewer raw
materials and less energy. Part of our environmental strategy is
our own climate protection concept. Although we sell more, we
manage, for example, to significantly reduce greenhouse gas

26 | Annual Report 2008 Symrise AG



emissions. We require of ourselves what the world requires of
us: the highest environmental protection and ecological stan-
dards worldwide.

~

We are committed to innovation because we are committed to
the future. For us, innovation is not only the key to our compet-
itiveness but also the basis for economic, ecological and social
sustainability.

Forging ahead with good examples
In 2008, there were a few examples that set trends for the future.

A school of hope. In May, thousands of people died in one of the
most severe earthquakes in China’s history. Cities were reduced
to rubble. Symrise donated € 50,000 to provide hope where there
was only desperation. The donation was used to build a new
school. The school bears the name “The Symrise School of Hope.”

To your health. At sites around the world, Symrise regularly
organizes activities to promote the safety and health of its staff.
In Singapore, we received the Singapore Health Award for our
efforts.

The garden of bidden
fruit. The difference be-
tween the Garden of
Eden and the small
garden in Holzminden
where Symrise has its
origins is telling. In Eden
there was fruit that led
to sin. In Holzminden,
there are no forbidden
fruits. On the contrary,
those who eat from the
fruits in the Holzminden
snack garden resist the
temptations of improper
nutrition. The world’s
first snack garden was
an initiative introduced by Symrise to fight obesity and other ill-
nesses caused by improper nutrition. The initiative was launched
in 2006 on an 8,000 m? piece of land with grass, the remains of
an old orchard and a brook. Children aged three to twelve can play-
fully learn that eating the right foods is not a sin but is very healthy.
Within the framework of the “Germany - Land of Ideas” initiative,
the snack garden was recognized in 2008 for its unique edu-
cational concept.

The tree of acknowledgement in Brazil. The snack garden in
Holzminden and the Brazilian highlands that are home to the can-
deia tree are worlds apart - unless, of course, one is conscious of
the fact that there is only one world in which social awareness and
ecological awareness are both parts of the same concerns about
the future. Symrise is the world’s largest manufacturer of natural
alpha-bisabolol, which is obtained in Brazil from the oil of the can-
deia tree. Due to its anti-inflammatory properties, among others,
alpha-bisabolol is an important component of many beauty prod-
ucts. Symrise acknowledges the principles of sustainability and
obtains the oil from controlled farms as much as possible. At the
same time, we invest large sums to promote the preservation of
the candeia tree in its natural habitat. At this location, we are build-
ing a network with certified partners.

... always inspiring more. Can global standards change the world
locally? An example from China shows that this is possible. During
one of our regular audits, we discovered that a manufacturer in
China no longer met our worldwide standards for sustainability in
the supply chain and we therefore terminated cooperation with
the company. The manufacturer took our demands seriously and
built a new state-of-the-art production facility. Now the coopera-
tion can continue.
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“We wanted

to grow faster
than the
market, and
we succeeded
despite the
unfavorable
environment.”
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Dr. Gerold Linzbach, speaking
with Dr. Thomas Quinn

2008 was a difficult year for many companies and indus-
tries. Are you satisfied with Symrise’s performance?

Satisfied, no. Not because our performance wasn’t good, but
because good can quickly become the enemy of better. Those who
are satisfied won’t necessarily get better. | think we can still im-
prove on our good performance. That remains our goal. Again this
year, we sought to grow faster than the market, and we succeeded
despite the unfavorable environment. With a sales growth of
6.5% we reached the high level of our previous record year. Our
EBITDA margin of just under 20% was slightly weaker than in the
previous year. But compared to other industries it is a very good
margin. It shows how robust the flavors and fragrances (F&F) mar-
ket is. Within this robust industry we rank in the Top 4. This con-
firms our strategy. But this confirmation is no reason for us to be
satisfied. Instead, it’s an incentive for us to continue to pursue our
strategy.

What factors played the biggest role in the 2008
business results?

The environment was difficult. Raw materials prices were high, and
in the context of the increasingly severe financial and economic
crisis in the second half of the year it wasn’t possible to completely
balance out the raw materials price increases through higher
prices. In this environment, our customers’ ordering behavior was
more conservative than otherwise. This negative trend became no-
ticeable in established European markets.

On the positive side: This year we again achieved good growth in
the rapidly growing markets in Asia. In Europe, the situation is
more differentiated. The markets in Eastern Europe are growing
faster than in Western Europe. We improved our position in the
former. In Western Europe, the market was more restrained over-
all. We were able to keep pace with our competitors there, but we
couldn’t outperform them. We achieved good growth in the US,
despite the costs of integrating Chr. Hansen Flavors, Manheimer
Fragrances and Continental Fragances.

Fourth quarter numbers were not good. What is the
explanation for this negative development?

The fourth quarter was worse than expected, especially in com-
parison with the previous year. There is a small consolation. In a
sense there is no historical comparison to what happened to the
entire global economy last year. The fourth quarter directly re-
flected how the overall economic uncertainty grew towards the
end of the year. At Symrise this expressed itself in different ways.

For example, despite the negative environment the Scent & Care
division - including the acquisitions of Intercontinental Fragrances
and Manheimer Fragrances - grew by about 8.5%, at local cur-
rency by 7.2%. In geographical terms, the emerging markets were
the growth drivers. From the viewpoint of products, our “AND”
products were growth drivers. We even managed to grow in the
US, because we gained positions on two important core lists.
These results show that our strategy is on the right track. In the
Fragrances area, especially in fine fragrances and the luxury seg-
ment, sales declined. In Europe the economic downturn was par-
ticularly evident.

How important are the acquisitions in the US?

In spite of the economic uncertainties prevailing in the United
States, the US market will remain important for the entire F&F in-
dustry in the future. It is large and very competitive; presence and
image play a big role there. With the acquisitions, we acquired ex-
pertise that has strengthened both divisions and firmly established
our company’s presence in the United States. The integration went
according to plan and was successfully concluded by the end of
the year. The acquisitions are examples of strategic decisions
which are hardly recognizable in the results for 2008 but which
will be decisive for the future.

What were last year’s future-oriented strategic decisions?

Strategic decisions are always geared to the future. For this rea-
son, we never evaluate our results for a given year in isolation, but
always critically in the context of a longer-term, sustainable strat-
egy. It is never a matter of a single decision. Our strategy is the
sum of many critically examined individual decisions in different
markets, which further expand our technology and innovation com-
petencies and heighten our proximity to our customers and end
consumers.

You repeatedly stress the Symrise strategy. What are the
main elements of this strategy? Has it changed since the
company went public at the end of 2006?

The three pillars of the strategy remain the same - “The Power of
AND,” “indispensable” and being “bold.” Let me begin with “in-
dispensable.“ On the one hand, we want to be on the so-called
core lists of our biggest and most successful multinational cus-
tomers, and on the other hand we want to have a strong presence
with regional and local customers in the rapidly growing threshold
countries. Good customer relations and a strong position in the
most important markets are the prerequisites for stability and
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A few future-oriented strategic decisions
from last year:

) In Shanghai, we opened a Creative Center for our
Scent & Care division. With it, we will better un-
derstand the cultural qualities of the important
Chinese market. The Shanghai Creative Center is
not only a research unit. For us, innovation is not
just a research matter but a combination of cre-
ativity, cultural knowledge and expertise, and
market analysis. Ultimately, the decisive success
factor is an understanding of the people who
need our products and therefore buy from our
customers;

~

To grow our business in Eastern and southeast-
ern Europe, we opened centers in Vienna and
Moscow;

~

We have bolstered our market position in the
strategically important citrus segment by opening
a global citrus center in Sorocaba, Brazil. We
have access to first-rate raw materials there. In
addition, we have further developed our own in-
novative technologies;

~

In Mexico we have opened new facilities for
development and applications;

~

The acquisitions of the flavors business of
Chr. Hansen, Manheimer Fragrances and Inter-
continental Fragrances in the US will strengthen
our presence and competitiveness in the world’s
largest single market;

~

We gained important positions on new core lists,
for example in the US;

~

Our “AND” products grew well in both divisions
and underscored their strategic importance. The
innovative areas “Life Essentials” and “taste for
life®” are developing especially well.

growth. Here “indispensable” not only means independence, but
also reciprocity, a partnership based on a win-win relationship.

How do you become “indispensable”?

It presupposes that we understand our customers and our markets
so well that we can anticipate their needs. We have been able to
do that better every year. In addition, we have the good fortune of
being indispensable not only to a few large customers, but to many
others as well. Since we are indispensable to many customers,
we are not overly dependent on one. None of our customers ac-
counts for more than 5% of our sales. We have increased our op-
portunities and distributed the risks. And since we have developed
good relations with regional and local customers, we can do busi-
ness with them in addition to multinational core list customers.
At present, we do approximately 70% of our business with regional
and local customers. The balance between our relationship with
large international customers and regional and local ones is a sign
of stability.

... and "The Power of AND.” What is this “power”?

The power of “AND” is basically the power of a paradox. People
today want their basic needs met but are not satisfied with merely
having their needs met - they want more. Can you have your cake
and eat it, too? With our “AND” products we try to answer this
question affirmatively. In terms of our strategy, the “more” that
people today expect means: “Always inspiring more.” In the fu-
ture, more people will desire flavors and fragrances that offer
more than before. Expectations are higher and at the same time
more differentiated. People not only want more flavor; they want
more flavor and more health. The combination of flavor and health
is playing a bigger and bigger role in our Flavor & Nutrition division.

What people expect in fragrances has also changed. In this area,
too people want more and different from before. Functionality
is combined with a feeling of fitness and well-being. In Scent
& Care, for example, we have supplemented our classic fragrances
business with cosmetic ingredients. Here the power
of “AND” means, say, that a skin cream not only moisturizes
the skin but also protects it from the sun and premature aging.
This is a completely new and profitable path in the traditional
F&F industry.

What is the relevance of “AND” outside of Symrise?

The “AND” embodies the necessity and the potential to change
our industry. The new path is signified by the names of our
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divisions. At the same time, the names of the divisions are an
expression of their self-understanding. At Symrise, the fragrances
division is called Scent and Care. The flavors division is called
Flavors and Nutrition. The motto is change or be changed.

“AND” has to do with the way we understand our business. We at
Symrise not only seek to meet our customers’ expectations. Suc-
cess in our industry will increasingly depend on the ability to an-
ticipate new expectations. The trick is to meet expectations almost
before they are perceived. It’s that simple - and that difficult.

Is “The Power of AND” merely philosophy? Where can it be
felt concretely in products?

Philosophy or product would be an erroneous either-or-proposition.
Here, too, we should stress the “and.” We should really talk about
a product philosophy. In the Scent & Care division “The Power of
AND” is currently clearest and most concretely recognizable in our
Life Essentials products. To understand what life essentials are is
not a philosophical task for us, but an entrepreneurial duty. How
do people want to shape their lives? How do people today define
what is necessary in life? We try to answer these questions with
products. In the Life Essentials segment of the Scent & Care divi-
sion we grew 9%. In the current economic environment the growth
of the “AND” products may slow down, but we are confident that
they will show overproportional growth even in the current crisis
situation.

... and in the Flavor & Nutrition division?

In the Flavor & Nutrition division, I'd like to put special emphasis
on the “taste for life®” products. The focus here is to develop
healthier foods. Behind the brand names LIGHTEN UP™, BE NAT-
URAL™ and GET ACTIVE™ are products that use natural flavorings
to, for example, reduce sugar, salt and fat content. With other prod-
ucts, the aim is to mask flavors that are unpleasant but promote
better health with new flavors. For instance, cod liver oil doesn’t
taste better when we speak of Omega 3 fatty acids, but you can’t
taste the unpleasant flavor in breakfast yogurt because it’s smug-
gled past the taste buds in an encapsulated form. Through the
combination of enjoyment and health there is more of both - for
the benefit of all. The demand for products combining sustain-
ability, health and functionality will grow in the future. We achieved
double-digit growth with these products and as a market leader
we are well positioned for further growth.

So is “The Power of AND” only the sum
of the product attributes?

It would be wrong to reduce “The Power of AND” to the sum of
product features. Products are only part of our business. Here
we’d have to talk about product philosophy again, and about
corporate philosophy. If you focus too much on products, then we
look like a manufacturer of products. But we are much more than
a product-making company. Instead, we work more like designers
or architects.

Symrise as a designer or architectural office?

Actually, yes. Customers often can only describe what kind of feel-
ing or effect a product should have or elicit - freshness, for ex-
ample, or clarity or courage. That’s very subjective, differing from
culture to culture and from person to person. The functionality of
the product - anti-aging, UV sun protection, or salt and fat reduc-
tion - which can accompany the feeling is comparatively objec-
tive. The “product” we ultimately provide is a composition of many
different components that work together to correspond to a per-
ception which in a way cannot be measured objectively. Let’s stick
with the image of the architect. The satisfied customer knows
when everything is finished: The house is right, it’s my house, un-
mistakable, unique - and the customer feels good about it. But he
doesn’t know how the house was built in detail. And he doesn’t
have to know. We have to know. That’s our knowledge.

What is special about this knowledge?

You can acquire sustained growth with this knowledge. How can you
acquire this knowledge? You need experience and know-how, re-
search in a double sense, scientific research and market research,
creativity and a feeling for innovations. Know-how in chemistry is
not as important as experience and openness for things that are
new and different. Thinking outside the box is decisive.

What role does innovation play in the F&F industry?

There is no question that innovation will continue to determine our
industry in the future. The question is how to determine innova-
tion. We see innovation as the exact anticipation of an individual
need. The impetus comes less from basic research and much more
from society and from the market. Innovation is the point at which
creativity in the market context becomes concrete. That’s why we
integrated our research and development, marketing and con-
sumer research. When you separate research from market re-
search in a company, you seem to give research autonomy; in
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reality, however, you really reduce its importance. Product inno-
vations go into the market faster when we better know the needs
they have to meet in the market. And since markets differ from
culture to culture, we conduct customer- and consumer-oriented
research at different centers worldwide - in Paris, Holzminden and
Shanghai, but also in New Jersey, Moscow and Brazil.

What role does creativity play?

Concrete product innovations as well as innovative marketing ap-
proaches and new technologies are ultimately the product of cre-
ativity. Creativity always has to do with people - and that’s why
we’re constantly looking for creative-minded people in all areas -
perfumists and flavorists, researchers, the people who buy our raw
materials and manage our supply chain and those who manufac-
ture and send out our products, to cite just a few examples. We are
not competing for sales, but primarily for the people who make
sales possible. For creative people, nothing has to stay the way it
is. The incentive to take new paths, new risks, to give more than
only what is necessary, comes from inside. In our strategy, we seek
to combine creativity with “The Power of AND.” This leads to in-
novations that will be successful in the market in the future.

How do you distinguish between innovation and creativity?

You can’t systematize creativity. You have to have a clear idea of
what it is and means, and then you have to look for it systemati-
cally. Once you’ve found creativity, you have to give it more room
to unfold. Creativity is something very individual with very subjec-
tive, almost artistic components. To my mind, innovation is not an
artistic category; it’s an entrepreneurial one through and through.
Creativity and innovation promote each other in the right context.
We’re working on making Symrise such a context and keeping
things that way. Here the third pillar of our strategy comes into
play. Being “bold” ensures that the link between creativity and in-
novation is also a link between the interests of the customer and
the interests of Symrise as a results-oriented company.

Since Symrise went on the stock market at the end of 2006
the company has showed stable growth. But the share has
developed negatively nonetheless ...

Unfortunately, stock markets worldwide have developed negatively,
particularly in the second half of 2008. And unfortunately, we were
not able to prevent Symrise from succumbing to this general de-
velopment. But the fact that most other companies have had a
similar fate is no consolation. In addition to that, Symrise is still
actually a newcomer on the stock market. And newcomers have a

more difficult time when there is an economic crisis. In our view
the specific potential of Symrise is not reflected by the develop-
ment of our share last year. There is something important and pos-
itive that distinguishes our industry from other industries and that
distinguishes our company from the competitors in our industry. A
newcomer is not afraid to try new things. In the F&F market that
can mean advantages for the customers.

How do the F&F industries differ positively from
other industries?

The flavors and fragrance industry is less dependent on cyclical
developments than, say, the automobile industry or the finance in-
dustry. The high raw materials prices in the first half-year that
caused us problems were not a result of the financial and eco-
nomic crisis in the second half. With a weak economy it will be dif-
ficult in 2009 to implement price increases, but the F&F industry
will remain stable next year as well. It is conceivable that the lux-
ury segment will continue to be under pressure. On the whole,
however, the F&F industry has to do with basic needs, such as eat-
ing, drinking, personal hygiene and household hygiene. People
have a certain choice about how to satisfy these needs, but not
about whether to satisfy them. | don’t view the general economic
downturn as a crisis threatening the survival of our industry. An
indication of this is that many of our customers from the consumer
goods industry achieved good results last year. Our products are
an important component of their success and a reason to be op-
timistic about our industry. | don’t want to make a virtue out of ne-
cessity, but one shouldn’t overlook the fact that a main virtue of
the F&F industry is a stability that is relatively resistant to eco-
nomic developments.

Where does Symrise stand within the flavors
and fragrances industry?

Last year, the global F&F market had an estimated total volume of
€ 13 billion to € 14 billion. Symrise has a market share of approx-
imately 10% and is one of the four market leaders, along with
Givaudan and Firmenich in Switzerland and International Flavors &
Fragrances (IFF) in the United States. In a way the F&F business
is not very complicated. The F&F market, on the other hand, is
highly complex. The barriers to entering the top tier are great. Cus-
tomer requirements are constantly growing. Higher-quality and
more differentiated products, flexibility and reliability worldwide
have become the minimum requirements in the top tier. You have
to have a recognizable, proven global presence. The critical mass
has to have sufficient sustainable innovativeness and financial sta-
bility to consistently pursue the corporate strategy. Added to that
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are increasingly strict and expensive regulations worldwide
regarding product quality, safety and environment. Symrise is one
of the few companies that fulfills all of these conditions. None of
the market leaders has it easy, but despite the economic uncer-
tainties, we have a certain stability because of this.

Do you expect the flavors and fragrances industry to
undergo changes in 2009?

The market is still very fragmented. There are more than 500 com-
panies in the F&F market. The top four manufacturers together
have a market share of more than 50%. The consolidation process
will continue. The big companies in the top tier will have better
growth opportunities than the small ones. | expect the top tier of
our industry to remain stable. I’'m not afraid of new players, but |
expect competition between the market leaders to stiffen.

How does Symrise differ from its rivals?

In general terms, our strategy and the consistency with which we
pursue it. Less generally, the specific way we are positioned in the
market. This is often overlooked. We have a different self-image, a
different customer portfolio, and we are organized differently.

With our “AND” products we have laid the foundation for gaining
new market shares in established as well as new, rapidly growing
markets in the future. Unlike our main competitors, we are active
in the growing market for cosmetic active ingredients in addition
to the classic F&F market. We are putting our emphasis on
care and nutrition within the F&F context. We see additional
potential here.

Our customer portfolio is well balanced. We do 30% of our business
with international core customers. We achieve about 70% of
our sales with regional and local customers in emerging markets
where our size and experience are particularly important to young,
growing clients. Our organizational structure permits trans-
divisional synergies, and at the same time each division has the in-
dependence it needs to make quick and efficient operational
decisions.

How do you assess your chances for 2009?

Our chances to keep growing faster than the market and the com-
petition, and to improve our profit, are good. We have a stable or
growing presence in all the important markets worldwide. We have
access to the necessary raw materials and a supply chain that can
combine constantly improving flexibility with efficiency. We are in

“Our chances to
keep growing faster
than the market and
to Improve our profit
are good. We have
a stable or growing
presence in all the
Important markets
worldwide.”
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“If we can manage
to satisfy basic
needs with better
margins, as well
as faster and more
creatively, we will
also discover new
opportunities during
the crisis period.”

a good position financially. Our cash flow is good and our financ-
ing is ensured until 2011. We have the financial means and leeway
to strategically gauge our consolidation opportunities. And we are
in a position to meet strict regulations worldwide. We have been able
to meet all requirements of the EU REACH (Registration, Evaluation,
Authorization and Restriction of Chemicals) ordinance. As far as en-
vironment, health and safety are concerned, we have proven our-
selves to be a responsibly-minded, “sustainable” company.

To be sure, the general economic environment will be difficult in
2009. At Symrise, more than 90% of our business concerns sat-
isfying basic needs. Only about 10% involves products in the more
economy-dependent luxury segment. When there is an economic
downswing, people do not abandon their basic needs. But they
are especially open to new ways of satisfying them. If we can
manage to satisfy these basic needs with better margins, as
well as faster and more creatively, we will not only confront prob-
lems during the crisis period - we will also discover new
opportunities.

Do you have a sales and earnings forecast for 2009?

In the current context of the global economy, exact forecasts are
extremely difficult. At this point in time, | can only promise what our
strategy and preparations make possible - stability and continuity. We
can’t say exactly how much and how fast we will grow. But we are po-
sitioned worldwide so that we can outperform the competition.

Do you expect higher price pressure?

We have more than 10,000 different raw materials in our more
than 30,000 products. Raw materials prices comprise more than
40% of our costs. They were particularly high in the first half of
2008 and have stabilized somewhat since then. We were only able
to raise prices in the second half of the year, but that didn’t bal-
ance out the higher costs. We do not sell commodities, however.
Our products are not interchangeable. As a rule, they are tailor-
made for certain customers and have highly creative and innova-
tive components. Our products often account for a small part of
the total price of the end product, but due to their effect they often
play a big role in consumers’ purchase decisions. Against this
background, we can always expect relative price stability.

What possibilities do you have to cut costs?
We are continually optimizing our processes. Generally we adhere

to the “design to cost” principle. Since our products are normally
tailored to the specific wishes of individual customers, we can crit-
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ically examine the costs from the very outset. We combine effi-
cient recipe design with a procurement strategy that continually
looks for new markets for high quality but less expensive raw ma-
terials. Our supply chain is designed to be flexible enough to
quickly adjust to new systems and technologies. Overall we have
a holistic approach that goes from the purchase of a raw material
to the delivery of the finished product. Cost reduction and service
improvement go hand in hand.

In 2009, companies around the world are cutting back on
personnel to reduce costs. Do you think a reduction of staff
is an acceptable way of cutting costs?

Both job cuts and job additions are subject to the same principle.
At the end of the day, there are only as many jobs as competi-
tiveness allows. This applies every year, in every business envi-
ronment, not only for 2009. As a publicly traded company, we at
Symrise are obliged to be competitive, and we must be responsi-
ble to everyone who has put their trust in us - our shareholders
and customers as well as the countries where we operate. If we
see our competitiveness endangered, we have to act. But there
are other things that can be done before jobs are cut. Cutting jobs
is an extreme but, in certain circumstances unfortunately, a nec-
essary and legitimate measure to safeguard vital investments for
the company and ultimately keep as many jobs as possible.

Is Symrise planning job cuts for 2009?

Every year we develop various scenarios so that we can react
quickly to market developments. When there are positive
developments, we have to be in a position to expand capacities,
possibly with the help of additional personnel. With negative devel-
opments, we have to be able to reduce capacities, by cutting jobs
if need be. In both cases it’s a matter of maintaining and increasing
productivity. And in both cases we try to achieve this without
adding or reducing personnel. Before job cuts are contemplated,
other measures are considered, such as process optimizations,
new technologies and various savings measures in each area. But
if job cuts are necessary, we shouldn’t hesitate. If cutbacks should
be required, we have plans to make this is as socially responsible
as possible for the people affected.

In short, no job cuts are planned at Symrise at present, but this
cannot be completely ruled out. In today’s economy, a responsible
entrepreneur cannot guarantee jobs, just as he cannot guarantee
good results. Cutting back on jobs is not an end in itself. For us at
Symrise the primary issue is not whether we have too many peo-
ple. The most important question, rather, is whether we are in the

right segments. As a business enterprise, we only want to be ac-
tive in segments that promise profitable business. After that we
strive for results that safeguard our employees.

Do you have a forecast concerning the development
of the Symrise share?

Needless to say, we are not happy about the negative development.
The stability we have shown since we entered the stock market is
not reflected in the development of our share. There are many ex-
ternal factors affecting the share that we can’t influence at all. We
focus on what we can influence - on our margins, our costs and
processes, on innovative products. Our strategy is long term. If we
realize it, we will be able to achieve stable, sustained growth and
continually better results. Despite the current situation we believe
that the stock market will honor our stability over time.

What will you do to promote the share?

Above all, we will try to have good business results. But good re-
sults alone are not enough. They have to be communicated well.
In 2009, we intend to further intensify communication with our in-
vestors and potential investors. We intend to develop a closer re-
lationship with our key investors. In the long run, we can only
expect more trust from investors if they understand us better. We
have therefore made investor communication a top priority of the
entire Executive Board.

Dividend payments in the current economic environment
have been criticized by some. Should a company cut or stop
dividend payments to save jobs?

The values driving the criticism are important ones - responsibil-
ity and solidarity. But we should be careful about inaccurate over-
moralizing and ideology. The shareholder is usually not the
care-free, well-to-do individual. In most cases we are dealing with
an investor group that helps normal everyday people secure their
life insurance and build their personal savings. Sometimes the cap-
ital is needed by the company itself to ensure the company’s de-
velopment. Reducing the question of solidarity to an oversimplified
either-or is not helpful. A publicly listed company has to be re-
sponsible to both its shareholders and it employees. In the end,
playing one group off against the other won’t be responsible to ei-
ther group. It goes without saying that it would be irresponsible to
pay a dividend if it would jeopardize the company’s financial sta-
bility. That would be neither in the interests of the employees nor
in the interests of the shareholders.
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How important is the role of the CEO?

The CEO can enable a creative, productive corporate culture, but
he can’t substitute for it if it’s missing. The stability and produc-
tivity of a company should never depend on one person at the top;
they are the result of many individual people in the whole com-
pany, who have their own competencies and supplement and in-
crease their competencies through cooperation in a team. A CEO
who makes himself too important is heading in the wrong direc-
tion. He has to make the others important, give them freedom so
they can take responsibility themselves. A CEO who is always the
center of attention can be a kind of cult figure, but this would be
counterproductive in the culture Symrise is striving for.

In 2009, there will be a change of leadership at the top. At
the end of 2008, you informed the Supervisory Board that
you did not want your contract to be renewed for personal
reasons. Does your decision mean for Symrise, in addition
to external uncertainties in the global economy, problem-
atic uncertainties within the company?

| announced my decision early on so that the Supervisory Board
would have plenty of time to find the right successor. In the mean-
time, | will do everything | can to ensure that Symrise does not
lose its strategic focus but, on the contrary, sharpens it further.

Does a new CEO mean a change of strategy?

The change of leadership is not a change of strategy. The strategy
is confirmed by our results. It is important to develop the strategy
further. It has to be continually adapted to meet the changes in
the market. The leadership of the two divisions in which the strat-
egy is implemented will also remain the same. The divisions
operate independently under Achim Daub (Scent & Care) and
Heinz-Jurgen Bertram (Flavor & Nutrition). Both divisions have pre-
pared themselves well for the challenges of the market. We’ve
learned from last year’s developments.

What kind of corporate culture is Symrise striving for?

In recent years we at Symrise have tried to build a corporate cul-
ture focusing on creativity, individual initiative and personal re-
sponsibility. That doesn’t mean that the CEO isn’t important. But
his role is not to have the employees focus on him. His task, rather,
is to get the employees to focus on the corporate strategy and the
results. This is based on a different notion of leadership. The term
“manager” is not correct here. Instead of “managers,” one should
speak of “focusers,” of people who are strategically and objec-

tively focused themselves and therefore can focus others. Strate-
gic focus constitutes the potential of the company, since in the
long run strategic focusing leads to results. Such a culture cannot
be created on command; it has to be enabled and it takes time.
Symrise’s historical roots go way back, but Symrise is a young
company. Since our flotation at the end of 2006, a corporate cul-
ture has begun to emerge that makes me optimistic.

Dr. Linzbach, in conclusion, I'd like to return to Symrise’s
strategy. You discussed “The Power of AND” and “indis-
pensable.” What does being “bold” mean in Symrise’s
culture?

Being “bold” does not determine what we think and do, but how.
It is inextricably linked to the other two elements. Being “bold” is
the force that gives “AND” its power and fills “indispensable” with
life. It makes us bold, but not rash. We are prepared to take risks,
but we’re not careless. It forces us to focus on the present, with-
out losing our vision of the future. It may make us uneasy, but not
uncertain. It has nothing to do with arrogance, but with self-
assurance and entitlement. Being “bold” makes Symrise’s corpo-
rate culture an entrepreneurial culture. Being “bold” is the thorn
in our company’s side. It reminds us that we can accomplish some-
thing, but also that as businesspeople we should never rest on our
laurels, that the nature of our business is growth.
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Our People

Success has many faces. And it never
comes automatically. Corporate success

Is the achievement of many individuals who
work together as one company. At Symrise,
it is more than 5,000 individuals working
on five continents.
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Human resources: the principle of mutual responsibility
The most important resources of a company are its human re-
sources. The staff members embody the values of the company
and constitute the real value of Symrise. Among Symrise’s most
important values are creativity, initiative, responsibility, teamwork
and a result-oriented focus. Our HR strategy is based on a simple
idea: The employees are responsible for Symrise’s success, and
Symrise is responsible for the employees.

Personalized corporate strategy

Evaluating the performance of staff is important for every com-
pany and its workforce. It is particularly important at Symrise, be-
cause evaluation of staff is at the same time a kind of evaluation
of the company’s strategy. At the beginning of the year, Symrise
employees define their personal goals together with their superi-
ors. The personal goals are developed from the individual tasks of
the employee; the goals are concrete, measurable and directly re-
late to the corporate strategy. Skills and competencies are defined
in terms of the strategic categories “The power of AND” and “in-
dispensable”; actions and decisions are evaluated based on the
“bold” category. Did the staff member act creatively and in an en-
terprising way? Did their decisions make a concrete contribution
to increasing the company’s value? Did they simply accept exist-
ing processes? Or were they “bold”? Did they, for example, ques-

tion processes and improve them? When employees deal with their
personal goals they are simultaneously dealing with the Company’s
strategy.

We believe that the best way to increase the value of our Company
is to ensure that our people continue to develop. An example: the
Symrise Academy.

The Symrise Academy - qualifications for quality

and competitiveness

The Symrise Academy plays a key role in our employees’ develop-
ment. The academy systematically promotes special talents en-
suring that the Company will remain competitive in the future. So
that nothing is overlooked, the approach has a twofold focus. On
the one hand, the aim is to promote the different creative abilities
that are necessary in each of our divisions. On the other, it’s a
matter of enhancing management skills that are needed to recog-
nize market requirements at an early stage and to meet them be-
fore the competition does. Creativity without knowledge of the
market is blind, and knowledge of the market without creativity
that gives rise to innovative products is fruitless in the end.

At the Perfumers’ Creative Academy, creativity has a double
meaning - a meaning for fragrances and a meaning for markets.
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A complete Junior Perfumer program lasts two years. It starts with
the study of raw materials and extends to the fundamental busi-
ness categories - Fine Fragrance, Personal Care and Household
Products. The course of study includes a stay abroad. For gradu-
ates and postgraduates, the focus is on chemistry, technique and
management skills that turn creations into successful products.
Senior Perfumers take “scent expeditions.” They experience spices
and flowers in places where they have natural and cultural origins.
And the journey also leads to the generation of new fragrance
ideas.

At the Flavor Academy, the training is more than just a matter of
taste. Those who pass the theoretical and sensory entrance ex-
amination can go on to learn the theory and practical skills of a fla-
vorist. After two years, the trainee’s knowledge is tested and they
present their own aroma composition. In addition to the flavorist
program, there is also a program to become a Product and Appli-
cation Development Technologist. Symrise is one of the few com-
panies in the world that offers a flavorist training program.

How does a company become and remain competitive in an in-
creasingly complex, highly competitive global economy? There is
no single, simple answer to this question. Consequently, Symrise’s
Leadership Academy offers managers many possibilities. The

focuses include communication strategies and techniques as well
as management and training skills. A mentoring program ensures
that young managerial staff benefit from the experience of senior
managers. With the help of the “leadership toolbox,” top managers
engage with the most important economic issues and corporate
strategies. In March, the Company’s top 20 managers met to dis-
cuss acquisition strategies; staff of the renowned Management
School St. Gallen were also present at the meeting.
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The Share

The Development of the Symrise Share in 2008

The predominant factors influencing stock markets in 2008 were
the financial crisis and its impact on the global economy, as well
as the rapid increase in prices for raw materials and energy. These
factors accelerated the global downturn on the stock markets and
subjected them to increasing volatility. Growing fears of a reces-
sion, the insolvency of numerous US-based banks and the

PERFORMANCE OF THE SYMRISE STOCK IN COMPARISON TO THE MDAX IN 2008
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difficulties many companies experienced in securing financing all
resulted in diminished confidence among shareholders and served
as a drag on market performance over the course of the year.
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cludes the Symrise share, declined by a slightly greater amount,
ending the year at 5,602 points, down some 43% over the course
of 2008.

Despite positive expectations on the part of analysts and a posi-
tive response from investors, in the first quarter of 2008 the
Symrise stock fell under its initial listing of € 17.25. Subsequently,
shares of consumer product companies - who are supplied by
Symrise AG and who therefore serve as a key indicator for it - were
particularly hard hit by developments in the stock markets. Con-
sequently, the price of the Symrise stock continued to decline. In
light of the ongoing financial crisis and its impact on the global
economy, stock markets worldwide underwent another major wave
of consolidation beginning in July 2008. As a result, the Symrise
stock reached its lowest price for the year - € 7.75 - on October
28, 2008, subsequently posting gains in the following weeks. It
closed on December 30, 2008, at € 9.98, down 48% for the year.
The performance of the Symrise stock thus reflected the per-
formance of the MDAX® over the course of 2008.

The decline in the stock markets continued in 2009. The Symrise
stock price also continued to fall, closing at € 8.01 on February 18,
2009, when the 2008 Annual Report went to press.

We expect stock markets to experience considerable volatility in
2009 and possibly to continue their downward trend. The defen-
sive nature of our business model, however, should serve our share
price well during these difficult, uncertain times.

Trading Volume and Market Capitalization:

Increase in Turnover

The average daily turnover of Symrise stock in the XETRA elec-
tronic trading system, which accounts for some 94% of total trade
in the Company’s shares, rose in 2008 by 50% to 760,000 shares
per day. (In the 2007 financial year, the figure was approximately
505,000 shares.) On the busiest days, more than 2,000,000
shares changed hands. With a market capitalization of € 1.1 billion
- based on the free float of 94% - the Symrise stock was ranked
13th within the MDAX® at the end of 2008. With that, it has a
weighting of 2.6% within the index.

Shareholder Structure: Free Float Constant at 94%

The shareholder structure did not change to any significant degree
in 2008. The vast majority of our shares are held by institutional
investors in English-speaking countries. The largest single share-
holder is Gerberding Vermdgensverwaltung, which holds 6% of
our stock.
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Investor Relations: In-Depth Dialog with the Capital Market
Our ongoing, in-depth dialog with analysts as well as institutional
and private investors is very important to us. The goal of the dia-
logue is to communicate Symrise’s development and strategic
alignment transparently and openly and thereby achieve a realis-
tic and fair valuation of our stock on the capital market.

At our analysts’ conference in March 2008, the board presented
to some 60 analysts and investors detailed information on fiscal
year 2007, the Company’s strategy and sales and earnings ex-
pectations for fiscal year 2008. The Company’s performance was
also discussed at length during three telephone conferences held
in the first three quarters of 2008, which had an average of 50
participants.

We were able to welcome some 200 shareholders to our second
regular Shareholders’ Meeting, held on April 29, 2008, in Frank-
furt, Germany. The attendees represented some 70% of our share
capital, and they approved the individual items on the meeting’s
agenda with no less than 98.9% agreement.
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In addition, at numerous road shows, investor conferences and
one-on-one meetings at all the key financial centers in Europe, in
the US, and at individual business sites, the Executive Board and
Investor Relations team shared information in approximately 400
meetings on Symrise’s current performance and strategy. The
Company’s individual divisions and operative management were
also included in this dialog. Analysts and investors, for example,
were given the opportunity to learn more about operations at our
Scent & Care division in Zwingenberg, near Frankfurt, during the
Investor Day there, an event that allowed them to better under-
stand the division’s creativity, innovative strength and growth op-
portunities.

Existing and potential shareholders can learn more about the
current performance of our Company by visiting the Symrise web-
site at http://investor.symrise.com/, which provides compre-
hensive information about the Symrise share in both German and
English. In addition to current news and quarterly and annual re-
ports, users can access analysts’ ratings, presentations and our

present financial calendar. Our website and the information con-
tained there are scheduled to be upgraded and expanded in 2009.

In times of uncertainty, it is especially important that we maintain
ongoing contact with existing and potential shareholders and that
we reinforce their confidence in Symrise. Global road shows and
an Investor Day have therefore been planned once again for 2009,
in addition to one-on-one meetings and the regularly held tele-
phone conferences used for presenting our quarterly results. In
addition, we will participate to an even greater extent in investor
conferences for institutional and private shareholders. We feel cer-
tain that such communications activities will pay off once the pre-
sent market turbulence subsides.

Research Coverage: Increasing Analyst Interest

In the 2008 fiscal year, we were able to entice six additional in-
vestment firms to begin releasing regular analysis and commentary
(research coverage) on Symrise AG. Twenty-one investment firms
- primarily in Germany, the UK and Switzerland - now publish reg-
ular reports on the ongoing performance of our Company and pro-
vide recommendations. Their investment recommendations are
nearly consistently positive: As of the end of December 2008, 14
out of 21 analysts rated the Symrise stock “Buy,” six recommen-
dations were “Hold,” and one was “Sell.” Analysts appreciate the
defensive nature of our business model, our stable cash flow and
our limited cyclical business operations.

In 2009, one German bank has initiated research coverage with a
“Buy” recommendation.

Stable year-on-year adjusted EPS

Earnings per share amounted to € 0.76, compared to € 0.82 in
the previous year. Earnings per share are determined by dividing
Group net profits by the number of shares outstanding in the
reporting year. This figure remained constant in fiscal year 2008
at 118,173,300 shares.

Adjusted earnings per share amounted to € 1.02, the same level
as in the previous year. Adjusted earnings per share are deter-
mined by adjusting Group net profits for one-off tax effects, non-
cash interest movements, and amortization of recipes, and then
dividing by the number of shares outstanding in the reporting year.
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Attractive Dividend Proposed for 2008

At the Shareholders’ Meeting on May 11, 2009, the Executive
Board and Supervisory Board of Symrise AG will propose paying a
dividend of € 0.50 per share for fiscal year 2008. This corresponds
to a payout ratio of approximately 50% of adjusted Group net profit.
Comparing the dividend per share to the share price of € 9.98
as of December 30, 2008, this represents a dividend yield of
approximately 5.0%.

With the 2008 dividend, which is unchanged from 2007, the
Executive Board and Supervisory Board want to continue their
shareholder-friendly dividend policy. In the future, we intend to
maintain a payout ratio of approximately 50% of adjusted earnings
per share.

KEY FIGURES FOR THE SYMRISE STOCK

Stock category

No-par bearer shares of common stock

Trading segment

Prime Standard (Official Market, Amtlicher Handel)

Index MDAX, Dow Jones STOXX® 600, Dow Jones Euro Stoxx® Chemicals
Sector Chemicals

Most important trading place XETRA (electronic trading platform)

Ticker symbol SY1

ISIN DEOOOSYM9999

WKN SYM999

Common Code 027647189

Designated sponsors

Deutsche Bank,
UBS Investment Bank (until March 2009)

Initial listing

December 11, 2006

COMPARATIVE PERFORMANCE OF THE SYMRISE STOCK

2007 2008
Shares issued as of balance sheet date millions 118.2 118.2
Share capital € million 118.2 118.2
Highest share price (XETRA closing price) € 22.20 19.28
Lowest share price (XETRA closing price) € 17.90 7.75
Share price at end of fiscal year (XETRA closing price) € 19.28 9.98
Free float % 94.1 94.0
Market capitalization at end of fiscal year
(based on free float) € million 2,124.0 1,109.0
Average daily trading volume shares, approximately in T € 505 760
Earnings per share € 0.82 0.76
Adjusted earnings per share € 1.02 1.02
Dividend per share € 0.50 0.50
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Corporate Governance

The Executive Board, acting on behalf of the Supervisory Board as
well, reports on the corporate governance at Symrise in accor-
dance with Section 3.10 of the German Corporate Governance
Code as follows:

Corporate Governance at Symrise is based on the German Cor-
porate Governance Code which has established itself as guideline
and standard for good corporate governance in Germany. We are
convinced that good corporate governance is a prerequisite and in-
dispensible basis for the success of a company. Particularly in
times of a worldwide financial crisis, this success depends even
more so on the trust of our business partners, financial markets,
investors, employees and the public. Confirming and further
strengthening this trust is a prioritized objective at Symrise.
Achieving this objective calls for responsible leadership and cor-
porate management and control focused on creating sustainable
added value, i.e. “corporate governance.”

We therefore welcome most emphatically the amended version of
the German Corporate Governance Code of June 6, 2008, as pub-
lished by the Federal Ministry of Justice in the official section of its
electronic Federal Gazette of August 8, 2008. We have already
aligned ourselves in the past to international and nationally rec-
ognized standards of good and responsible corporate governance
and will continue to do so without restriction in future as well. In
fiscal year 2008, we once again involved ourselves intensively and
across all areas with the fulfillment of the provisions of the German
Corporate Governance Code, in particular with the new require-
ments of June 6, 2008.

Agreement on a remuneration system for the Executive Board, in-
cluding main contractual elements, was reached in the past by the
Supervisory Board upon proposal by its Presidential Committee,
and it has since audited this system regularly. Naturally, we will
continue to adhere to this. Likewise, the former proposal for a so-
called “severance pay cap,” which was upgraded to a recommen-
dation, has also been put into place at Symrise. We will also be
adhering to this. Additional payments as a result of a premature
termination of an activity on the Executive Board of Symrise AG in
the course of a “change of control” were not and are not foreseen
in the service contracts of the members of the Executive Board of
Symrise AG.

As in past years, we have implemented the recommendations of
the German Corporate Governance Code at Symrise in full, with
just two minor exceptions.

Statement of Compliance

Under § 161 of Germany’s Stock Corporation Act (“AktG” -
Aktiengesetz), the Executive Board and Supervisory Board of a
listed company must issue an annual statement detailing whether
the company was and is in compliance with the German Corporate
Governance Code and detailing recommendations of the Code have
not been applied. On the basis of their deliberations, the Executive
Board and Supervisory Board of Symrise AG issued a new state-
ment of compliance on February 25, 2009, pursuant to § 161 AktG.

According to the statement, deviations from the Code existed on
two points:

1. Contrary to Section 3.8, Paragraph 2, the “Directors & Officers”
(“D&0”) insurance that Symrise AG holds for its executives and
the members of its management bodies does not include a de-
ductible.

The Executive Board and Supervisory Board are of the opinion that
the deductible of D&O insurance, which does not strictly insure
against financial losses, is not an adequate means of achieving the
objectives of the Code. In any case, willful neglect of duty is ex-
empted from insurance coverage. Members of the Executive Board
and Supervisory Board could cover the deductibles with their own
insurance policy, thereby negating the actual function of the de-
ductible. In addition, unlike other forms of insurance, deductibles
in the case of D&O insurance do not result in any reduction in pre-
miums. The company, therefore, would have to pay the same price
for less performance by the insurer.

2. Contrary to Section 5.1.2 Paragraph 2, Sentence 3, there is no
age limit for members of the Executive Board.

No age limit was set for Executive Board members because the
company should generally also have access to the expertise of ex-
perienced members. Exclusion based solely on age does not seem
wise to the Executive Board and Supervisory Board, since this
could lead to a mere formality blocking an optimum Executive
Board appointment.

Close Cooperation between Executive Board

and Supervisory Board

Symrise AG is a stock corporation (Aktiengesellschaft) under Ger-
man law. Accordingly, the company is managed by the Executive
Board and Supervisory Board. This dual management system,
characterized by a separation of managerial and supervisory bod-
ies, represents an efficient corporate management on the basis
of the intense ongoing dialog between the two bodies at Symrise.
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The Executive Board and Supervisory Board work together closely.
The sustained growth of the company’s value is the common ob-
jective of both the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board.
The Executive Board manages the company on its own responsi-
bility, develops the Group’s strategic alignment, coordinates this
with the Supervisory Board and is responsible for its implementa-
tion. The Supervisory Board monitors and advises the Executive
Board with respect to its managerial activities. The Executive Board
provides the Supervisory Board with regular, prompt and compre-
hensive reports on all relevant issues of corporate planning and
strategic development, on company performance, on the state of
the Group, including a risk profile, and on risk management. The
articles of incorporation specify reservations of consent for sig-
nificant business transactions. These reservations of consent are
contained in identical form in rules of procedure for the Executive
Board. These provisions, together with the rules of procedure for
the Supervisory Board, are available to the public on our website.
The report of the Executive Board also includes the topic of com-
pliance, i.e. the measures for adherence to legal regulations and
internal corporate guidelines.

The term of office for shareholder representatives and employee
representatives on the Supervisory Board ends at the conclusion
of the Shareholders’ Meeting in which the actions of the Supervi-
sory Board for fiscal year 2010 are formally approved.

As in past years, there are no former members of the Executive
Board on the Supervisory Board in order to ensure independent
consultation and supervision.

There were also no conflicts of interest among members of the Ex-
ecutive Board and Supervisory Board in 2008. Any such conflicts of
interest must be disclosed to the Supervisory Board without delay.

Klaus Kiihn, who retired from the Supervisory Board of Symrise
AG at the end of December 31, 2008, is a member of the Execu-
tive Board of Bayer AG in Leverkusen. In certain cases, subsidiaries
of Symrise AG have customer and supplier relationships with Bayer
AG and its subsidiaries. Furthermore, Bayer AG is the former owner
of Haarmann & Reimer GmbH, which was first sold to Symrise and
later merged into the Symrise Group. To the extent that there are
mutual claims for tax refunds or back duties arising from the pur-
chase contract for Haarmann & Reimer GmbH from the year 2002,
this has not had any effect on the responsibilities of Mr. Kiihn on
the Supervisory Board.

The only consultant or service agreements or other exchange con-
tracts in fiscal year 2008 between members of the Supervisory
Board and the company involved Mr. Horst-Otto Gerberding.

In connection with the retirement of Mr. Gerberding as managing
director of the former Symrise Holding GmbH, the company and
Mr. Gerberding entered into an “Amended and Restated Service
Agreement” on September 4, 2003. Under the terms of this agree-
ment, Mr. Gerberding is entitled to monthly transitional allowance
of € 41,666 until March 31, 2008.

Following this, the company is required to pay Mr. Gerberding an
annual retirement pension of € 100,000 until his death. This
amount increases by € 7,500 for each year that Mr. Gerberding
remains in the service of the company after the expiration of the
agreement. Mr. Gerberding is also entitled to a pension from Sym-
rise GmbH & Co. KG through an employment and supply contract
dated July 29, 1983. The total sum of retirement pension and pen-
sion entitlement is € 23,475 per month. This amount is borne to
one half each by Symrise GmbH & Co. KG and Symrise AG.

In addition, Mr. Gerberding is entitled in fiscal year 2008 to pay-
ment of monthly compensation of a further € 41,666 for a post-
contract ban on competition. This entitlement is valid until and
including September 2009.

Transparency

Pursuant to § 15a of Germany’s Securities Trading Act (“WpHG” -
Wertpapierhandelsgesetz) the members of the Executive Board
and Supervisory Board of Symrise AG as well as certain employ-
ees with management duties and the persons with whom they have
a close relationship must disclose the purchase or sale of Symrise
shares and related financial instruments. This duty of disclosure
applies if the value of the transactions undertaken by one of the
aforementioned persons reaches or exceeds the sum of € 5,000.
All of the reports received by Symrise AG as of December 31,
2008, are published on our website under the heading Investor Re-
lations/Corporate Governance/Directors’ Dealings. This includes
all such reports since the IPO in December 2006, including any
involving persons who have meanwhile left the Executive Board
and Supervisory Board.

The direct or indirect total holding of shares in Symrise AG by all
members of the Executive and Supervisory Boards as at Decem-
ber 31, 2008, was more than 1%. The amount of 6.24% of shares
in Symrise AG held in total by members of the Executive and Su-
pervisory Boards consists of 5.99% held by members of the Su-
pervisory Board and 0.25% by members of the Executive Board.
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A summary of the respective mandates of the members of the Ex-
ecutive and Supervisory Boards can be found in the financial state-
ment. Relationships to affiliated companies and persons are stated
in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Executive Board and Supervisory Board Remuneration
This remuneration report is also part of the management report.
Remuneration of members of the Executive Board is paid on the
basis of § 87 Stock Corporation Act. In accordance with this, re-
muneration is stipulated by the Supervisory Board. In addition to
their base compensation, Executive Board remuneration includes
a variable component that adequately reflects an individual’s per-
formance as well as company results and the market environment.
Base compensation is paid monthly in twelve equal amounts as
non-performance-related remuneration. The variable components
consist of an annual bonus and a bonus component with long-term
incentive effect.

The annual bonus earned by a member of the Executive Board
does not exceed 100% of the respective basic remuneration. The
EBIT of the Symrise Group according to the business plan is used
as business ratio for the Group and/or its operating divisions for
determination of target achievement rates. Medium-term strate-
gic targets and qualitative appraisal criteria are also taken into
account.

A component with a long-term incentive effect is the bonus plan
covering a period of three years (“LTIP” - Long Term Incentive
Plan). This pays a bonus based on share price performance and
the development of the company’s value. In terms of the three-
year duration of the bonus plan, members of Executive Board can-
not earn more than 220% of their respective basic remuneration.

The targets used for appraisal of the variable components of total
annual remuneration are stipulated at the beginning of a business
year in target agreements with the individual members of the Ex-
ecutive Board on the basis of the agreed corporate goals. Earned
variable components are paid out in the spring of the following
year or in the spring of the year following a three-year period on the
basis of the approved financial statements.

All members of the Executive Board have the right to accumulate
deferred compensation benefits by converting their salaries. Dr.
Linzbach, Dr. Bertram and Mr. Yates accumulated deferred com-
pensation benefits in fiscal year 2008 by conversion of salary. In
the case of Dr. Bertram, there is also an additional pension com-
mitment due to his prior employment contract with Symrise GmbH
& Co. KG. This pension commitment was also offered to all other

employees of Symrise GmbH & Co. KG. Dr. Bertram services this
pension commitment from his own income by means of salary con-
version.

Furthermore, the employment contracts of the members of the Ex-
ecutive Board (with the exception of Dr. Bertram) do not provide
for any additional remuneration in the case of early termination
without due reason by the company. In this case, the respective
Executive Board member receives no more than the remuneration
for the remaining duration of his or her employment contract. There
is no entitlement to bonus payments for the respective fiscal year.
In the case of Dr. Bertram, there is an agreement that in the event
of a termination without due reason of his Executive Board con-
tract, severance payment will be made on the basis of his employ-
ment contract prior to being appointed to the Executive Board and
the related length of service since November 1, 1990.

A post-contract ban on competition has been agreed with the
Executive Board members for a period of twelve months. The
respective members of the Executive Board shall be paid 50%
of their contractually agreed basic remuneration as compensation
for this ban.

A breakdown of the total remuneration of each member of the Ex-
ecutive Board, including the pension funding rates, is shown on
page 90 of this annual report.

In addition to their base compensation, the Supervisory Board re-
muneration also includes a variable component that adequately
reflects the company’s earnings per share. The base compensation
for each member of the Supervisory Board is € 20,000. As long as
the company’s earnings per share amount to at least € 0.15, each
member of the Supervisory Board receives € 200 per € 0.01 com-
pany earnings per share. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board
receives twice this amount in both base compensation and variable
remuneration. The Deputy Chairman receives 1.5 times these two
remuneration components. The variable remuneration component
has an upper limit. For simple members of the Supervisory Board,
this limit is € 40,000, for the Deputy Chairman it is € 60,000 and
for the Chairman it is € 80,000.

Committee chairpersons receive an additional, fixed, annual re-
muneration of € 10,000. Deputy committee chairpersons receive
an additional € 5,000 annually, and simple committee members re-
ceive an additional € 2,500 annually. All members of the Supervi-
sory Board receive a stipend of € 1,000 per committee meeting or
per meeting of the Supervisory Board, though the maximum
stipend is € 1,500 per calendar day.
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A breakdown of the total remuneration of each member of the Su-
pervisory Board is shown in the Notes on pages of this annual report.

Information Service for our Shareholders

Corporate communication is undertaken with the objective of guar-
anteeing the greatest possible transparency and equality of op-
portunities through timely and equal information to all target
groups. All major press and capital market releases by Symrise AG
are also published on the company’s website in German and in
English. The articles of incorporation, rules of procedure of the Ex-
ecutive Board and the Supervisory Board, as well as the annual
and consolidated financial statements, quarterly results and the
annual and half-yearly financial reports can also be found on our
website.

We regularly notify our shareholders, analysts, shareholder asso-
ciations and the public of all important recurring dates through a
financial calendar published in the annual report, the quarterly re-
ports and on the Company website. Regular meetings with ana-
lysts and institutional investors are part of our investor relations
activities. This includes an annual analysts’ conference as well as
conference calls for analysts coinciding with the publishing of our
quarterly and half-yearly figures.

The most important presentations prepared for these events, the
Shareholders’ Meeting and road shows and investor conferences
can also be viewed on our website. The location and dates of road
shows and investor conferences can similarly be found on our web-
site under the heading Investor Relations/Events.

It is our intention to provide our shareholders with quick, compre-
hensive and effective information before and during the Share-
holders’ Meeting and to make it easy for them to exercise their
rights. The annual report and the invitation to the Shareholders’
Meeting, both of which are also available on our website, provide
the shareholders with comprehensive advance information on past
fiscal years and the individual agenda items of the upcoming meet-
ing. All documents and information pertaining to the Sharehold-
ers’ Meeting and the annual report are available on our website.
The website will have additional information seven days before and
during the Shareholders’ Meeting.

The registration and legitimation process for the Shareholders’
Meeting is simple and follows the international standard for the
record date, according to which the 21st day before the Meeting is
the applicable cutoff date for the legitimation of the shareholders.

We offer shareholders who cannot personally attend the Meeting
the opportunity to exercise their voting rights through a proxy of
their choice or a voting proxy of the company who is bound by their
instruments. Instructions on how voting rights are to be exercised
may be given to a voting proxy before and during the Sharehold-
ers’ Meeting on May 11, 2009, up until the end of the general de-
bate. It is possible to transfer the voting rights to a voting proxy
electronically up until 6:00 PM on the evening of May 10, 2009.

Subsequent to the Shareholders’ Meeting, we also publish the at-
tendance and the votes on our website.

Risk Management

Dealing with risks of all kinds responsibly has the utmost impor-
tance for the success of a company. For this reason, a compre-
hensive risk management system is a mandatory element of
suitable corporate governance. The Executive Board ensures ap-
propriate risk management and risk controlling throughout the
Group. The risk management system at Symrise AG is monitored
by the auditors both in Germany and abroad. It is constantly being
developed and adapted to changing conditions. Twice a year, po-
tential risks are analyzed and classified throughout the Group.

The risk management system at Symrise AG, its security mecha-
nisms, internal guidelines and checks are additionally examined
by outside auditors and without prior notice by the internal Group
auditors. Risks identified in this manner are immediately reported
to the Executive Board.

Along with the audit of annual accounts and monitoring of ac-
counting procedures, the Auditing Committee set up by the Su-
pervisory Board also undertakes regular auditing and monitoring of
the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management sys-
tem. This includes regular reporting by Internal Auditing and the
Compliance Office of Symrise.

This overlapping mechanism allows risks to be identified and as-
sessed at an early stage. The Executive Board regularly informs the
Supervisory Board of existing risks and their development. Specific
measures are proposed and implemented right from this early stage
to mitigate the identified risks. The Group’s in-house auditors also
check on the implementation of these new measures and the re-
sults are given a critical assessment. The risk profile is thereby con-
stantly monitored and necessary measures to mitigate risks are
introduced. Specific staff members are assigned responsibility for
this and held accountable in their performance review.
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Compliance

At Symrise, we understand “compliance” as measures to ensure
adherence to legal regulations and inter-company guidelines of all
types. In this respect, the focus of compliance activities at Sym-
rise is also on the areas of antitrust law and combating corrup-
tion. The Executive Board of Symrise AG has explicitly expressed
both internally and externally its refusal to accept any form of an-
titrust or corruption infringement. Infringements will not be toler-
ated at Symrise and sanctions will be imposed upon involved
employees wherever necessary and legally possible.

Symrise has an integrated Compliance Management System which
combines both legal and ethical aspects and rules; we have made
this into a fundamental principle for everything we do in business.
We act on the basis of our understanding and conviction that ad-
herence to these fundamental rules are an inalienable and non-
negotiable component of our Symrise identity. Only a clearly
defined and transparent framework of what is and what is not al-
lowed guarantees the success and sustainability of our business.
Our principle: “A transaction that cannot be brought into line with
our fundamental principles is not a transaction for Symrise” ap-
plies to all our employees in all countries.

The Compliance Office reports directly to the Chairperson of the
Executive Board. This ensures its independence and authority. The
Compliance Officer reports to the Auditing Committee of the Su-
pervisory Board regularly at each meeting.

In the year 2008, the Compliance Office introduced two further
instruments to ensure that the same high ethical and legal stan-
dards are applied consistently throughout Symrise. Since the sum-
mer of 2008, all our employees have been able to reach the
Compliance Office using free-of-charge telephone numbers
(“whistleblower hotlines”) which have been specially set up in the
individual countries. An intermediary, neutral service operator en-
sures that employees can retain anonymity where required and
can always communicate in their own mother tongue anything that
is on their mind. This indirect contact through a service operator
also has a further advantage: It enables communication between
the Compliance Office and the respective employee while at the
same time preserving the anonymity of that employee. Naturally,
all employees are also able to contact the Compliance Office per-
sonally or by email.

Upon successful completion of the tests in 2008, we will be able
from the spring of 2009 to offer all our employees not only train-
ing courses across the complete range of compliance topics but
also internet-based on-screen training. With this, we will be able to

reach more employees in a shorter period of time, while at the
same time providing all employees with a greater flexibility of
choice when and where they would like to take part in which train-
ing measure. In addition to this, the Compliance Office will also
be offering inhouse training.

We also intend to further intensify our endeavors with regard to
our Compliance Management System in 2009. These focus at all
times on the integrity of our daily actions and the awareness of all
our employees in this respect.

Our auditors: KPMG

With regard to the consolidated financial statements and the in-
terim reports at Symrise, our accounting in fiscal year 2008 was
again based on the International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as required to be applied in the European Union. The legally
prescribed individual accounts of Symrise AG which are decisive
for the payment of dividends have been prepared in accordance
with the regulations of the German Commercial Code (HGB - Han-
delsgesetzbuch). As in 2007, fiscal year 2008 was also audited by
our auditors KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft, Hanover,
(formerly KPMG Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft Aktiengesell-
schaft, Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft, Hanover). An agreement
is in place with the auditors to promptly notify the chairman of the
Auditing Committee of any grounds for disqualification or preju-
dice that are identified during the audit, insofar as such circum-
stances cannot immediately be rectified. The auditors are
instructed to report without delay on all findings and incidents of
significance to the duties of the Supervisory Board that are iden-
tified during the audit. Moreover, the auditors are required to no-
tify the Supervisory Board and make a note in the audit report if
circumstances are identified during the audit that are incompati-
ble with the statement of compliance issued by the Executive
Board and Supervisory Board in accordance with § 161 AktG.
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Report of the
Supervisory Board

In the following, the Supervisory Board reports on its activities in
fiscal year 2008. Key topics include the continuous dialog between
the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board, the main agenda
items in the full assembly as well as in the committees, and the
annual and consolidated financial statements. In fiscal year 2008,
the Supervisory Board also fulfilled its responsibilities under the
law and according to the articles of incorporation with great care.

We provided regular consultation to the Executive Board and
supervised the Company management. The Executive Board con-
sulted us in determining the strategic planning and orientation of
the Company. For this purpose, the Supervisory Board and Exec-
utive Board held a strategy conference beyond the scope of its
regular sessions on May 28 and 29. In five regular meetings, the
Supervisory Board deliberated in detail on all business transac-
tions of significance to the Company based on information
received from the Executive Board. The Executive Board provided
us with regular, current and comprehensive reports on all relevant
issues related to corporate planning, investment planning, the
course of business, the state of the Group, the risk profile and
risk management. The Executive Board also reported to the
Supervisory Board on the compliance program and on business
management in conformity to the law. It did so in both written and
oral form. The Executive Board reported all important key finan-
cial figures to us once a month. The Supervisory Board was directly
involved in all decisions of fundamental significance to the Com-
pany. Deviations of the course of business from the plans and
objectives were explained to us at an early stage and in detail. We
examined and understood all such deviations based on documents
provided by the Executive Board.

Wherever so called upon by law or according to the articles of
incorporation, we submitted our vote on the reports and proposed
resolutions of the Executive Board following thorough analysis and
discussion. In addition to me, other members of the Supervisory
Board were in close and continuous contact with the Executive
Board beyond the scope of Supervisory Board sessions. Further-
more, | paid special attention here to the future orientation of the
two corporate divisions, the status of essential projects and the
key business transactions. The increasingly severe worldwide
financial crisis in the second half of 2008 was repeatedly a subject
of my discussions with the Supervisory Board.

The Executive Board presented legal or regulatory matters subject
to our approval in time for a decision to be taken. In urgent cases,
decisions were taken in consultation with the Chairman of the
Supervisory Board in writing or on the phone. Conflicts of interest
between members of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board,

which have to be disclosed to the Supervisory Board without delay
and which have to be reported at the Shareholders’ Meeting, did
not occur in 2008.

The Supervisory Board’s Work in Committees

To fulfill its responsibilities more efficiently, the Supervisory Board
formed a total of four committees. These committees draft the
Supervisory Board’s resolutions and prepare the agenda items to be
addressed in the full session. The four committees are the Auditing
Committee, the Arbitration Committee pursuant to § 27 (3) of the
Codetermination Act (MitbestG), the Presidential Committee and
the Nominations Committee newly formed in December 2007. In
certain instances, where permitted by law, the Supervisory Board’s
decision-making authority is assigned to its committees. The Chair-
man of the Supervisory Board also chairs all of the committees with
the exception of the Auditing Committee. In the full session, the
chairmen of the committees report regularly and comprehensively
on the content and results of the committee meetings.

Members of the Presidential Committee, which is responsible
for the employment contracts of the members of the Executive
Board including benefits as well as other Executive Board matters,
are Andreas Schmid (Chairman), Horst-Otto Gerberding, Karl-Heinz
Huchthausen, Regina Hufnagel and Sanna Suvanto-Harsaae. The
Presidential Committee convened four times in the 2008 fiscal
year. The focus of the committee’s work was on the examination
of the remuneration system of the Executive Board and the adop-
tion of success criteria for variable remuneration components to
act as long-term incentives (Long Term Incentive Plan, LTIP). A fur-
ther focus of the advisory sessions was the proposal to extend the
appointments of the Executive Board members Dr. Heinz-Jirgen
Bertram, Achim Daub and Dominique Yates until December 31,
2010, and the announcement by the CEO, Dr. Linzbach, that he did
not intend to renew his contract, which expires on October 22,
2009, for personal reasons.

Members of the Auditing Committee, which deals in particular
with issues related to accounting, risk management and business
management in conformity with the law, are Klaus Kiihn (Chair-
man until December 16, 2008, and a member until December 31,
2008), Dr. Peter Grafoner (Chairman as of December 16, 2008),
Andreas Schmid and Peter Winkelmann. The Auditing Committee
convened six times in the 2008 fiscal year. In the presence of the
auditor as well as the CEO and the CFO, the committee dealt with
financial statements and consolidated financial statements of
Symrise AG, the quarterly reports and the auditor’s reports, as well
as the further development of the risk management system and
the compliance program. The Auditing Committee also discussed
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in detail the yearly and half-yearly financial reports. In its session
on October 24, 2008, the Auditing Committee obtained compre-
hensive information on the integrated compliance management
system of the Symrise Group. The individual agenda items also
included receipt of the internal revision report.

The Auditing Committee prepared the Supervisory Committee’s
proposal to the Shareholders’ Meeting to nominate KPMG AG
Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft of Hanover as the new auditor.
Furthermore, the Auditing Committee discussed the interim
reports to be published and solicited a statement of independence
from the auditor. It commissioned the auditor and determined the
auditing fees, a risk-oriented audit approach and the main points
of the audit.

Members of the Arbitration Committee pursuant to § 27 (3)
MitbestG are Andreas Schmid (Chairman), Karl-Heinz Huchthausen,
Regina Hufnagel and Sanna Suvanto-Harsaae. It was not necessary
to convene the Arbitration Committee during the 2008 fiscal year.

Members of the Nominations Committee, whose task is to
recommend suitable candidates for the Supervisory Board to the
Shareholders’ Meeting regarding the election of shareholder
representatives to the Supervisory Board, are Andreas Schmid
(Chairman), Horst-Otto Gerberding and Sanna Suvanto-Harsaae.
The Nominations Committee convened once in the 2008 fiscal
year. The session dealt with the search for a suitable candidate to
succeed Klaus Kihn.

Topics in the Constituent Session

of the Supervisory Board

A regular issue for consultation in the full session of the Supervi-
sory Board was the sales and earnings performance of both
corporate divisions in the individual regions under the economic
conditions as they were developing. Important participatory
projects and their development as measured against the planned
objectives were also regular subjects of consultation in the full
session. The Supervisory Board convened in full a total of five
times in fiscal year 2008. No Supervisory Board member took part
in less than half of the sessions.

Our session of February 29, 2008, primarily focused on the
annual and consolidated financial statements as of December 31,
2007, the Executive Board’s proposal regarding appropriation of
earnings and the Group’s future dividend policy. The auditor also
participated in this session. The session was also devoted to the
Flavour & Nutrition division’s presentation of its healthcare strategy
and the extension of the authorization to acquire treasury shares.

Also at this session, the Supervisory Board approved the acquisition
of the aroma division of the Danish company Chr. Hansen.

At our session of April 29, 2008, right before the beginning of the
Shareholders’ Meeting, the Supervisory Board recognized the Com-
pany’s performance and results from the first quarter 2008. The
Executive Board comprehensively informed us about the current
state of the Group. We also used the session to make final prepa-
rations for the subsequent Shareholders’ Meeting. In addition, we
reached an agreement on the main focuses and the preparation of
the strategy conference convened by the Executive Board and
Supervisory Board on May 28 and 29, 2008.

The agenda of the session of July 23, 2008, focused on the
results of business operations in the second quarter 2008 and in
the first half-year 2008. A further focus was the Executive Board’s
presentation and explanation of an acquisition project. In addition,
we discussed the state of implementation of the Group’s growth
strategy together with the Executive Board and checked whether
it was successful based on documents pertaining to it presented
by the Executive Board.

In a session held on October 24, 2008, the Supervisory Board
dealt with the performance results of the third quarter 2008.
Against the background of the drastically worsening worldwide
financial crisis, we discussed the consequences of the financial
crisis for planning for the 2009 fiscal year with the Executive Board
comprehensively and in detail. The focus of the consultation was
the strongly fluctuating exchange rates of the currencies that are
most important for the Group and the continued rising prices of
raw materials and energy.

The session of December 16, 2008, focused completely on
corporate planning for the 2009 fiscal year against the background
of the ongoing global financial crisis. We discussed possible alter-
native scenarios with the Executive Board which, in the case of a
further worsening of the global economy, could help us safeguard
the Group’s results. In the session, the Supervisory Board
approved the corporate planning for the 2009 fiscal year and
selected Dr. Peter Grafoner as the new Chairman of the Auditing
Committee. Also during this session, the CEO Dr. Linzbach
informed us that for personal reasons he did not intend to renew
his contract, which expires on October 22, 2009. In addition,
following a suggestion made by the Presidential Committee, the
Supervisory Board resolved to extend the appointments of the
Executive Board members Dr. Heinz-Jirgen Bertram, Mr. Achim
Daub and Mr. Dominique Yates to December 31, 2010.
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Annual and Consolidated 2008 Financial Statements

The auditor KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft, Hanover,
(formerly KPMG DeutscheTreuhand-Gesellschaft Aktiengesell-
schaft, Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft, Hanover) audited the
annual financial statements for the fiscal year from January 1,
2008, to December 31, 2008, that were prepared by the Executive
Board according to HGB (German Commercial Code) standards
as well as the Symrise AG management report. The Auditing Com-
mittee issued the order for the audit in accordance with the April
29, 2008, resolution of the Shareholders’ Meeting. The auditor
issued an unqualified certification.

The Symrise AG consolidated financial statements were prepared
in accordance with § 315 a HGB on the basis of the International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The auditor also certified
the consolidated financial statements and the Group management
report without qualification.

The auditor’s report on these financial statements and additional
auditing reports and documentation were delivered to all members
of the Supervisory Board in a timely manner. They were discussed
thoroughly in the sessions of the Audit Committee of February 18,
2009, and in the full session of the Supervisory Board of February
25, 2009. The auditors participated in the discussion of the an-
nual financial statements and consolidated financial statements
in both bodies, where they reported on the key audit results and
were available to the Supervisory Board to answer questions and
provide additional information.

Following our own review of the annual financial statements, the
consolidated financial statements, the management report and
the Group management report, we accepted the findings of the
auditor. In our session of February 25, 2009, we approved the
annual financial statements and the consolidated financial state-
ments upon the recommendation of the Audit Committee. The
annual financial statements are thereby adopted.

After examining it, we endorsed the proposal of the Executive
Board for the use of the net profit of the year. The Supervisory
Board considers the proposal regarding the appropriation of profits
to be appropriate.

Corporate Governance

Also on behalf of the Supervisory Board, pursuant to 3.10 of the
German Corporate Governance Code, the Executive Board reports
on the corporate governance at Symrise AG on pages 44 - 48 of
this annual report.

We have continually observed the further development of corpo-
rate governance standards in Germany and abroad.

On February 25, 2009, the Executive Board and Supervisory Board
submitted an updated Declaration of Conformity according to
§ 161 AktG and made this permanently available to the sharehold-
ers on the Company’s website. With two exceptions, Symrise AG
conforms entirely to the recommendations of the Government
Commission of the German Corporate Governance Code as
published in the current (June 6, 2008) version available from the
Federal Ministry of Justice in the official section of its electronic
Federal Gazette of August 8, 2008.

Changes in the Executive Board and Supervisory Board
There were no changes in the Executive Board during the report-
ing year.

There was one change in the Supervisory Board of Symrise AG in
the 2008 fiscal year. Mr. Klaus Kihn resigned as shareholders'
representative as of the end of 2008. A successor has yet to be
named.

The Supervisory Board extends its thanks to Mr. Kiihn, the Executive
Board, the employees and the employee representatives of all
Group companies for their commitment and the work they did in
fiscal year 2008.

On behalf of the Supervisory Board,

LA

Andreas Schmid
Chairman

Holzminden, February 25, 2009
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Group Management Report

1. FISCAL YEAR 2008 - AN OVERVIEW

€ million 2007 2008 Change AR % Change LC %
Sales 1,274.5 1,319.9 3.6 6.5
Scent & Care 671.3 671.8 0.1 3.0
Flavor & Nutrition 603.2 648.1 7.4 10.4
Gross profit 560.8 557.5 -1 1
Gross profit in % 44.0 42.2
Earnings per share in€ 0.82 0.76 -7 -2
Adjusted earnings per share in € 1.02 1.02 0 0
EBITDA 2721 262.5 -4 -4
EBITDA margin in % 21.3 19.9
EBITDA Scent & Care 134.7 130.2 -3 -3
EBITDA Flavor & Nutrition 137.4 132.3 -4 -4
EBITA 232.3 221.6 -5 -5
EBITA margin in % 18.2 16.8
EBITA Scent & Care 114.7 109.8 -4 -4
EBITA Flavor & Nutrition 117.6 111.8 -5 -5
EBIT 195.7 187.0 -4 -5
EBIT margin in % 15.4 14.2
EBIT Scent & Care 98.6 94.8 -4 -4
EBIT Flavor & Nutrition 97.1 92.1 -5 -6
Dividend in € 0.50 0.50
Free cash flow 145.5 123.4

2. GENERAL INFORMATION ON THE SYMRISE GROUP
AND ITS BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

Overview of Business Activities

Symrise is a global supplier of flavors, fragrances, aroma mole-
cules and cosmetic ingredients for the perfume, cosmetics, and
food industries as well as the personal care and household supply
sectors. In terms of sales, Symrise is one of the world’s four largest
companies in the flavors and fragrances market.

Symrise’s two divisions, Scent & Care and Flavor & Nutrition, are
the Company’s operating pillars.

Scent & Care develops, produces and sells fragrances, cosmetic
ingredients, aroma molecules and mint flavors used in the manu-
facture of perfumes, body care products, cosmetic products and
dental care products as well as cleaning and washing products. In
2008, the Cosmetic Ingredients business unit was renamed Life
Essentials (see Group structure) to reflect the inclusion in our busi-

ness activites of cosmeceuticals, medical food, and nutra-
ceuticals.

The Flavor & Nutrition division develops, produces and sells fla-
vors that are used by our customers to produce food (savory prod-
ucts and sweets/dairy) and beverage products.

Both divisions additionally develop application systems and meth-
ods enabling Symrise to offer its customers product solutions
which, apart from the typical product qualities, have added bene-
fits - so-called “AND” products. For these products, Symrise com-
bines a conventional component (a fragrance or flavor) with a
specific technology, with further innovative components, or with an
additional function. Examples include flavorings enabling the sugar
or salt content of foods to be reduced, or a moisturizing cosmetic
substance that reduces the proportion of preservatives in care
products. These “AND” products enable our customers to differ-
entiate themselves with their tailor-made end products from com-
petitors in the rapidly changing consumer goods market.
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As a rule, our flavor, fragrance and cosmetic ingredients are key
functional components of our customers’ end products and influ-
ence their taste, smell or cosmetic benefits. In many cases, the
recipes and effects of our products are decisive for consumers’
purchasing decisions. At the same time, our products often ac-
count for only a small percentage of the total costs of the end
product. The research and development (R&D) department is sup-
plemented by a wide-reaching network of research institutes and
scientific facilities. Given the big differences in sensory prefer-
ences in Europe, Asia and North America, comprehensive con-
sumer research is indispensable for Symrise. In addition to
classical R&D activities, consumer research is one of the main
foundations for developing marketable products that are success-
ful'in the long term and that meet the various needs of consumers
in different parts of the world.

Symrise develops and produces more than 30,000 products from
around 10,000 raw materials on five continents. We sell these
products in some 160 countries. We are present in mature markets
in Western Europe, the United States and parts of Asia, as well as
in the emerging markets of Asia, South America, Africa, the Mid-
dle East and Eastern Europe. Our regional strategy goal is a posi-
tioning with important multinational customers on the one hand,

and in regional markets with particularly good growth opportunities
on the other. In 2008, we generated more than 39% of our sales in
rapidly growing emerging markets.

Organization of the Symrise Group

As a German stock corporation Symrise has a dual manage-
ment and supervisory structure consisting of an Executive Board
and a Supervisory Board. The Executive Board has four members:
Dr. Gerold Linzbach (CEQ), Dr. Heinz-Jirgen Bertram (Head of
Flavor & Nutrition), Achim Daub (Head of Scent & Care) and
Dominique Yates (CFO).

Details on cooperation between the Executive and Supervisory
Boards as well as on corporate governance at Symrise can be
found in the Report of the Supervisory Board and the Corporate
Governance Report in this annual report.

With sites in more than 35 countries, Symrise has a global as well
as a regional presence in all important markets.

The Group consists of a Corporate Center and the two divisions
Scent & Care and Flavor & Nutrition. The Corporate Center bun-
dles classical central functions such as corporate strategy,
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Group finance, investor relations, auditing, legal affairs, product
safety and sustainability (CSR) and personnel. The staff of all cor-
porate center functions work closely with the two divisions.

Other supporting functions such as information technology and
corporate communication are either outsourced to external serv-
ice providers or bundled in separate Group companies that have
full responsibility for their results and access to third-party clients.
The latter applies to the areas of technology, energy, safety, envi-
ronmental issues and logistics.

The Scent & Care and Flavor & Nutrition divisions have re-
sponsibility for and control of their operating business and its
processes. As “companies within a company,” they have their own
research and development, purchasing, production and quality
control as well as marketing and sales. This approach guarantees
that the divisions have comprehensive control of their business
and business processes, and it speeds up handling of internal
processes.

Both divisions’ organizations are divided into four regions with
separate regional heads. These regions are

) Europe, Africa and the Middle East (EAME)

» North America and Mexico (NA)

) Latin America (LATAM) and

) Asia/Pacific (APAC).

Symrise has its own production sites in all of these regions. The

largest sites are in Germany, the US, Singapore, Mexico, Brazil and
China.

Business Divisions

Business Sectors

Scent & Care
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The organizational structure is customer-oriented, conducive to
fast action, and practical. Due to the simplified processes and
structures, our employees can concentrate on the essentials -
conducting business with their customers - and can make deci-
sions flexibly in keeping with their customers’ wishes. At the same
time, the organizational structure enables synergies. An example
is the joint purchase of raw materials or the formation of cross-
divisional work groups devoted to certain topics.

Overview of the Divisions and Products
The structure and focus of the activities of Scent & Care and
Flavor & Nutrition will now be discussed in detail.

Scent & Care

Scent & Care markets more than 15,000 products in some 135
countries and has its own branches in more than 33 countries.
Scent & Care has production sites in Europe and Asia as well as
North and South America.

Scent & Care is active worldwide in the development, manufac-
ture and marketing of fragrance compositions, cosmetic ingredi-
ents, aroma chemicals and mint products. In keeping with this, the
division is divided into four business sectors: Fragrances, Life
Essentials, Aroma Molecules, Mint.

Scent & Care | Fragrances

In the Fragrances business sector Symrise develops perfume oils
for use in perfumes (the Fine Fragrances application area) as well
as in body care products (the Personal Care application area) and
household products (the Household application area). Perfume oils
are delivered to Symrise’s customers in liquid or capsule form.

Fine Fragrances

Perfumers combine aromatic raw materials such as aroma chem-
icals and ethereal oils into complex fragrance compositions (per-
fume oils). The compositions are usually made for perfume
manufacturers on request and based on briefing specifications.
Well-known perfumes created by Symrise include Fahrenheit
(Dior), Cerrutti 1881 (Cerrutti), Be Delicious (Donna Karan) and In-
solence (Guerlain). In 2008, our perfumers created fragrances for
the following perfume manufacturers, among others: Procter &
Gamble, Coty, LVMH, L'Oreal and Estée Lauder.

At the Perfumer’s Choice Awards, the American Society of
Perfumers gave two Symrise perfumers awards for their perfume
creations.

Personal Care

At the Perfumer’s Choice Awards in 2008, three Symrise per-
fumers were honored for their creations in the Personal Care ap-
plication area. In the Personal Care application area, Symrise
makes perfume oils for the body care segment including hair care
products, washing lotions, skin creams, shower gels and the like.
In addition, Symrise possesses great expertise in developing spe-
cial technologies for masking unpleasant body odors; these
solutions are applied in deodorants, for example.

Household

In this application area, Symrise develops perfume oils geared to
the special requirements of household products, including wash-
ing and cleaning products as well as air fresheners. Without fra-
grances, cleaning products often smell unpleasant. We mask these
odors with the help of perfume oils. Moreover, fragrance compo-
sitions tailored to the respective products enhance consumers’
impressions of the products’ performance.

In 2008, we acquired the fragrances business of Intercontinental
Fragrances and Manheimer Fragrances to become a leading man-
ufacturer in the US air care market.

Scent & Care | Life Essentials

The Cosmetic Ingredients and UV Filters application areas are
assigned to the Life Essentials business unit (formerly Cosmetic In-
gredients). The products manufactured in Life Essentials are used
in skin care products, hair care products, suntan lotions, after-
shave balsams, shower gels, washing lotions, anti-dandruff sham-
poos and deodorants. Skin-lightening products are an important
part of this application area and are in particularly high demand in
the Asian market. The development and manufacture of alternative
preservatives is a further focus. Because of the expansion of the
business unit’s research and development activities into the area
of “beauty from within,” in 2008 the Cosmetic Ingredients busi-
ness unit was renamed Life Essentials

Cosmetic Ingredients

The Cosmetic Ingredients application area concentrates on the
development of active ingredients, functionals and botani-
cals. Active ingredients are highly effective substances for cos-
metic care; the focus is on the development and production of
agents that slow skin aging (anti-aging products), soothe inflamed
or irritated skin (anti-irritants), or have an anti-bacterial effect.
“AND” products are also developed in this area - an example is a
moisturizing agent whose application allows a lower dosage of con-
ventional preservatives. Symrise has owned a stake in Therapeu-
tic Peptides Inc. since July 2008, as a result of which it now has
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access to the highly innovative, future-oriented peptide substance
group. Peptides are used in cosmetic products as effective an-
timicrobial substances, anti-aging substances, or agents that stim-
ulate hair growth.

Functionals are emulsifiers, for example, basic substances used
in creams and lotions.

In the Botanicals application area, Symrise produces plant ex-
tracts that appeal to consumers not only because of their proven
functional effects, but also due to their sensory qualities. They in-
clude saffron extracts (which have skin-lightening, antioxidant, and
anti-inflammatory effects) and white tea (which has an antioxidant
effect). Furthermore, Symrise’s partnership with the American
company Bayliss, established in 2008, gives Symrise access to
100% organically grown plant extracts, of which we are the exclu-
sive worldwide distributor.

Highly pure plant extracts, some of which are used as nutraceuti-
cals (food supplement products with additional health benefits) to
manufacture nutraceuticals, are the focus of our subsidiary Kaden
Biochemicals GmbH. Symrise recently started marketing these
natural substances (which include apigenin and trehalose) for use
in cosmetic products. In 2009, Kaden will be integrated into the
Flavor & Nutrition division to optimally exploit the Company’s po-
tential for developing innovative additives for foods and beverages.

Symrise’s strategic cooperation with Cambridge Theranostics Ltd.
(England) is enabling the Company to tap growth potential in a
new, promising, fast-growing market segment. Medical food prod-
ucts, i.e. health-promoting nutritional supplements, are being de-
veloped on the basis of active substances made by Symrise.

UV-Filter

Due to its comprehensive customer service (market knowledge,
wide range of products, quality products, ability to deliver), Sym-
rise holds a leading position in the UV sun protection filter seg-
ment. In the organic UV filter area, Symrise has an extensive
portfolio of oil- and water-soluble UVB and UVA filters, which we
market under the name Neo-Heliopan®. In the inorganic UV filter
segment, we are focusing on zinc oxide. In addition to a wide range
of dermatological applications, it has an excellent sun protection
effect. Use of UV filters is subject to different laws worldwide. In
this complex regulatory environment, Symrise is an experienced,
competent contact partner for its customers.

Scent & Care | Aroma Molecules

The Aroma Molecules business sector comprises the application
areas Sensates (Menthols), Special Fragrance Ingredients,
and Fine Aroma Chemicals. These products are manufactured
and marketed in liquid and crystalline form. The aroma chemicals
produced by the Aroma Molecules business unit are predominantly
highly standardized products.

Sensates (Menthole)

In the Menthols application area, Symrise develops and produces
nature-identical menthol. Symrise has many years of experience
developing and producing menthol oils and is the world’s leading
synthesizer of nature-identical I-menthol and its derivatives, and
mint flavor compositions. Many of our products are used in den-
tal care products, chewing gums and shower gels.

Special Fragrance & Flavor Ingredients

and Fine Aroma Chemicals

In the Special Fragrance & Flavor Ingredients and Fine Aroma
Chemicals application areas, Symrise develops and produces
aroma chemicals (intermediate products used in perfume oils) of
special quality. Among the most important products in this appli-
cation area are biodegradable musk scents, which adhere signifi-
cantly better to hairs, skin or textile fibers and are an essential
ingredient in perfume oils. Some of the aroma chemicals made by
Symrise are used for the Company’s own perfume oil production,
while others are sold to consumer goods manufacturers that make
perfume oils out of them.

Scent & Care | Mint

In the Mint business sector, Symrise offers the entire range of mint
flavors and intermediate products used in toothpastes, mouth-
washes and chewing gums. Symrise is the market leader in the
aromatization of toothpastes and mouthwashes. The Company’s
particularly innovative products in this area include Optacool®,
which not only provides a fresh mint flavor but also an extraordi-
narily cooling sensation of freshness. Optaflow® is one of our
“AND” products. Apart from having a mint flavor, it stimulates sali-
vation and thus contributes to oral hygiene. Some customers name
the Optaflow® brand on their end products and use it for market-
ing purposes.
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Scent & Care: Innovations and Focuses

In 2008, Scent & Care launched a number of product innovations
(see the research and development section), made a number of
future-oriented acquisitions, and established several partnerships:

) Acquisition of the US business activities of Manheimer Fragrances
and Intercontinental Fragrances has made us one of the leading
fragrance manufacturers in the US market for air fresheners and
scented candles (the air care market). We are planning to open
a global air care center in 2009 in the United States. With the ac-
quisition of Manheimer Fragrances, moreover, we now have ac-
cess to raw materials as well as development and production
capacities in the organic fragrances segment.

~

The strategic partnership between Symrise and Cambridge
Theranostics is enabling us to tap potential in the rapidly grow-
ing “beauty from within” segment. On the basis of Symrise’s
active substances, we are currently jointly developing new prod-
ucts in the health and medical food segments.

» Our stake in the US biotech company Therapeutic Peptides Inc.
has given us access to the highly innovative, forward-looking
peptide substance group. These substances are used primarily
in anti-aging and hair growth products.

~

We opened a new Creative Center in Shanghai to take advan-
tage of the rising importance of China and the entire north Asian
region. The center bundles all of the departments and creative
resources of the Scent & Care division. Located in the heart of
the historic old town of Puxi in the middle of a cultural, lifestyle
and art center, it is ideally situated for obtaining useful informa-
tion on Chinese consumer preferences and consumer trends
and for implementing successful product concepts together with
our customers.
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Furthermore, 2008 witnessed the first successes from last year’s
cooperative ventures:

~

Through our cooperation with the biotech companies BRAIN and
AnalytiCon Discovery, we were able to license two new cosmetic
substance classes and secure the worldwide marketing rights
to them.

Symrise’s cooperation with Cutech Srl. spawned the SCoutech
project. With this project we are offering customers in the cos-
metics, pharmaceutical and food supplement sectors highly spe-
cialized substance testing methods and end products for skin and
hair care. Together we developed a whole skin model that offers an
ethical, versatile, time-saving and cost-effective alternative to ar-
tificial skin models and animal experiments. Our model received
the Best New Technology Award at the 2008 HBA Industry Awards
in the United States.

Flavor & Nutrition

Flavor & Nutrition markets more than 15,000 products in 140
countries and has its own branches in more than 20 countries.
The division has production sites in Europe and Asia, North and
South America and Africa.

The flavors we develop and manufacture form important compo-
nents of many foods and beverages. They are produced in liquid,
powder, or granulated form or as a paste. Symrise supplies indi-
vidual flavorings used in end products as well as complete solu-
tions which, apart from the actual aroma, can contain additional
functional raw materials, colorants or microencapsulated product
components.

The Flavor & Nutrition division encompasses four main application
areas: Beverages, Sweet, Savory and Tobacco.

Flavor & Nutrition | Beverages

The Beverages application area develops, produces and markets
flavorings for alcohol-free beverages such as refreshment drinks,
fruit juice drinks, energy and sports drinks, tea and coffee drinks,
and mixed milk beverages. Our flavorings are also used in func-
tional beverages, which can be mixed with milk, yogurt, vitamins,
minerals, fibers or plant and herbal extracts. Another application
area is Instant Drinks, such as tea and coffee specialties. Here
Symrise has developed special technologies for manufacturing
aroma granulates. In addition, we develop, produce, and market
flavorings, distillates and extracts for nearly all common types of
alcoholic beverages - for example for liqueurs, spirits, mixed beer
drinks, and beverages containing wine.

At present, mixed beer drinks are among the most important prod-
uct segments in this application area. We offer aroma substances
as well as colorants and preservatives as a complete solution, in-
troducing the optimum stability fit into a beer matrix.

Flavor & Nutrition | Sweet

In the Sweet application area, flavors are developed and manu-
factured for sweet products, baked goods, ice cream and dairy
products, among others.

A focal point is products with improved aroma release and aroma
systems with masking qualities that permit the use of functional in-
gredients and simultaneously conceal these ingredients’ often un-
pleasant taste.

A further focus of this application area is vanilla, citrus, and mint
aromas. Symrise’s expertise in the vanilla segment dates back to
1874, when the Company’s founder, Dr. Wilhelm Haarmann, man-
ufactured vanillin as the first synthetic aroma compound. Today
we concentrate on developing and marketing natural vanilla aro-
mas and extracts. With the acquisition of the raw materials supplier
Aromatics S.A.S. in 2007, we gained access to first-rate raw ma-
terials and an optimum and secure supply of vanilla. This year, we
managed successfully to market vanilla aromas and extracts in the
Us, for example. Before acquiring Aromatics S.A.S., the US FDA
Standards of Identity prevented us from accessing this important
vanilla market.

Flavor & Nutrition | Savory

In the Savory application area, Symrise develops and produces fla-
vors for soups and sauces, as well as instant dishes and snacks.
As a result, we provide the food industry with building blocks that
give individual tastes to all kinds of products. For example, the
wine aromas, meat aromas, and herbal and vegetable extracts that
we produce are used to refine instant foods. In the Savory appli-
cation area flavors are developed as “AND” products, enabling our
customers to reduce the salt and fat content in foods with no fla-
vor loss. Among the most important products in the Savory appli-
cation area are seasonings for snacks. They contain flavors, some
in microencapsulated form, and spices. The technological chal-
lenge is to ensure that the seasoning retains its flavor for as long
as possible, e.g. on potato chips.

Flavor & Nutrition | Tobacco

In the Tobacco application area, we develop and market tobacco
aromas used by the tobacco industry in the manufacture of ciga-
rettes and pipe tobacco. Also in this area, special aromatization
methods are developed for the tobacco industry.
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Flavor & Nutrition: Innovations and Focuses
In 2008, we strengthened our presence in the US through acqui-
sitions and expanded and further developed existing sites:

) Purchase of the flavor division of Chr. Hansen marks Symrise’s
largest acquisition to date. The business sector generates over
80% of its flavor sales in North America. This acquisition has sig-
nificantly bolstered our presence in the world’s largest domes-
tic flavor market.

~

Our strategic partnership with the US company First Choice
Ingredients will ensure the growth of our portfolio in the milk
and cheese product segments and extend our leading position
in enzyme-modified flavors.

~

At the Sorocaba, Brazil site we opened the Global Citrus Cen-
ter. There, we develop and produce novel citrus aromas and
products such as citrus terpene, citrus oil washings and extracts,

~

~

highly concentrated citrus oils, fractional specialties, spray-dried
emulsions, fruit powders, and extracts. The Global Citrus Center
gives us direct, resource-conserving access to first-rate raw ma-
terials; through the use of innovative technologies we can fur-
ther expand our market position in the citrus aroma segment.

The expansion of our branch in Vienna strengthens our pres-
ence in Austria and in the southeast European market. The goal
of the expansion is to serve regional customers better and to
gear product development more to local markets with a focus
on fat products.

We opened a new development center at our Moscow site. It
contains development labs for all our application areas as well as
a new center for sensory and consumer research. With this site
expansion, too, the most important aspects are proximity to cus-
tomers and continuous service, as well as further development
in the region.

Business Divisions

Business Sectors

Application Areas

Beverages Sweet

Savory Tobacco

Flavor & Fragrances Market

Report

(Group Management W

Annual Report 2008 Symrise AG | 61



~

We expanded the Mexico City site, adding labs for the devel-
opment and application of flavors and culinary concepts. The
main reasons for the expansion were to achieve solid growth in
the region’s beverage segment and to move closer to customers.

Overview of Research and Development

Research and development (R&D) plays a key role for us, helping us
to heighten our competitiveness. This applies to both the develop-
ment of innovative products and solutions and more generally to our
image as a creative and valuable partner of our customers.

Nearly 20% of our entire workforce is employed in our worldwide re-
search and development units. In 2008, we allocated 6.5% of our
sales revenue (around € 86 million) for research and development.
Symrise has several R&D centers worldwide to optimally support the
regional activities of both divisions. In Holzminden, research activities
focus on fragrance and flavors, analytical chemistry, cosmetic ingre-
dients and raw materials evaluation. Application technology research
and development work is also carried out in Teterboro (USA), Singa-
pore, Tokyo (Japan), Chennai (India), Paris (France), Cuautitl “an Izcalli
(Mexico) and Sao Paulo (Brazil).

R&D resources are directly integrated into the organization in both
divisions so that development activities can be geared to the specific
requirements of the division and the demands of the respective mar-
kets and customers. The R&D departments’ close cooperation with
market research, customer service, purchasing and manufacturing,
product development and quality assurance means that the feasibil-
ity and profitability of new products and technologies can be
monitored early on. This integrated approach has demonstrably
heightened the effectiveness and efficiency of development pro-
cesses, giving Symrise - and its customers - competitive advantages
in terms of creating new, innovative products.

Moreover, we pursue a strategy of acquiring small companies that
have interesting technologies or raw material bases, or cooperating
with them in strategic partnerships. This saves us time-consuming
in-house development, increases our R&D potential and minimizes
the commercialization risks. As a globally operative company, we are
in a position to market these technologies on a larger scale than
would have been possible for their innovators.

Aside from Symrise’s “traditional” research activities, market re-
search also takes high priority in our Company. It is an important and
reliable source of information for developing consumer-oriented prod-
ucts that will be successful on the market in the long term. A mile-
stone in this area is the Creative Center opened in 2008 in Shanghai.
Its core is a consumer and sensory research system developed by

Symrise that enables us to combine different data sources as well as
testing and analysis methods far exceeding the possibilities of clas-
sical consumer research.

Market and Competition

With its flavor, fragrance and mint products, Symrise is globally
active on the flavor and fragrances (F&F) market. With its Life
Essentials and Aroma Molecules business units, Symrise is promi-
nent on the market for cosmetic ingredients and the market for
aroma chemicals.

The relevant F&F market has an estimated volume of € 13 billion
to € 14 billion and is recording long-term growth of 2% to 3% a
year. In 2008, there were more than 500 companies in the F&F
industry worldwide. The four largest manufacturers in this market
have a combined market share of more than 50%. They typically
grow faster than the rest of the F&F industry. With an estimated
market share of 10% at present, Symrise is one of these “big four”
in terms of turnover.

The products of the F&F market and the markets for cosmetic in-
gredients and aroma chemicals are normally important compo-
nents of foods and beverages, perfumes, cosmetic products,
cleaning products and washing products consumed or used by end
customers. The F&F market, the market for cosmetic ingredients
and the market for aroma chemicals have many trends and char-
acteristics in common.

Demand for the finished products in which our components are
used is driven by different factors in emerging countries than in
mature markets. In the emerging countries, income growth among
the populace is fueling demand for products containing flavorings,
fragrances or cosmetic ingredients. In some of these countries, it
is possible to grow business with simple products meeting basic
needs that were satisfied long ago in other markets. In the
developed Western European and North American markets, con-
sumer trends such as beauty, health & spa, wellbeing, convenience
and naturalness are having an impact on demand for our products.
Greater need for high-quality and novel products, as well as multi-
functional products, is apparent in these countries. In many cases,
competition on the markets there does not take place through
product pricing. What is decisive is recognizing market trends early
on, developing innovative production methods, products, and
brands, and establishing them in the market.

The manufacturers of end products using flavors and fragrances
and cosmetic ingredients are increasingly globally active compa-
nies, partly as a result of market consolidation in recent years.
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These manufacturers are showing growing preference for globally
operative suppliers whose worldwide presence and innovativeness
forms an important basis for their acceptance by the group of core
manufacturers (who place them on so-called core lists). For us,
being on a core list is the prerequisite for consideration as a pos-
sible manufacturer by our customers when new products are put
out to tender. Core listing is thus crucial to increasing our sales.
Customers check the lists every three or four years on average.
One of the most important reasons for inclusion or retention on
a core list is the manufacturer’s innovative capacity. In recent
years, and particularly in 2008, both divisions of Symrise secured
new core listings. This improves our chances of expanding in the
future.

Once a company achieves annual sales revenues of approximately
€ 1 billion, additional size is a less of a success factor. But gener-
ating revenue of more than € 1 billion is important for us, because
as an F&F company we have to possess a global network and in-
frastructure to follow our multinational customers and to maintain
business relationships with them in all world regions. Due to dif-
ferent taste preferences, business is generated in the individual
countries or regions. As the graphic shows, only the world’s four
biggest players exceed this critical revenue level.

The F&F market is characterized by high entry barriers worldwide.
On the one hand, these entry barriers are the result of increasing
customer demand for higher quality and more differentiated prod-
ucts with shorter lifecycles. On the other, they stem from inten-
sive cooperation on product development between F&F companies
and their customers. Moreover, the business model is very com-
plex. We develop and manufacture more than 30,000 products
from approximately 10,000 raw materials; and most of our prod-
ucts are manufactured exclusively for one client. This makes
it more difficult for new competitors to gain a foothold in the
market with copies of existing products. The demanding regula-
tory environment also makes market penetration difficult and
expensive.

Customers and Industries

Symrise’s customers include multinational groups of companies as
well as important regional and local manufacturers of food, bever-
ages, perfumes, cosmetics, body care products, and cleaning and
washing products. We earn the bulk of our revenue with regional
and local customers.

Among the most important customers of the Scent & Care division
are Procter & Gamble, Johnson & Johnson and L'Oreal, as well as
other leading global manufacturers. Scent & Care generated 31% of
its sales with the top 10 customers in 2008.

The most important customers for our Flavor & Nutrition division
are the leading global manufacturers of food and beverage brands.
In 2008, the division generated 26% of its sales with its top 10 cus-
tomers. Last year, a global food and beverage manufacturer rated
Flavor & Nutrition the best supplier in terms of know-how, quality
and delivery capacity for the second year in a row.

Group-wide, no single customer accounted for more than 5% of our
total revenue in 2008.

Corporate Strategy and Aims

Our strategy focuses on sustainable and profit-oriented growth.
Our aim is constantly to grow faster than the market. We estimate
that the F&F market is achieving growth of 2% to 3% a year on a
long-term average. Additionally, we are aiming for a leading posi-
tion in terms of profitability. Symrise has set itself the goal of ac-
commodating the changing needs and wishes of consumers better
than its competitors, through innovation and creativity. Particularly
with solutions offering added benefits (“AND” products), we are
striving to be an indispensable partner for our customers.
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We intend to meet our growth and profitability targets through the
consistent implementation of our strategy. This strategy is based
on three equally important pillars:

Focus on Innovation - “The Power of AND”

Symrise has set itself the objective of leveraging its ability to re-
search and develop new and innovative product concepts and
groups to further grow its market share in the high-quality, high-
margin product segment. We are therefore focusing on “AND”
products. “AND” products are innovative technologies or novel in-
gredients that offer an added benefit. As these products have
unique features, they can help our customers open up interesting
growth markets. At the same time, these products enable our cus-
tomers to stand out from the competition. Typically, our “AND”
products are found in relatively fast-growing submarkets or trendy
segments. We therefore expect them to continue to drive
Symrise’s growth in the future.

Focus on Customer Needs - Being an Indispensable Partner
A sound understanding of our customers’ needs and of consumer
trends is the key to being an indispensable partner in the devel-
opment, manufacture and marketing of successful products. Con-
sequently, besides creating and producing flavors and fragrances
to outside specifications, we also approach customers proactively
to present new ideas and intelligent concepts. We aspire to offer
our customers increasing support at the end product development
stage with joint market and trend research and integrated research
and development work. By combining this with extremely high sup-
ply reliability and outstanding competence in applying for regula-
tory approval and in marketing products, Symrise could expand its
partnerships with its customers across the entire value chain.

Our strategic goal is to bolster our position on the core lists of im-
portant multinational customers and to strengthen our presence in
the high-growth emerging markets by having a thorough under-
standing of the needs of our customers and consumer trends, and
by cooperating closely with our customers on the development of
new products.

Being Bold

Going forward, Symrise will continue to pursue the measures it
has taken in recent years to improve and maintain its competi-
tiveness and profitability. To this end, Symrise has developed a
margin optimization program through which the profitability of our
customer relations, our products, and the areas of application of
our products are constantly monitored. We will immediately im-
plement corrective measures when necessary.

Through consistent implementation of our strategy we intend to
achieve growth rates making us the foremost company in our
industry.

Additionally, Symrise intends to broaden its technological expert-
ise by acquiring and integrating companies that possess special
know-how or innovative technologies. We are concentrating in par-
ticular on small and medium-sized companies specializing in the
development and production of flavors and fragrances, natural raw
materials, neutraceuticals and nutritionals, and active cosmetic in-
gredients and plant extracts. By becoming part of the Symrise
Group, these companies can gain access to new customer groups.
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Financial Objectives and Value-based

Corporate Management

We gauge Symrise’s performance with reference to the indicators
profitability and free cash flow. To assess development of the prof-
itability of our operating business, we use the key factors EBITA
(earnings before interest, taxes and amortization) and adjusted
EPS (earnings per share). Underlying EPS take account of adjusted
one-time effects from interest and taxes, non-cash tax items and
the amortization of recipes. We prefer to use EBITA rather than
EBIT to assess our operating profitability because it omits amorti-
zation of intangible assets. This is important because intangible
assets contain the formulae of companies whose amortizations
are connected with this are acquisition-related special factors and
are, therefore, not suitable for assessing operating business.

Underlying EPS is adjusted for interest and taxes. To assess the
Company’s performance as accurately as possible in comparison
to the previous year and the figures budgeted, we modify the ra-
tios EBITA and adjusted EPS to allow for currency effects.

In terms of the cash flow, we believe that the ratio operating free
cash flow has the greatest validity. More detailed information on
operating free cash flow is available on pages 77-78.

In 2008, we set ourselves the medium-term target band for our
debt ratio, expressed as the ratio of net debt (including pension
costs) to EBITDA of 2.0 to 2.5. Since our business generates a
strong cash flow, we tolerate a short-term increase in this ratio, for
example to make acquisitions, with the proviso that the target
range can be met again in the foreseeable future.

Symrise endeavors to pay a dividend of 50% of the adjusted earn-
ings per share. The dividend payment is an expression of Symrise’s
fundamental duty to continuously achieve high yields for its share-
holders. Symrise is committed to reporting on the development of
the Company regularly and transparently.

To promote long-range value generation in the Company, Symrise
introduced a long-term incentive plan (LTIP) for the Executive
Board and selected managers in the operating business. The pro-
gram is based on total shareholder value and economic value
added (EVA) over a period of three years.

3. GENERAL CONDITIONS

Business Environment

The global economic outlook deteriorated from the second quar-
ter of 2008 onwards, with many indicators - from the housing mar-
ket to new car registrations to lower retail sales - all pointing to an
extended downturn in the global economy. The fourth quarter of
2008 also witnessed a strong de-stocking trend, with many com-
panies trying to reduce working capital levels and maximize year-
end cash positions. This impacted Symrise’s sales performance in
the fourth quarter, with many customers delaying orders into early
2009 as they systematically reduced inventory levels to a new
lower base. We anticipate that the mature industrialized countries
will remain in recession for some time and that growth in emerg-
ing markets will be softer in 2009.

While oil and other commaodity prices hit historic peak levels in
July, prices have since fallen dramatically, reflecting the projected
downturn in demand from the weaker global economy. Our own
raw material costs have yet to show any significant weakening in
price, but we expect to see some softening as we go through
2009. On top of this, certain materials continue to show a ten-
dency towards higher prices even in the recessionary environment
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given current supply/demand equations, increasing scarcity or
more demanding regulatory constraints. This is true, for example,
of all turpentine derivatives and citral-based materials.

In mature markets, growth in the flavors and fragrances segment
is led by consumer trends satisfying basic needs, except for the
fine fragrances and luxury-end personal care products, which are
more susceptible to changes in consumers’ disposable income
and therefore suffered during 2008 from the business downturn
and economic uncertainty. In emerging markets, the flavors and
fragrance segment correlates more directly to GDP growth, and
sales there held up well as these economies generally continued
to grow strongly.

Performance of the Flavor and Fragrance Market

As mentioned elsewhere (see page 57), Symrise is active on the
worldwide market for flavors and fragrances with its fragrances, mint
products, and flavors. With its Life Essentials and Aroma Molecules
business units, Symrise is present on the market for cosmetic in-
gredients and the market for aroma chemicals.

In a recent study, IAL Consultants (IAL) estimates the total volume
of sales generated in the worldwide F&F market in 2008 at € 10.7
billion.The fragrances submarket accounted for around € 5.3 billion
of this, and the flavors submarket for about € 5.4 billion. If the sub-
markets of aroma chemicals and cosmetic substances are added
(together accounting for around € 3 billion), the F&F market of rel-
evance to us in 2008 had a volume of € 13- € 14 billion. From a
long-term perspective, the market is expanding by between 2% and
3% a year. In 2008, market growth was less than 2%; due to the
financial and economic crisis, we expect zero growth for 2009.

Symrise is the fourth-largest player in the F&F market with a market
share of approximately 10%. The market leader is the Swiss com-
pany Givaudan S.A., with an estimated market share of 20%,
followed by Firmenich S.A., Switzerland, with a share of around 13%.
In third place is International Flavors & Fragrances Inc. (IFF), USA,
whose market share stands at about 12%. The top four players in
this market thus comprise more than 50% of the total, although there
are more than 500 companies active in this segment.

Investments and Acquisitions

In the fiscal year 2008 we invested worldwide € 179.2 million
(2007: € 55.8 million) in intangible and tangible assets. The sig-
nificant investment and acquisitions activity centred around the
strengthening of both the Flavors & Nutrition and Scent & Care di-
visions through acquisitions in the United States.

In early March, we announced the acquisition of the flavors busi-
ness from the Danish manufacturer Chr. Hansen, which was sub-
sequently completed on April 25. $ 110 million (€ 72 million) was
paid for the business, which enjoyed a turnover of $70 million
(€ 51 million) in 2007.

The acquired business comprised the Seasonings, Sweet, Savory
and Dairy Flavors activities of Chr. Hansen and added production
capacity and new technologies to strengthen our North American
capabilities. In addition, our sales force was further strengthened
and we gained a customer base which was very complementary to
the existing Symrise business.

In 2008, this business contributed $ 45 million (€ 31 million) of
additional sales and is performing in line with our expectations. As
previously highlighted, the acquisition did not benefit EBITA in
2008 as a result of the costs of the business integration which
were incurred. Following the finalisation of the purchase price al-
location and the subsequent amortisation of capitalised recipes
during 2008, the acquisition reduced EBIT by € 3 million. Integra-
tion was complete by the end of 2008 and, from the beginning of
2009 the business is expected to contribute additional margins in
line with the rest of the Group.

For the Scent & Care division, we announced in late September the
acquisition of the businesses of Intercontinental Fragrances, which
was completed on September 3, 2008, and of Manheimer Fra-
grances, which was subsequently completed on November 6,
2008. The combined consideration for these businesses was
$ 92 million (€ 65 million). In 2007, Intercontinental Fragrances
enjoyed turnover of $16 million (€ 12 million), while Manheimer
Fragrances generated turnover of $ 33 million (€ 25 million).

Through these acquisitions, Symrise was immediately promoted
to the position of one of the leading fragrance suppliers for air care
products in North America, where the market is estimated to ex-
ceed $ 300 million and represents about 10% of the entire US fra-
grance market. Symrise has also gained some attractive new
customers and will leverage the expertise gained to strengthen
Symrise’s position in the global air care market. In 2009. Symrise
plans to build a global air care center in the US.

In 2008, these businesses contributed $ 7 million (€ 5 million) of
additional sales and are both performing in line with expectations.
Integration of the businesses, which involves transferring produc-
tion of the Manheimer products to other Symrise production sites,
including the Intercontinental factory in Houston, Texas, is pro-
ceeding according to plan and should be completed in the first
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half of 2009. After integration costs are taken into account, the ac-
quisitions did not benefit EBITA and, after recipe amortisation is
taken into account, EBIT was reduced by € 1.5 million. Further in-
tegration costs of about € 3 million are anticipated in the first half
of 2009, but Group EBITA will be enhanced in 2009.

Also in the US, in July we acquired for $ 2.3 million (€ 2 million) a
20 % stake in the US biotechnology company, Therapeutic Pep-
tides Inc. (TPI) for an immaterial consideration. This secures ex-
clusive distribution rights for highly advanced cosmetic active
ingredients for Symrise and will further strengthen the Life Essen-
tials business within the Scent & Care Division.

On April 1, 2008, Symrise and the Italian biotech company Cutech
Srl. founded the cooperation project SCoutech. SCoutech offers
customers from the cosmetics, pharmaceutical and food supple-
ment sectors comprehensive testing methods for skin and hair
care substances and end products. We jointly developed a whole
skin model based on ex vivo pigskin that represents a highly inno-
vative alternative to artificial skin models and animal experiments.

Regulatory Environment

Symrise products are found in a number of application areas, in-
cluding food processing, cosmetic and pharmaceutical end prod-
ucts, and household products. Worldwide use of our products
requires that we observe national and internationally valid con-
sumer regulations.

These regulations are in constant flux due to ever-new knowledge
in research, development and production technology, due to a
growing need for safety, and due to steadily increasing health and
environmental awareness worldwide. We therefore observe the re-
gional and global development of these processes very carefully.
This ensures that we can react quickly to changes in or the tight-
ening of regulations and avoid negative effects on production costs
or our product portfolio.

At present, the regulatory activities of the Scent & Care division are
focusing on the European Union (EU). In December 2006, the EU
established REACH (Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and re-
striction of Chemicals), laying the foundations for comprehensive
re-regulation of the use of chemical substances. Under REACH,
the companies that produce the substances bear greater respon-
sibility for their safe use.

Symrise successfully completed the first phase (pre-registration)
of REACH. We pre-registered more than 1,400 substances through
different legal entities and exclusive representatives, putting in

place the prerequisites for manufacturing or importing the sub-
stances until the final registration dossier is drawn up (by 2018,
depending on the substance). We are continually preparing for the
next steps. We are involved in various SIEF (Substance Informa-
tion) and industrial consortia, and are preparing the registrations
for the dossiers planned for 2010 and 2013. In addition, we are
also preparing to introduce the Globally Harmonized System of
Classification and Labelling of Chemicals (GHS).

The Flavor & Nutrition division’s products are primarily used in
foods (savory and sweet foods as well as dairy products), bever-
ages (soft drinks, beverages containing alcohol, and alcoholic
drinks), and pharmaceutical applications. The legal regulations for
flavors vary in the different legal jurisdictions, particularly in the
European Union and the United States. Depending on the juris-
diction, different maximum amounts of certain ingredients are per-
mitted and special labeling regulations may apply.

Symrise utilizes company-wide data processing systems and its
comprehensive expertise in food law to ensure that our products
are legally marketable in the relevant markets. Since more and
more customers are using Symrise’s flavors in all kinds of mar-
kets, the global aspect is becoming significantly more important.
Thanks to our expertise in the regulatory environment, we can ac-
tively support these customers in the roll-out of their products in
new markets.

2008 witnessed a number of changes in legal regulations, partic-
ularly in the European Union. Due to the passing of new EU laws
governing the approval of food additives, flavors, and enzymes, the
legal environment for these EU industries will change in the years
to come. Symrise has followed the legislation process via its ac-
tivities in different industry associations and is therefore well pre-
pared for change. Consequently, we do not expect legislation to
have negative effects on the costs of our products or our product
portfolio.
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The Company’s Performance in 2008 - A Comparison be-
tween the Actual and Forecast Course of Business

The forecast delivered on March 5, 2008 at the presentation of
the 2007 business results was for organic, currency-adjusted sales
growth of 5% to 6% (excluding acquisitions) and an increase in the
EBITDA margin to 22% for fiscal 2008, the year having got off to a
good start.

However, in mid-2008 we had to revise our sales growth and
EBITDA margin forecasts downwards. The main reasons for this
were the rapidly weakening business environment, an unforesee-
ably high increase in raw materials prices and energy costs, and
the slight margin dilution due to the acquisition of Chr. Hansen
Flavors. The adjusted forecast issued at the end of July predicted
sales growth at local currency (including acquisitions) of 6% to 7%,
and an EBITDA margin of approximately 21%.

In the course of the third quarter, the economic situation wors-
ened further. At the same time, our negotiations with customers on
price increases lasted longer than anticipated. In addition, our cus-
tomers grew increasingly cautious over ordering their materials,
making our business more difficult to plan and predict. In the end,
we had to adjust our earnings forecast once again. At the end of
October we announced an EBITDA margin of approximately 20%.
We were able to maintain our sales growth forecast (currency-
adjusted), including acquisitions, of 6% - 7%.

Raw materials prices rose relentlessly until the end of November
2008, with price increases first starting to slow in the course of
December. In the fourth quarter, moreover, customers transferred
orders from 2008 to 2009 to minimize working capital. The posi-
tive effects of our price increases only became evident in the
fourth quarter and failed to offset the significantly higher cost of
sales. Against this backdrop, we failed to meet our target of achiev-
ing currency-adjusted EBITA on a par with the previous year. At
current rates EBITA fell by 5%. The EBITDA margin reached 19.9%,
within our target range of around 20%.

ACHIEVEMENT OF GOALS

Goal in 2008 (as of October 28, 2008)

The fact that we did not meet our EBITA target had a negative im-
pact on adjusted earnings per share (EPS). We were not able to in-
crease adjusted EPS as forecast; instead they remained at the
previous year’s level of € 1.02. However, we see this as an indica-
tion of the robustness of our business amid the steadily worsen-
ing business environment in 2008.

4. RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Sales

Symrise achieved total sales of € 1,319.9 million in 2008. On a
local currency basis, this represents an increase of 6.5%. Based on
actual rates, sales rose by € 45.4 million (3.6%) compared to 2007.
Sales excluding the acquisitions discussed above climbed in local
currencies by 3.5% (0.8% at actual rates).

The sales performance of Scent & Care in fiscal 2008 was mixed.
While Life Essentials, Household, Aroma Molecules and Mint per-
formed according to plan, the “luxury segments” Fine Fragrances
and Personal Care had to contend with demand problems caused
by the global economic situation. In 2008, Scent & Care gener-
ated sales of € 671.8 million. As a result, including the acquisi-
tions Intercontinental Fragrances and Manheimer Fragrances,
sales reached the previous year’s mark. At local exchange rates
Scent & Care’s sales were up by 3%. Excluding Intercontinental
Fragrances and Manheimer Fragrances, sales fell slightly by 0.7%
to € 666.8 million (+ 2.2% on a local currency basis).

Including Chr. Hansen Flavors, Flavor & Nutrition recorded sales of
€ 648.1 million in 2008, an increase of 7.4% (10.4% at local rates).
Excluding Chr. Hansen Flavors, sales rose by 2.4% to € 617.5 mil-
lion (5.0% on a local currency basis). After the acquisition in April,
Chr. Hansen flavors posted sales of € 30.6 million.

In fiscal 2008, sales in the emerging countries rose 8% (on a local

currency basis) compared to the previous year, thus contributing
to the overall sales growth.

Achievement of goals in 2008

Sales growth (in local currencies) 6% - 7% (incl. acquisitions) 6.5%
EBITDA margin Approximately 20% 19.9%
EBITA EBITA at previous year’s level in LC -5%

Adjusted EPS

Currency-adjusted growth of 4% - 6% 0%

Free Cash Flow

9% -10% of Sales

9.3%
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SALES BY REGION

Q4 Q4  Change  Change 2007 2008 Change Change
€ million 2007 2008 AR % LC% AR % LC%
EAME 158.6 148.9 -6 -4 712.2 705.5 -1 1
Asia/Pacific 54.7 60.2 10 5 248.6 262.2 6 8
North America (including Mexico) 50.7 74.8 48 42 224.2 257.2 15 23
South America 21.2 26.5 25 25 89.5 95.0 6 9
Total 285.2 310.4 9 8 1,274.5 1,319.9

Sales in the Asia/Pacific region increased by 8% at local currency,
and sales in South America were 9% higher than in 2007 on a local
currency basis.

In North America (including Mexico) sales jumped 23% (in local
currency). The acquisitions made in the year under review had a
positive impact on sales growth. Excluding acquisitions, sales
growth came in at 9%. This strong performance was driven by both
the Scent & Care and the Flavor & Nutrition division.

In the EAME region, acquisition-adjusted sales reached the previ-
ous year’s level. In the second half of 2008, the recession in the
Western European markets and the significant sales declines in
the Eastern European markets had a negative impact on sales
growth.

Further information on sales performance in the various regions
can be found in the division reports.

Sales with our top 10 customers grew by 9% on a local currency
basis and by 5% at actual rates. The percentage of total sales gen-
erated with this customer group edged up slightly to 28.5%. Details
are also available in the reports on the divisions.

The table on top provides a breakdown of revenue by region:

Based on the previous year’s exchange rates, Symrise’s sales
amounted to € 1,356.8 million in 2008. The conversion of sales re-
ported in foreign currencies reduced Group sales by € 36.9 million.
Fourth-quarter sales were significantly impacted as many of our
customers postponed the delivery dates of orders in a bid to max-
imize their year-end cash position and minimize their working cap-
ital outlay. Consequently, after strong year-on-year growth in
October (due to differing order patterns from the third quarter of
last year), sales in November and December were significantly
lower than anticipated.

Overall, sales in the quarter grew by 8.8% at actual rates and 7.8%
in local currency, including acquisitions. Excluding the acquisitions,
sales rose by a more modest 3.0% at actual rates and 2.0% in local
currency, benefiting from strong October sales.
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Gross Profit and Operating Income
The table below shows the profit and loss statement for the fiscal
year 2008 compared to 2007.

The total cost of sales amounted to € 762.4 million in 2008, up by
€48.7 million on 2007. This 6.8% increase was higher than that in
sales, due mainly to higher raw materials and energy costs. From
November 2008, this cost increases were partially recoverd
through price increases.

For the reasons discussed, gross profit fell by € 3.3 million to €
558 million. This corresponds to a decrease in the gross margin
compared to the previous year by 1.8 percentage points to 42.2%.
This decline was also influenced by the acquisition of Chr. Hansen
Flavors, which impaired the margin mix.

Other operating income fell from € 14.2 million to € 10.3 million,
mainly due to lower reversal of provisions in 2008 than in 2007.

In 2008, selling expenses totaled € 215.1 million, € 0.6 million
down on the previous year. Selling expenses as a percentage of
sales decreased slightly from 16.9% in 2007 to 16.3% in the year
under review.

SUMMARY INCOME STATEMENT

Research and development costs rose 4.7% (€ 3.9 million) to €
86.2 million. They accounted for 6.5% of sales in 2008, on a par
with the previous year.

Administrative costs fell by € 3.8 million to € 74.2 million, which
is mainly attributable to cost savings.

Due to higher costs for various external services other operating
costs increased by € 2.0 million to € 5.3 million.

2007 2008 Change
€ million AR % LC %
Sales 1,274.5 1,319.9 3.6 6.5
Cost of sales -713.7 -762.4 7 11
Gross profit 560.8 557.5 -1 1
Gross profit in% 44.0% 42.2%

Other operating income 14.2 10.3 -27 -27
Selling expenses -215.7 -215.1 0 2
Research and development expenses -82.3 -86.2 5 7
Administrative expenses -78.0 -74.2 -5 -3
Other operating expenses -3.3 -5.3 61 62
EBIT 195.7 187.0 -4 -5
EBIT margin in % 15.4% 14.2%

EBITA 232.3 221.6 -5 -5
EBITA margin in % 18.2% 16.8%

EBITDA 272.1 262.5 -4 -4
EBITDA margin in % 21.3% 19.9%
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RECONCILIATION

W

Q4/2007 @ Q4/2008 Change 2007 2008 Change
€ million AR% LC % AR% LC%
EBIT 34.1 28.5 -17  -22 195.7 187.0 -4 -5
EBIT margin in% 12.0 9.2 15.4 14.2
EBITA 43.6 39.5 9 -14 232.3 221.6 -5 -5
EBITA margin in % 15.3 12.7 18.2 16.8
EBITDA 52.5 50.9 -3 -7 2721 262.5 -4 -4
EBITDA margin  in% 18.4 16.4 21.3 19.9
EBIT/EBITA/EBITDA

EBITA was down 5% to € 222 million in fiscal 2008, narrowing the
EBITA margin by one percentage point to 16.8%. This was due mainly
to the greater increase in the cost of sales than in sales. Raw ma-
terials prices and energy costs in 2008 climbed by around 5%. Small
price increases were pushed through from November, but they
could not offset the negative trend in raw materials costs. The EBITA
margin was also negatively impacted by acquisitions, which con-
tributed to sales growth but not profitability.

Q4 EBIT/EBITA/EBITDA

Fourth-quarter margins are traditionally the lowest of the four quar-
ters in the year, since we do not benefit from a full ‘normal” month
of sales in December. This year, margins suffered further as a re-
sult of lower sales due to customers delaying orders through No-
vember and December. This led not only to a lower absolute gross
margin; the gross margin percentage also suffered due to signifi-
cant under-recovery of fixed manufacturing costs as factory
throughput decreased and we attempted to minimize our own
working capital exposure from finished goods at year end.

Higher raw materials costs had a negative impact on our margins.
As mentioned, we only managed to push through price increases
with our customers as from November 2008. With lower Fine
Fragrance and Sweet sales and stronger Savory and UV Filter sales,
the product mix was adverse in Q4 2008.

The EBIT margin was further impacted by the recipe amortization
charge for the new acquisitions, which, in the case of Chr. Hansen
Flavors, resulted in a catch-up from April once the purchase price
allocation was completed.
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Financial Result

The financial result for 2008 was € 52 million, € 4 million lower
than the previous year’s € 56 million. We were able significantly to
reduce the volatility of our financing costs in the profit and loss
statement through the use of hedge accounting and interest rate
swaps.

Excluding differences in exchange rates for loans and alterations
in the valuation of swaps for exchange rate effects, the net inter-
est charge was € 41.2 million. That is an increase of € 2 million
over the previous year. Higher net debt and an increase in interest
on pensions are the main reasons for the heavier interest charge.

Taxes

In 2008, income tax of € 44.4 million (2007: € 42.8 million) was
reported in the profit and loss statement. This amounts to a tax
rate of 33%.

The 33% tax rate is lower than the 37% underlying tax rate in 2007
as a result of a reduction in German corporate taxes, which took
effect on January 1, 2008. The 2007 P&L tax rate benefited from
a release of deferred tax provisions associated with capitalized
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recipes, following the announcement in 2007 of the lower German
corporate tax rate.

This tax rate also includes the formation of certain provisions to re-
flect the risks of additional tax assessments arising from various
current and pending tax audits in different jurisdictions.

As a result of tax losses carried forward, the tax cash payments in
2008 of € 29.8 million (2007: € 27.3 million) were almost € 15 mil-
lion below the tax charge shown in the income statement

Net Profit and Earnings per Share

Net income for 2008 decreased by 7% to € 90.4 million, down from
€ 97.4 million in 2007. Accordingly, earnings per share for 2008
fell to € 0.76 (2007: € 0.82).

Underlying net income increased by € 0.1 million from € 120.7
million to € 120.8 million. Adjusted earnings are earnings before
taxes not allowing for depreciation on recipes, foreign exchange
rate effects on loans, and movements in fair value evaluation of
derivatives (all taking account of the applicable tax rate).

Underlying earnings per share in 2008 remained stable at € 1.02.

Dividend

At the Shareholders’ Meeting on May 11, 2009, the Executive
Board of Symrise AG will propose payment of a dividend of € 0.50
per share for fiscal 2008, as in the previous year. This is consistent
with our dividend policy of paying out around 50% of adjusted prof-
its. The dividend provides shareholders an attractive return.

5. PERFORMANCE OF THE BUSINESS DIVISIONS

Scent & Care

Scent & Care Growing with the Market

Scent & Care turned in a mixed sales performance in fiscal 2008.
While the Life Essentials, Aroma Molecules and Mint areas devel-
oped according to plan, the “luxury segments” Fine Fragrances
and Personal Care had to contend with demand problems arising
from the global economic situation. In 2008, Scent & Care notched
up sales of € 671.8 million. Including the acquisitions of Intercon-
tinental Fragrances and Manheimer Fragrances, the division’s
sales matched the previous year’s level. On a local currency basis,
Scent & Care recorded sales growth of 3.0%. Excluding Intercon-
tinental Fragrances and Manheimer Fragrances, sales amounted to
€ 666.8 million, corresponding to an increase of 2.2% at local
currency (- 0.7% at actual rates).
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“AND” Products Grow Faster

Sales of “AND” products rose in local currency by almost 6.5%.
The growth drivers among the “AND” products come primarily
from the Life Essentials and Aroma Molecules business unit. Of all
the “AND” products, Life Essentials accounted for the highest per-
centage of sales (50%) as well as for the highest growth rate (12%)
in actual exchange rates. Our new product category bioactive pep-
tides is arousing keen interest among our customers. In 2008,
we recorded our first sales of this new, future-oriented product
category.

High Sales Growth with Top 10 Customers

Expressed in local currency, sales to our top 10 customers in 2008
increased by around 7%. The top 10 customers now account for
slightly more than 30% of the division’s total sales. We were able
to strengthen our position in the fragrance market in the year
under review. In July, Scent & Care made it onto an important core
list and is now this multinational customer’s preferred provider. In
the medium term, this new core list position could give rise to sig-
nificant increases in sales.

Strong Sales Growth in Emerging Markets

Scent & Care sales growth of 3.0% on a local currency basis over
the previous year was driven by solid growth in the emerging mar-
kets, where sales climbed 6% in local currency. As in 2007, sales
in the newly industrializing countries accounted for 36% of our
total. We achieved strong sales growth at local currency in the
growth markets of Indonesia, China and India.

Life Essentials the Growth Engine

Life Essentials is the fastest-growing business unit, with sales in
local currency up 9% on the previous year. The strong increase is
mainly attributable to double-digit growth in North America, Asia,
and South America.

In 2008, Life Essentials entered into a strategic alliance with Cam-
bridge Theranostics Ltd. (England) to gain access to the promising
and rapidly growing medical food market segment. Medical food
products are health-promoting food supplements made from food.
The aim of this cooperative venture is to develop new products for
this segment on the basis of Symrise’s own active substances.

Additionally, Scent & Care acquired a stake in the US biotech com-
pany Therapeutic Peptides Inc. (TPI). As a result, Symrise now has
access to the highly innovative peptide substance group. Peptides
are used in cosmetic products as highly effective antimicrobial,
anti-aging, or hair-growth-stimulating substances.

Furthermore, we added organically grown plant extracts to our
product portfolio through a sales partnership with the American
company Bayliss.

Sales in the Fragrances business unit in local currency were
slightly higher than in the previous year, at 1%. The “luxury seg-
ments” Fine Fragrances and Personal Care were confronted with
demand problems, particularly in Western Europe and North Amer-
ica, due primarily to the downswing in the global economy. The
Household business unit developed very positively in 2008, boost-
ing sales by 10% on a local currency basis. In this area, we were
able to do new business with multinational customers, particularly
in the US, which significantly lifted our sales.

Aroma Molecules is showing strong growth, particularly in North
America and Asia. In Asia, we posted double-digit sales growth in
2008, which helped the division’s sales increase by 3% in local
currency over the previous year.

Mint grew by 5% in local currency compared to 2007, due mainly
to higher sales in the EAME and Asia regions.

Solid Growth in 04

Sales in the fourth quarter of 2008 reached € 162.1 million. In-
cluding Intercontinental Fragrances and Manheimer Fragrances,
sales were 8.5% higher than in same quarter of the previous year
(+7.2% at at local currency). Even when adjusted for acquisitions,
sales performance was solid in the fourth quarter, with growth of
5.2% to € 157.2 million. In local currency, this represents an
increase of 3.7%. Scent & Care recorded the highest sales growth
rate in the fourth quarter of 2008.

Nonetheless, the sales performance in Q4 2008 cannot be viewed
inisolation. In November and December, our customers postponed
delivery dates of orders to minimize working capital outlays.
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Regions

EAME

In EAME, the largest region, Scent & Care’s currency-adjusted
sales were down slightly on the previous year (-2%), which is at-
tributable primarily to weak demand in the luxury segments Fine
Fragrances and Personal Care. The solid sales performance in the
Household, Life Essentials and UV Filters business units could not
completely offset the sales drop.

North America

With sales of 12% at local currency, North America is our fastest-
growing region. The main sales driver was the Household applica-
tion area, followed by Cosmetic Ingredients and UV Filters. Sales
of Fine Fragrances and Mint fell in 2008. This was due in part to
overstocking by a few customers at the end of 2007 /beginning of
2008, but primarily to general consumer restraint in the US

Our acquisition of the US companies Manheimer Fragrances and
Intercontinental Fragrances makes us one of the leading fragrance
manufacturers on the US air care market. We are planning to open
a global air care center in 2009 in the US.

4 N
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Asia/Pacific

Asia/Pacific continued to post solid sales growth of 6% in local cur-
rency. In the emerging markets, our growth depends very much on
consumers’ disposable income. Demand for products containing
our recipes grows with increasing disposable income. In Asia/Pa-
cific, the Aroma Molecules and Life Essentials applications per-
formed particularly well, recording double-digit growth rates. The
opening in June 2008 of our new Creative Center in Shanghai is a fur-
ther sign of our efforts to constantly expand our leading position in
the burgeoning Asian market. The new site provides an inspiring and
modern work atmosphere promoting cooperation between creative,
innovation, sales, and marketing teams and contributing to a better
understanding of consumers’ wishes in this important part of the
world. The Creative Center also acts as the new regional headquar-
ters for northern Asia. It will serve China and Taiwan as well as Japan
and Korea

South America

Sales performance in South America was mixed. While Life
Essentials and Personal Care developed positively, Household and
Mint were confronted with a drop in demand. Overall, the region
recorded slight currency-adjusted growth of 1% compared to the
previous year.

Earnings Situation

Scent & Care reported EBITA of € 109.8 million for 2008, which
was 4.0% below the previous year’s level at both actual rates and
at local currency. The result was negatively impacted by various
factors in the course of 2008. Despite the general economic down-
turn, raw materials prices rose steadily up to the end of November
2008. The positive effects of our price increases became evident
only late in the year and could not offset the significantly higher
sales costs. Consequently, the EBITA margin also decreased to
16.4%, 0.7 percentage points lower than in 2007.

Flavor & Nutrition

Good Sales Performance

In fiscal 2008, Flavor & Nutrition including Chr. Hansen Flavors
achieved sales of € 648.1 million. Adjusted for currency effects, this
represented a 10.4% increase over the previous year (7.4% at actual
rates). Excluding Chr. Hansen Flavors, sales rose by 2.4% at actual
rates to € 617.5 million (5.0% at local currency). After the acquisition
in April, Chr. Hansen Flavors generated sales of € 30.6 million. All re-
gions and application areas boosted their sales compared to 2007.

“AND” Products Offering Added Value
Sales achieved with “AND” products increased only slightly, by
1% at local currency. This meant that sales growth of “AND” prod-

74 | Annual Report 2008 Symrise AG



ucts was significantly lower than overall growth at the division,
mainly because we lost a large Beverages account in 2008. We
successfully grew our business in natural savory products for culi-
nary use (particularly Steng products), achieving double-digit
growth of 11%.

Customer Segmentation Pays Off

The increase in sales with our top 10 customers was again in the
double digits in 2008, increasing by 11% at actual rates and keep-
ing us on our growth path with this important group of customers.
The establishment of integrated key account management with
strict assignment to customer teams on all functional levels is pay-
ing off. This leads to faster and more successful project imple-
mentation and, moreover, secures long-term growth perspectives
with these customers.

Emerging Countries Remain Growth Engine

The emerging markets of South America, Asia and Eastern Europe
including the states of the Russian Federation remain an impor-
tant growth engine for Flavor & Nutrition. Last year, we achieved
good growth of 10% at local currency in these markets. On De-
cember 31, 2008, sales in emerging markets accounted for around
42% of the division’s total sales.

Challenges in the Fourth Quarter

Sales in the fourth quarter of 2008 totaled € 148.3 million; in-
cluding Chr. Hansen Flavors, they were 9.2% higher than in the
same quarter of 2007 (8.4% at local currency). Excluding Chr.
Hansen Flavors, sales amounted to € 136.7 million, hitting the pre-
vious year’s level. Adjusted for exchange rate effects, this corre-
sponds to a slight increase of 0.2%. As mentioned in the context
of Scent & Care (see page 73), sales performance in the fourth
quarter of 2008 cannot be viewed in isolation. In November and
December, customers postponed delivery dates of orders to min-
imize working capital outlays.

Business Divided into Application Areas

In the Beverages application area our business grew by 3% in local
currency. Business with our global customers in the instant bev-
erages segment was brisk thanks to the high acceptance of our en-
capsulation technology, which offers branded manufacturers a
differentiating factor in respect to shelf-life properties and sensory
characteristics.

As a partner of sweets manufacturers, including producers of dairy
products and ice cream, we increased our expertise in vanilla
flavorings, achieving growth of 6% at local exchange rates.

Strategic acquisitions in the field of culinary applications and
snack products enabled us to ramp up growth in this segment
by 24% at local currency.

Regions

EAME

Sales in the EAME region rose by 3% at local currency. Despite the
ongoing difficult market environment in Western Europe, the pre-
vious year’s sales level was matched. Sales in the Africa, Middle
East, and east European markets grew 7% at local currency. All
areas of application contributed equally to this sales growth.

To exploit the growth potential in Austria, southeastern Europe,
and the Russian Federation intensively, we invested in the expan-
sion of our Vienna and Moscow sites. In Vienna, new offices and
laboratories were provided for the sales, development and appli-
cation technology departments. We are focusing on developing
culinary concepts for the Savory line. Consequently, new culinary
cuisine forms the core of the Austrian branch, which will develop
new product concepts together with customers. This will shorten
development times to market introduction, giving our customers a
clear competitive advantage. With state-of-the-art testing labs,
consumer research is also important at our Vienna site. The ap-
plication technology for sweets, snack products, and beverages
for Eastern Europe is also located in Vienna.

At the Moscow site, new development labs were installed for
Sweet, Savory, and Beverages, as well as a new center for sensory
and consumer research. Symrise’s sensory and consumer re-
search will enable us to meet the greater need for detailed knowl-
edge of consumers’ wishes and preferences. The center will help
us to better understand Russian consumers’ taste preferences and
to react to growing demand early on with innovative product con-
cepts. Both sites were also linked up to our global network of trend
and consumer researchers

North America

In North America, sales including Chr. Hansen Flavors rose by 42%
at local currency in 2008. Even excluding Chr. Hansen Flavors, we
achieved robust growth of 8%. Consequently, we grew consider-
ably faster than the market in an environment that had been so
difficult for us in the past. Overall, we significantly bolstered our
strategic position there, one of the main attractions of the Chr.
Hansen Flavours business Acquisition.

Integration of the Chr. Hansen division was completed according
to planin 2008, the sites being consolidated or integrated into the
Symrise group. The technologies and competencies acquired with
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the purchase, such as the fermentation of milk and cheese prod-
ucts, were strategically positioned with new partners with a view
to the future. For example, we concluded a cooperation agreement
with First Choice on the development and manufacture of fer-
mentation products. The cooperation aims at ensuring the growth
of Symrise’s portfolio in the milk and cheese product segments
and particularly at expanding the Company’s role in enzyme-mod-
ified flavors.

With a volume of about € 2 billion, the North American market still
holds out the greatest potential for Symrise. In 2008, our structural
measures, the extension of core technologies such as encapsula-
tion, the establishment of a protein laboratory, and integration of
the production site in Elyria, Ohio paved the way for future growth.
This has now placed us on an equal footing with our leading com-
petitors. In 2008, we successfully achieved our ambitious goals in
this market.

Asia/Pacific

In Asia/Pacific sales increased by 8% last year or 10% in local cur-
rency. The Sweet and Savory product segments registered high,
double-digit growth rates, particularly with international and large
regional customers. Nevertheless, we did suffer setbacks in the
region, with the melamine crisis leading to weaker growth in China,
for example.

With our “taste for life®” product platform, we offered high-quality
and innovative product solutions with added benefits. The Savory
line benefited particularly from this, achieving sales growth of 17%
at local currency. In Asia, we are on the right track and are ambi-
tiously pursuing our medium- to long-term growth strategy there.
As a supportive measure, in the fourth quarter we opened a mod-
ern pilot plant for the manufacture of microencapsulated flavors in
Singapore. Our goal is to have know-how and production capaci-
ties available in all our important markets so that we can take the
best possible advantage of the growth possibilities they offer.

South America

We continue to be successful in South America. In fiscal 2008, we
boosted our sales by 19% at local currency, and in the fourth quar-
ter by no less than 30%. Much of the sales growth was achieved in
Beverages with international brand manufacturers.

With the opening of our global citrus center in Sorocaba, Brazil,
the citrus initiative launched in the previous year is entering a new,
decisive phase. The new global competence location is situated in
the “Brazilian citrus belt,” in immediate proximity to the world’s
most important citrus fruit cultivation areas. By having direct ac-

cess to first-rate raw materials and building our own innovative
technologies, we will be able further to extend our market position
in the citrus aroma segment. To this end, in Sorocaba in 2008 the
development technology units were expanded and the encapsula-
tion technology capacities tripled. We also use our Brazilian citrus
platform for joint projects with global customers; we expect new
growth possibilities here in 2009.

Our Savory business in South America also went well, recording
30% growth at local currency. New business with sales potential in
Brazil, Argentina, and Venezuela contributed to the success.

Earnings Situation

The earnings situation for Flavor & Nutrition in fiscal 2008 was
squeezed hard by higher raw materials and energy costs. On top
of that, growth slowed, particularly in the second half of the year,
and customers postponed delivery dates for orders in November
and December to 2009 to minimize working capital outlays. Such
short-term purchase decisions have a negative effect on our prof-
itability due to the high share of fixed costs in our cost base.

As a result, in 2008, EBITA at Flavor & Nutrition fell 5% at local ex-
change rates to € 111.8 million.

The EBITA margin contracted to 17.2%, down from 19.4% in the
previous year, diluted by integration costs for Chr. Hansen Flavors.
Excluding Chr. Hansen Flavors, EBITA worked out at 18.1%.
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6. FINANCIAL POSITION

Main Financial Management Characteristics

and Objectives

The guiding principle of the Symrise group’s financial management
is adequately to secure and optimize funding requirements while
at the same time limiting financial risks. This is achieved by means
of consistent central control and continuous monitoring of bor-
rowing requirements.

With a capital ratio of 34% on December 31, 2008, Symrise has a
solid basis for future financial performance and for driving future
business sustainably.

Financing Structure

The core of the group’s funding is a solid, long-term financing
structure established parallel to Symrise’s flotation at the end of
2006. The financing banking syndicate, under the lead manage-
ment of Barclays Capital and Commerzbank AG, provided the
Group with long-term loans of € 380 million and $ 150 million and
a credit facility of more than € 300 million, of which € 158 million
and $ 165 million had been drawn as of December 31, 2008.

In December 2008, Symrise made initial scheduled payments of
€ 38 million and $ 15 million to redeem the long-term loans. Fur-
ther payments of € 72 million each are planned in December 2009
and December 2010. The long-term funding for the remaining €
300 million expires in December 2011. The credit facility also has
to be refinanced by this time.

The financing arrangement includes generally accepted market
agreements on compliance with certain key ratios (so-called
covenants). Despite taking out additional loans, the Group still has
sufficient hedroom in the leverage covenant and interest covenant
to be able to implement its corporate strategy. Symrise fulfilled all
its contractual obligations resulting from the loans in 2008.

In addition to the credit facility, the Company has a € 20 million
bilateral credit line with Commerzbank. The purpose of this credit
line was to cover short-term cash requirements.

The Symrise Group conducts cash pooling, whereby surplus lig-
uidity is concentrated in one account. Liquidity surpluses in the
cash pool are used to cover necessary internal Group financing.
If required, Symrise employs derivative instruments to limit inter-
est and currency risks.

The global financial crisis in 2008 caused the financial markets to
become increasingly jittery as the year progressed and seriously
impaired international cash flows. As a consequence of the still-
difficult situation in 2009 and the unpredictability of developments
on the financial markets going forward, we are investigating alter-
native financing possibilities. Building on our solid financing struc-
ture and our stable cash flow, we are confident that Symrise will
remain in a position to tap the capital and credit markets. Poten-
tial funding requirements further down the line could be met by
note loans, bonds, and similar instruments.

Cash Flow/Liquidity

Operating cash flow was € 153.1 million in 2008, slightly higher
than the previous year’s € 152.6 million. Details are to be found in
the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement.

Investments in intangible assets, property, plant and equipment,
and acquisitions in 2008 increased from € 42.9 million in 2007 to
a total of € 181.6 million. Particularly noteworthy are the Hansen,
Manheimer and ICF (€ 138.1 million) business acquisitions.

The cash outflow from financing activities totaled € 10.4 million
(2007: €102.7 million), resulting primarily from bank loans taken
out to finance acquisitions. Adjusted for the dividend payment to
shareholders, the cash flow was € 69.5 million. Interest payments
to banks remained virtually unchanged at € 28.8 million (2007:
€ 28.7 million).

Operating cash flow decreased in comparison to the previous year.
Against € 145.5 million in 2007, the cash available to the Group
before acquisitions and dividends in 2008 dropped by € 22.1 mil-
lion to € 123.4 million. However, at 9.3% of sales, operating cash
flow was still within our target range of 9% -10%.

For further details of operating free cash flow, kindly refer to the
following table on the next page.
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€ million 2007 2008 Short-term liabilities rose by 35.7% to € 548.0 million (2007:
EBIT before restructuring costs 195.7 193.2 € 403.8 million), of which the main component was the increase
Changes in working capital -20.3 -27.7 in the short-term borrowings amounting to € 170.9 million, used
Income taxes paid -27.3 -29.8 mainly for financing. The acquisitions were made in 2008 (see
Interest -28.7 -27.3 Note 8.13 in the Notes on the Consolidated Financial Statements).
Capital expenditure -33.5 -45.0 Non-current borrowings decreased by 16% to € 362.8 million
Depreciation and amortization 74.3 7591 (2007: € 432.0 million).
Other noncash expenses and income -14.7 -15.1
Operating Free Cash Flow 145.5 123.4 Equity increased by 0.9% to € 648.4 million, due mainly to the net
income in 2008, offset by dividend payments in 2008 totalling
€ 59.1 million.
Disbursements for acquisition of
subsidiaries, recipes and business units -8.4 -138.1
Working capital deriving from NET ASSETS
companies purchased 0.0 -5.8
Restructuring costs € thousands 2007 % 2008 %
from acquisitions -6.2 Cash and cash
Dividend payments 0.0 -59.1 equivalent 79,250 4.4 68,860 3.6
Success-based remuneration (disbursements) -46.2 =178 Trade receivables 214,478 12.0 221,686 11.7
Disbursements relating to the IPO and Inventories 239,741 13.4 258,974 13.7
repayment of liabilities deriving from warrants -17.7 Intangible assets
Change in Cash 73.2 -103.1 and property, plant
and equipment 1,144,451 63.9 1,244,677 65.8
Opening balance - net borrowings -605.1 -529.4 Other assets 113,003 6.3 96,482 5.1
Net exchange rate impacts 2.5 9.1 Total 1,790,923 1,890,679
Closing balance - net borrowings -529.4 -641.6
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
To ensure that Symrise always has the capital necessary to con- € thousands 2007 % 2008 %
sistently develop its corporate strategy, the Company is also con-  Current liabilities 403,785  22.5 548,016  29.0
sidering the use of additional financial instruments. Non current
borrowings 431,967 241 362,792 19.2
Additional information on cash flow can be found in the Consoli-  Retirement benefit
dated Financial Statements. Obligation 186,295  10.4 191,922 10.2
Deferred tax liabilities 109,404 6.1 111,792 5.9
7. NET ASSETS Other non current
Liabilities 16,759 0.9 27,762 1.5
Total assets increased by € 99.8 million compared to December  Liabilities 1,148,210  64.1 1,242,284  65.7
31, 2007. Equity 642,713  35.9 648,395 34.3
Total 1,790,923 1,890,679

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment increased to
€ 1,244.7 million (2007: € 1,144.5 million), accounting for ap-
proximately two-thirds of total assets. The main components in-
clude the goodwill acquired through business mergers amounting
to € 452.3 million (2007: € 411.9 million) as well as recipes, pro-
duction know-how and trademarks amounting to € 403.9 million
(2007: € 351.1 million).
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8. OTHER FACTORS RELEVANT TO RESULTS/
NON-FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Procurement

We use approximately 10,000 natural and synthetic raw materials
from all over the world to manufacture our products. Among the
natural raw materials are plants as well as plant and fruit extracts.
Organic chemicals are among the synthetic products we use.

When we purchase raw materials quality, availability and price are
decisive factors. To optimize our supply chain, we organize pur-
chasing centrally. Global contracts are negotiated for the most im-
portant raw materials. Approximately 50% of our raw materials
come from Europe. We buy the remainder in other parts of the
world, basing our decisions on price, quality, and production site.
Local production sites outside Europe satisfy part of their require-
ments from local raw materials markets. They also purchase
intermediate products from the main production facilities in
Germany.

Our raw materials are subject to price fluctuations, and we adopt
various approaches to minimize price risks. We have fixed con-
tracts over a maximum one-year period for a large part of our raw
materials. In addition, we use new raw materials markets, for ex-
ample India, where price and quality are offering new opportunities
to reduce our production costs and thus increase our profitability
in the long run. We also utilize new technologies, processes, and
recipes to reduce the number of raw materials used.

Raw materials prices rose constantly in 2008. In November, quo-
tations were 6% higher than a year previously. Despite a slight drop
in December, prices were still 5% higher year-on-year. We enjoyed
currency-related advantages in the first half of 2008, because
about half of our products are manufactured in the euro zone and
many raw materials were purchased during that period in the
weaker US dollar. In the second half of the year, however, this
situation reversed when the US dollar gained ground against the
euro.

In recent months many raw materials prices have eased some-
what. However, in some areas, such as the production of citral,
which is needed to manufacture fragrance compositions, the cost
situation remains tense. At this stage we do not expect average
raw materials prices to fall significantly in 2009. In our planning for
the year we are therefore penciling in further price increases,
although we do not expect them to be as steep as in 2008.

Operations/Supply Chain

The operational areas integrated into the divisions are responsi-
ble for production and the supply chain. The purpose of integrat-
ing operations into the divisions is to achieve closer customer
proximity and to maximize the responsible business units’ scope
for action. With our innovative Symchronize™ approach, we closely
cooperate with individual customers to realize new potential in the
value chain for both our customers and ourselves. Symchronize
seeks to optimize the supply chain by taking an integrated view of
the entire value chain, from raw material procurement to suc-
cessful delivery of the end product. Total Productive Maintenance
(TPM) forms part of Symchronize. TPM ensures continuous control
of the results achieved by measuring and comparing perform-
ances. A scorecard system records performance in all relevant
areas each month. The aim is to increase productivity continuously
and measurably by quickly recognizing and remedying problems.

Symrise operates production facilities at numerous sites world-
wide. The largest capacities are in Germany at our Holzminden,
Nordlingen, and Braunschweig sites, as well as in Teterboro (USA).
Holzminden and Teterboro also have major chemical production
plants available. Additionally, the Group maintains large produc-
tion facilities in Singapore, Chennai (India), Shanghai (China),
Cuautitlan Izcalli (Mexico) and Sao Paulo (Brazil). The other sites
are focused on sales activities and have either relatively small
mixed operations or no production facilities at all. As of December
31, 2008, Symrise employed more than 2,100 manufacturing and
technology staff worldwide.

The main focus of operations was successful integration of the
companies we acquired in 2008 in the US. The Flavor & Nutrition
division acquired Chr. Hansen Flavors. In July, Chr. Hansen’s pro-
duction facilities in Mahwah (New Jersey) were integrated into our
production operations in Teterboro (New Jersey). In August, we in-
troduced SAP at the site acquired in Elyria (Ohio). This factory is
now fully operative and linked to the Symrise production facilities.
The integration of Chr. Hansen’s sites was completed by the end
of the year, as scheduled.

Scent & Care acquired Intercontinental Fragrances (Houston,
Texas) in September and Manheimer Fragrances (Teterboro, New
Jersey) in November. Intercontinental Fragrances’ site in Texas is
being integrated into our operations network. The acquisition of
Manheimer Fragrances did not involve any property, plant and
equipment. We acquired recipes and know-how, which are being
transferred to our Scent & Care division sites in the US.
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Employees

In order to meet market demands and customer requirements, our
company must continue to evolve steadily. It is committed to al-
lowing its employees to participate in this growth and to involving
them in the development of the organization. For their part, the
employees, who form the vital core of Symrise, are required
actively to shape the development process and the company’s suc-
cess. Our HR strategy is characterized by this principle of reci-
procity. The company is responsible for its employees - and each
employee in turn bears responsibility for the success of the com-
pany. A key factor in joint success is systematic talent manage-
ment. The Symrise Academy with its sub-sections Perfumers’
Academy, Leadership Academy and Flavor Academy plays a major
part in this success.

The Perfumers’ Academy

The Symrise Perfumers’ Academy is setting new standards in basic
and advanced training for perfumers, evaluators and members of
the sales team. It provides a forum and a global framework for ob-
taining qualifications, exchanging ideas and information and gain-
ing inspiration. The Academy encompasses the Perfumery School
for the initial training of perfumers and offers graduate and post-
graduate programs for further on-the-job training. Our Scent Ex-
peditions provide a creative program for experienced senior
perfumers.

Two perfumer trainees successfully completed their perfumery
training in 2008, achieving the qualification Junior Perfumer. Three
further trainees will complete their training in April 2009.

REGIONS As part of the Graduate and Postgraduate Program, various
Dec. 31, @ Dec. 31, workshops and seminars were held on the topics “Financial Skills
Number 2007 2008 for Perfumers” and “Fundamentals of Chemistry”. The topics “Pre-
Germany 2,253 2,234 sentation Techniques for Perfumers” and “Coaching and Mentor-
Europe (excluding Germany), 652 636 ing Skills” are currently in preparation.
the Middle East, Africa
North America (including Mexico) 779 982 Seven Senior Perfumers from all parts of the world were the
South America 397 400 first participants on the Scent Expedition through India. It took the
Asia 845 845 specialists to regions where flowers and spices are cultivated and
Total (not including trainees and apprentices) 4,926 5,097 brought them into close contact with the culture and people of the
Trainees 120 122 country. Shortly afterwards, four perfumers who had been inspired
Total Symrise Group 5,046 5,219 by the trip to India won projects in the areas Fine Fragrance, Body
Wash, Laundry und Soap.
The Leadership Academy
The Leadership Academy is a tailor-made development program
for Symrise executives. The focus here is on communication and
sales techniques, management skills (the Leadership Toolbox),
coaching and train-the-trainer measures.
FUNCTIONS DECEMBER 31, 2007 FUNCTIONS DECEMBER 31, 2008
Symrise Service Symrise Symrise Service Symrise
Number Companies Group Number Companies Group
Manufacturing and technology 1,900 208 2,108 Manufacturing and technology 1,982 201 2,183
Sales and marketing 1,390 107 1,497 Sales and marketing 1,420 110 1,530
Research and development 901 6 907 Research and development 964 5 969
Administration 409 5 414 Administration 409 6 415
Total (not including trai- Total (not including trai-
nees and apprentices) 4,600 326 4,926 nees and apprentices) 4,775 322 5,097
Trainees 107 13 120 Trainees 106 16 122
Total Symrise Group 4,707 339 5,046 Total Symrise Group 4,881 338 5,219
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High Performance Sales Training, comprising seven progres-
sive modules, equips participants for successful selling at an in-
ternational level. In the basic workshops, all the phases of a sale
are dealt with, while the advanced program includes modules on
strategic thinking, sales psychology and a special English training
course. In 2008, the program was also introduced in Asia for the
first time.

The Leadership Toolbox takes a deeper look at topical issues in
industry and in corporate practice. In March 2008, 20 top execu-
tives from Symrise, supported by the St. Gallen Management
School, met to establish the fundamentals of Symrise’s future ac-
quisitions strategy.

Furthermore, a Mentoring Program was launched for the first
time in 2008 to give young, up-and-coming managers an opportu-
nity to benefit from the experience and expertise of senior man-
agement at Symrise

The Flavor Academy

Very few companies in the flavor and fragrance industry provide
training to become a flavorist - and Symrise is one of them. The
Flavor Academy enables international participants with highly de-
veloped sensory skills to qualify as flavorists or as product and ap-
plication development technologists.

In a two-year program, the Symrise Academy prepares trainees for
the creative vocation of flavorist. To qualify as a Junior Flavorist,
trainees must undergo basic training in raw materials, analytics
and application technology and then complete a practical phase
and a stint abroad. After that, they must develop a flavoring com-
position and pass a theory examination. Seven up-and-coming cre-
atives successfully completed their training in 2008.

Young food and beverage technologists as well as brewers and dis-
tillers can take the two-year program to qualify as Product and
Application Development Technologists for beverages. Be-
sides imparting knowledge on raw materials and product devel-
opment, the program includes on-the-job training as well as
lectures and excursions. To qualify as a Junior Beverage Develop-
ment Technologist, participants must create a beverage composi-
tion and pass a final examination. The first participants qualified in
2008, and others will follow in the spring of 2009.

Sustainability

For Symrise, sustainability is an essential commitment. There are
many reasons for this. It is a commitment towards our customers,
who demand a sustainable supply chain in order to meet consumer

needs. It is also a means of giving back something to the commu-
nity of which our company is a part and without which it could not
operate. It is a dynamic, global project forming an integral part of
all operations. And on top of that, it is a key means of securing our
business success - and hence the future of our company and its
employees.

Audits and guidelines

Sustainability cannot be determined on the basis of performance
in an isolated area. Rather, it is the product of many individual fac-
tors, such as energy consumption, CO2 emissions and water con-
sumption. On the basis of these factors, sustainability in our
company is measurable. Initiatives to standardize and evaluate
sustainability based on the Global Reporting Initiative™ are also a
benchmark for Symrise, enabling it to gauge its environmental
commitment. In order to gain detailed final results, we commis-
sioned a comprehensive sustainability study for our largest loca-
tions in EAME, North America, Asia-Pacific, Mexico and Brazil. It
sheds light on the areas in which we maintain or exceed our stan-
dards and indicates where shortcomings exist and improvements
are necessary. We present the results of such audits and our ac-
tivities annually in a separate CSR report.

In order to guarantee sustainability in the supply chain, we con-
duct regular supplier audits. These enable us to identify external
processes that no longer meet international standards. In 2008,
the corrective action undertaken by Symrise resulted, for exam-
ple, in a supplier in China building a brand-new, state-of-the-art
production facility to meet our requirements.
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CERTIFICATION FOR QUALITY, ENVIRONMENT
AND SAFETY AT SYMRISE

» DIN EN ISO 9001

» DIN EN ISO 14001

» American Institute of Baking (AIB)

) International Food Standard (IFS), higher Level
British Retail Consortium (BRC), higher Level
EFSIS ,A“ Level

Good manufacturing Practice (GmP)

Hazard Analysis of Critical Control Points (HACCP)
Socially Responsible Investment (SRI)

~

~

~

~

~

%

Sustainability in the divisions

At Symrise, sustainability is an engine that drives the company for-
ward - from research through to product development and from
management to production. The concept is also gaining ground in
the Scent & Care and Flavor & Nutrition divisions. In both those di-
visions, we guarantee the highest standards, thanks to extensive,
systematic regulations such as a strict food safety policy. Our sus-
tainability strategy encompasses the entire product life cycle. Raw
materials should originate from renewable resources - also with re-
gard to balancing CO, emissions. In production, we adhere to
green chemistry guidelines: We totally restrict the use of solvents,
and we are replacing halogenated solvents and renouncing the use
of toxic products. We also make sure that our products are free of
allergens and that they yield a high degree of effectiveness with the
smallest possible volume. And in terms of waste disposal, we strive
for biological degradability - in other words, decomposition with
the aid of oxygen and bacteria in order to render substances harm-
less. Maintaining safety standards for our employees is a matter
of course.

Raw materials

Sustainability plays an increasingly important role in the manu-
facture, purchasing and handling of raw materials. The Global Cit-
rus Center in Brazil, which was opened in 2008, is located in the
immediate vicinity of areas where citrus fruits are cultivated - a
deliberate choice intended to make the value chain considerably
more environmentally compatible. We obtain most of our alpha-
bisabolol from renewable sources certified as organic. Symrise
was one of the first companies to take this step. In the case of
alpha-bisabolol, an on-the-spot audit performed in 2008 by Eco-
pass certified sustainability, starting with the candeia tree, which

is cultivated in the Brazilian rainforest, through to its processing at
Symrise. We obtain palm oil from members of the Roundtable on
Sustainable Palm Oil (RSPO), suppliers for whom safety, health and
environment (SHE) aspects are part of their standard code of prac-
tice. Last year we had our key strategic products scrutinized for
their sustainability (see 2007 CSR Report).

For detailed information on sustainability and to download a copy
of our current CSR report please visit our website:

WWW.Symrise.com/en/our.company/corporate-social-responsibility

Technology

Innovative technologies play an increasingly important role in Sym-
rise’s efforts to achieve sustainability. One example is SymTrap®,
a process developed by the company for reclaiming top-quality
aroma substances that are normally lost during fruit or vegetable
processing. SymTrap® exploits raw materials more thoroughly than
has been possible up to now, without any substantial increase in
energy consumption. This not only improves the company’s sus-
tainability performance but also the quality of the end product. As
another example illustrates, combining high tech and natural re-
sources can improve quality: A high-tech plant in Brazil identifies
conventionally grown fruits that contain residues and separates
them out before production. The thermal reactors with which we
ensure environmentally friendly production in Germany and, more
recently, also in Brazil similarly rely on state-of-the-art technology.

Social commitment

A healthier diet and a reduction in child obesity are two of the key
goals of Symrise’s CSR activities. With our “Snack Garden”, we
put our claims of social and ethical responsibility to the test in an
exemplary fashion. This project is down-to-earth, run on demo-
cratic lines and future-oriented. The “Snack Garden” - a plot of
land covering 8,000 sq. meters with a meadow, fruit trees and its
own stream - gives children aged three to twelve the opportunity
to design and set up a real garden. Here, they can sow seeds, put
in plants and harvest and eat the produce - and be introduced to
a healthy and natural diet in a playful environment. In 2008, the
German federal government awarded a prize to the “Snack
Garden” as part of its creative initiative “Germany - Land of Ideas”.

In Singapore, we received the “Singapore Health Award” in recog-
nition of our outstanding activities to promote the health and well-
being of our employees. In China, Symrise is helping to fund the
construction of a new school in the province of Szechuan, which
was hit by an earthquake in 2008. Further social activities also
coordinated by our companies in the individual countries include
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active health promotion programs and measures to raise
awareness of AIDS.

Compliance

Our integrated Compliance Management System reconciles legal and
ethical aspects and regulations, thereby creating the guiding principles
for our business activities. These activities are founded on our con-
viction that adherence to basic rules is an indispensable and non-
negotiable component of our corporate identity. Only a clear and
transparent framework of permitted and non-permitted activities can
guarantee continuity and our long-term financial success. For all our
employees worldwide the following holds true: “Business that cannot
be brought into harmony with our basic rules is no business for Symrise.”

Organization and tools

In order to prevent any conflicts of interests, it is mandatory for
every employee at our company to keep work life and home life
separate. Integrity towards the company and the responsible han-
dling of inside information are clearly defined in the Executive
Board’s guidelines. In 2008, a Compliance Officer was appointed
to coordinate all our compliance activities. The Compliance Office
falls under the direct remit of the Chairman of the Executive Board,
thereby guaranteeing its independence and authority. The Com-
pliance Officer reports regularly to the Audit Committee of the
Supervisory Board at each of its meetings.

In 2008, the Compliance Office implemented two new tools in order
to ensure that the same high ethical and legal standards apply
throughout the Symrise world.

» All employees are obliged to report any breach of the Compliance
Program immediately. In order to clarify compliance issues or if there
are any questionable matters in their working environment, all em-
ployees have been able since summer 2008 to reach the Compli-
ance Office via a toll-free phone service set up in every country. An
intermediary service provider ensures that employees can voice
their concerns anonymously and in their native language. Contact-
ing the service provider directly also enables anonymous commu-
nication between the Compliance Office and the employee in
question. Every employee can, of course, also contact the Compli-
ance Office by email or in person.

~

Following successful tests in 2008, we can also offer all employees
education on various compliance topics in the form of Internet- or
screen-based training, starting in the spring of 2009. This will enable
us to reach more employees in a shorter time and will, moreover,
give every employee greater flexibility as regards the timing of the
training. The Compliance Office also offers face-to-face training.

In 2009, we aim to step up our compliance management efforts. In the
process, we will always place special emphasis on the integrity of our
daily activities and promote the corresponding mindset among our
employees.

Benchmarks and environmental indicators

In 2008, we again managed to exceed our Key Performance Indica-
tors. Year-on-year, we further significantly reduced all the environ-
mental events that we are obliged to report in the four regions (EAME,
NA, LATAM, APAC). Despite the increase in sales volume, we sub-
stantially lowered our greenhouse gas emissions. By implementing
targeted technical measures, accompanied by investments, we were
able once again to considerably reduce complaints about odors - in
fact, by more than 30 percent at our largest location in Holzminden.
Details are available in the annual CSR Report.

Symrise has also developed its own climate protection concept and
has reduced its energy consumption and related CO2 emissions in
line with globally agreed environmental protection standards and the
targets additionally defined by the company. We have therefore con-
siderably lowered the proportion of direct and indirect greenhouse
gases in accordance with the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocol based
on the year 2005. Individual programs within the supply chain sup-
port these aims, as do Research and Development and IT.

We attach the highest priority to the safety and environmental com-
patibility of our products. For years we have therefore been support-
ing the goals of the REACH EU chemicals policy and - thanks to
targeted measures - we guarantee the safety of our employees within
the supply chain and the safety of our staff.

Symrise remains listed in various green funds (see 2007 CSR Report)
and is thus rated by independent fund managers as a sustainable com-
pany. Since 2006, Symrise has been a member of the Carbon Dis-
closure Project (CDP) Investor Group and for the third time in
succession is thus supporting the basic climate protection demands.
We have received feedback showing that our latest, specific Supply
Chain Leadership Collaboration (CDP-SCLC) activities were success-
ful in terms of climate protection.

9. RISK MANAGEMENT

Global operations are always shaped by risks and opportunities.
Understanding and managing those risks and opportunities effec-
tively is seen as a regular, ongoing management responsibility for
Symrise’s sustainable business development.
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Risk Management System

Our risk management system aims to recognize in good time and
successfully mitigate all potential risks that could endanger the
achievement of our planned results or the continuity of our com-
pany. In this way, our system enables us to identify risks promptly,
to assess them and to put in place suitable countermeasures.

Whenever economically reasonable and possible, we have pur-
chased insurance to minimize the financial impact of some risks if
they occur. Compared to previous years, our risk awareness and
risk profile now also cover implications of the current economic
and financial crisis.

Risk management is integrated into all our business processes.
Planning, controlling and reporting mechanisms are fundamental
parts of our early risk identification system. Workflows and guide-
lines ensure that management considers risks in decision making
processes right at the beginning. Employees who are responsible
for processes and hence their own risk remits participate regularly
in workshops in order to exchange knowledge and experience on
risk recognition and mitigation and to support each other in im-
plementing best practices.

Symrise has a risk reporting policy for the Group that allows the Ex-
ecutive Board to have a current picture of the company’s overall risk
situation. The policy enforces the written reporting of single risks
twice a year. It additionally demands the immediate notification of
relevant risks independently of the scheduled reporting dates.

This systematic approach to risk identification allows us, period
after period, to make sure old risks (having been addressed by
appropriate measures) no longer exist or their impact has signifi-
cantly decreased. The policy and reporting formats have now been
further developed in order to dovetail with the current business
structure. Advancement of policy, system and procedures will be
an ongoing process in future, too.

All single risk reports collected are validated, if applicable, grouped
and then discussed with the Executive Board, who decide on any
additional action necessary. The results of the above mentioned re-
porting process and the early risk identification system are also
presented to the Audit Committee.

Internal audit reviews the effectiveness of and adherence to internal
controls and established policies as well as the efficacy of the com-
pany’s risk reporting system. In this way Symrise conforms to the re-
quirements of Sec. 91 (2) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG)
and is committed to continually fulfilling its obligations in the future.

In order to comply with future legal requirements such as the ef-
fects of the upcoming accounting legislation update (BilMoG) to
the German Commercial Code (HGB) and the German Stock Cor-
poration Act (AktG), we have launched a new initiative. This proj-
ect includes Finance, Controlling, Legal and Internal Auditing and
aims at integrating risk management with a group-wide internal
control system.

The following information relates to the reported risks for the 2009
planning period.

Strategy, Market and Product Risks

The ongoing consolidation of companies in the consumer goods in-
dustry poses a challenge of concentrated buying power. This con-
solidation process offers us the opportunity to gain market share
from our competitors, but it can also result in business being lost.
Symrise addresses this competitive pressure by exploiting its
strengths and actively offering value added options.

There are consolidation efforts in our industry, too. The integra-
tion of new business fields and affiliates might be attended by in-
complete or delayed transfer of knowledge and facilities, resulting
in business interruptions. Risk mitigation has been achieved by as-
signing direct ownership to management staff in order to ensure
continuity of business and operations.

To guarantee profitable margins for some products manufactured
in Europe and sold in weak currency countries, Symrise negoti-
ates its prices in euros. While this addresses the currency risk,
some customers may ask for price reductions, and the risk of los-
ing business to a competitor cannot be disregarded. Alternatives
are being developed to counter this risk. These include manufac-
turing in the same currency zone as well as developing business
models that allow Symrise to protect existing business in a strong
euro environment,

Since most of our products are used by our customers in
merchandise that end consumers apply to their skin or ingest, risks
associated with their effects on human health cannot be
excluded. Internal safety mechanisms, modern analysis proce-
dures, constant update of knowledge through scientific publica-
tions and extensive quality controls at international standards are
applied daily in our worldwide facilities to counter this risk. Based
on our proven commitment to risk minimization, we are also able
to purchase insurance to further mitigate the financial conse-
quences in the event any case claims arise.
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Customer complaints about product quality are always possible.
We prepare for such risks by applying strict quality control meas-
ures as well as through insurance policies.

Symrise is always exposed to issues if customers change their
technology of integrating our products into further operations.
This issue is countered by increased efforts to merchandise cur-
rent products in different markets and by highlighting the advan-
tages of current products.

Political events might result in trade embargos to relevant export
countries and therefore interrupt our product deliveries. At the
same time, payments of outstanding debts could be stopped due
to bank boycotts. We counter this risk by maintaining a constant di-
alogue with customers and banks, closely observing the develop-
ment of political events and continuously optimizing our working
capital. Besides this, the current financial crisis in export countries
may also lead to payment interruption. Here we improve financial
control and adjust payment procedures wherever possible.

In the current critical financial environment there is also the
risk that customers may reduce their inventory levels in order to
optimize their working capital. Depending on the extent and dura-
tion of this destocking, it can have a significant impact on the en-
tire supply chain. A prolonged recession in the global economy
can also influence the type of products that customers order. This
in turn can impact the growth of the F&F market. Nevertheless,
we feel that we are able to adapt quickly and successfully to such
changes.

Operational and IT Risks

Production continuity at some of our manufacturing facilities could
be adversely affected in the event of technical failure. Regular
tests, maintenance programs, modernization and targeted invest-
ments are designed to counter this risk.

Also, stricter country-specific environmental regulations may
challenge our ability to comply with the law at all times and result
in fines or even shutdowns of our local facilities. Similarly, risks re-
lated to the storage and handling of raw materials and products
may cause damage to assets (e.g. fire) or even personal injuries.
Equipment to improve safety or environmental conditions is regu-
larly evaluated and upgraded when necessary. Site security
workshops, comprehensive guidelines, supporting systems, man-
agement reports and audits contribute to the management and
mitigation of these risks.

Moreover, Symrise aims not only to adhere to regulations but also
proactively takes care of matters that could negatively impact its
neighbors (e.g. noise, odor). Symrise’s regulatory team closely fol-
lows the latest regulations and makes sure compliance is main-
tained. For example, some time ago the company dedicated
resources and rolled out several projects to coordinate activities
required to comply with the European REACH regulation (Regis-
tration, Evaluation and Authorization of Chemicals).

The integration of new businesses and affiliates into the Sym-
rise world also gives rise to supply chain and production issues.
Business acquisitions, supported by toll manufacturing as an in-
terim solution, will be followed by issues of material and formula
harmonization. The integration of new operations into the existing
setup of facilities might lead to interruptions because of production
transfer and to breakdowns as a result of over-utilization.

These risks are mitigated by Total Productive Maintenance (TPM)
measures, contingency plans and possible fall-backs, the exchange
of best practices, and ongoing operational improvements.

Symrise uses different telecommunications and IT systems to run
its business.

In addition to technical precautions already in place, security en-
hancements and system updates are constantly being imple-
mented to counter potential risks that could disrupt their
functioning or stability. A common IT system is currently being
rolled out, and outdated communication technology will soon be
replaced. The IT services are supplied by an external party that
has significant resources and the global expertise to manage any
potential crisis.

Procurement Risks

Procurement is an essential activity at Symrise. In its daily busi-
ness, the company deals with a complex and very large portfolio
of raw materials, both natural and of petrochemical origin. On the
one hand, it seeks quality and reliability; on the other, it seeks low
prices. This constellation involves several risks, which are de-
scribed in more detail below.

Unexpected increases in energy and petrochemical commodities
prices that could negatively impact the costs of goods are miti-
gated by means of dynamic and intelligent sourcing strategies.
Market or weather conditions may result in highly volatile prices for
some important raw materials and can also have a negative im-
pact on their quality and availability. Besides negotiating long-term
global contracts and having alternative suppliers whenever feasi-
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ble, Symrise is continuously working to extend its international
supplier base, including supplies from Asian markets. The risks
that may occur in this context are described below.

At the same time, stricter legislation requirements may endanger
the sustainability of some vendors and narrow Symrise’s list of raw
material suppliers, forcing changes in sourcing activities and neg-
atively impacting the costs of goods. In addition to actively moni-
toring the best sourcing opportunities, in particular cases Symrise
takes advantage of its expert knowledge to develop technical so-
lutions to find answers to the newest challenges in line with the
company’s objectives. In some cases solutions are developed in
cooperation with key suppliers.

Some raw materials, purchased in US dollar-related countries and
used in products sold in euro regions, might expose Symrise to a
currency risk if the US dollar were to gain in value.

To manage availability and the resulting price increase issues,
whenever possible we pass along those costs to the customer or
work with the research and development team to find more cost-
effective substitutes.

The current economic and financial crisis basically also threatens
our suppliers’ business continuity. There is a risk to us of not re-
ceiving deliveries, followed by cost issues in the event of multi-
sourcing and by potential business interruptions in the case of
single-sourcing. In order to mitigate these risks, credit rating is
now regularly included in the vendor selection procedure, similarly
in the credit assessment of customers. Furthermore, efforts to
find alternative vendors are being stepped up.

Moreover, for key raw materials we have completed acquisitions
that guarantee access to our own sources. Nevertheless, it is also
important to point out that in general and due to the broad raw
material spectrum procurement risks in our business are rather
leveraged.

Financial Risks

Symrise has exposure to the following issues in connection with
the use of its financial instruments:

» credit risks

) liquidity risks

) currency and interest risks

Credit risks

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer
or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contrac-
tual obligations. This type of risk arises principally from Symrise’s
receivables from customers and investment securities.

Symrise’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the indi-
vidual characteristics of each customer. In 2008, the Executive
Board established a credit policy under which each new customer
is analyzed individually for its creditworthiness before the Group’s
standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered.
The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that repre-
sents its estimate of losses incurred in respect of trade and other
receivables. The main components of this allowance are a specific
loss component that relates to individually significant exposures
and a collective loss component established for groups of similar
assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but not yet in-
dividually identified.

Liquidity risks

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its
financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach to man-
aging liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both
normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable
losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

In the current economic environment companies face the possi-
bility of declining earnings. Lower earnings can lead to an increase
in net debt. In a worst-case scenario this could negatively impact
our ability to meet credit obligations as well as our ability to re-
main within established covenant agreements with respect to our
equity/debt ratio. To counter this risk we carefully monitor our per-
formance and have developed appropriate contingency plans.
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The following table shows when our liabilities, as of
December 31,2008, fall due:

LIABILITIES

€ thousands Total 2009 2010 2011
Trade payable 82,170 82,170 0 0
Borrowings 710,438 347,646* 72,000 290,792
Other liabilities 95,254 67,586 27,668 0
Sum 887,862 497,402 99,668 290,792

*€ 274.5 million thereof remain available until the end of credit term on December
13,2011.

Currency and interest risks

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as for-
eign exchange rates and interest rates, will negatively affect the
Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instru-
ments.

Symrise monitors the associated risks using “natural hedging” by
manufacturing most of the products in the areas where they are
sold. We also use cash flow and hedging instruments as forward
exchange contracts to help offset the potential currency risk.

Rising interest rates could increase our debt exposure. Fluctua-
tions are largely hedged through interest rate swaps. Considering
the robust debt-equity ratio and substantial free cash flow, even a
significant rise in the interest rate would not constitute a serious
risk to the company.

The Group adopts a policy of ensuring that 80% of its exposure to
changes in interest rates on borrowings is placed on a fixed-rate
basis. This is achieved by entering into interest rate swaps.

Legal and Tax Risks

Symrise, as a global company with significant structural changes
in the recent past, is exposed to various tax assessment risks.
There are a number of tax issues outstanding that could poten-
tially lead to material additional tax liabilities.

Due to the accurate settlement of running tax audits and success-
ful negotiation with the authorities, the total amount of tax risks has
been reduced considerably compared to previous years. Where we
consider these risks likely, we make provision for them. Where we
consider the risk to be more remote, we make no provision.

To a minor extent, the company is also exposed to ordinary legal

risks related to environmental matters, former or current employee
claims, product liability or intellectual property issues. To counter
risks of this nature, we base our actions on careful analysis, sup-
ported by the comprehensive legal advice provided by our own
lawyers and accredited external specialists. However, the outcome
of current or future proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty.

Symrise affiliates are currently involved in very few lawsuits world-
wide. We do not expect these individual legal proceedings to have
any material impact, as our affiliates always transfer legal issues to
our own lawyers who then act on their behalf.

Overall Risk Situation

Taking into account all the circumstances of which we are aware,
there is no company- or industry-specific risk that could pose a
threat to the continued existence of the Symrise Group. In view of
our latest push towards the further development of risk manage-
ment at Symrise, we are confident of being able to meet future re-
quirements as well.

10. SUBSEQUENT REPORT
No events subject to reporting occurred after the reporting period.

General statement on the economic

situation of the Symrise Group

Symrise is globally active in a sector that can be considered robust
in comparison to other industries and that is less affected by fluc-
tuations in the business cycle. Aimost 90% of our products help
satisfy basic needs; the rest belong to luxury segments (such as
Fine Fragrances) that are more subject to fluctuation. Excluding
acquisitions, our sales rose by 3.5% in 2008, adjusted for currency
effects, despite the financial and economic crisis. We therefore
grew by only 1.5% less than we originally forecast at the beginning
of the year under much better conditions. As a result, we consider
this year’s performance to be strong; it reconfirms our corporate
strategy and our position as one of the leading companies in our
sector. With a market share of some 10%, we are one of the top
four in the F:& F industry. The strategic strengths that have played
the largest role in increasing our competitiveness are:

» Focusing on segments with the greatest growth potential

» Ensuring our position on the core lists of major multinational
customers

» Ensuring our position among regional and local customers in
rapidly growing emerging markets
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As part of our strategy, we pursued acquisitions in 2008 that sig-
nificantly improved the positions of both divisions in the key US
market.

At the beginning of March we announced the acquisition of the
flavor business of Denmark-based Chr. Hansen, which was suc-
cessfully concluded on April 25, 2008. The purchase price of the
company, which posted sales in 2007 of $ 70 million (€ 51 mil-
lion), was $ 110 million (€ 72 million). The flavor business acquired
from Chr. Hansen includes the areas of Seasonings, Sweet Fla-
vors, Savory Flavors and Dairy Flavors. The purchase provided us
with additional production capacity and new technologies, which
have increased our competitiveness in the North American market.
In addition, we were able to expand our marketing organization
and gained access to a new customer base that makes an excel-
lent addition to Symrise’s existing business.

In the Scent & Care division, we announced the acquisition of In-
tercontinental Fragrances at the end of September, which had
been successfully concluded on September 3, 2008. On Novem-
ber 6, 2008, we also successfully completed the acquisition of
Manheimer Fragrances. Symrise paid a total of $ 92 million (€ 65
million) for both transactions. In 2007, Intercontinental Fragrances
had sales of $ 16 million (€ 12 million), with Manheimer Fra-
grances registering sales of $ 33 million (€ 25 million).

With these acquisitions, Symrise became one of the leading scent
providers for air care products in the US. The North American mar-
ket for air care products accounts for over $ 300 million in sales
and thus makes up 10% of the total fragrance market in the US. In
addition, Symrise acquired a number of attractive new customers
and will take advantage of the newly won expertise to secure its
position in the global air care market. For example, we are planning
to open a global air care center in the US in 2009.

Our sales were negatively impacted by various factors over the
course of 2008: the financial and economic crisis, which wors-
ened in the second half of the year; changes in the ordering habits
of many customers; and high prices for raw materials, which re-
mained elevated throughout the year.

The financial and economic crisis led to a recession in established
markets and to a slowdown in growth in emerging markets.
Although these developments had a negative impact on the entire
F&F market, they did not fundamentally alter the industry’s basic ro-
bustness. They did, however, directly influence the ordering habits
of our customers in the second half of the year. In order to maximize
cash flow at the end of the year and to minimize working capital,

customers tried to reduce inventories in November and December
and to delay orders planned for 2008 until after the new year. This
led to a temporary, atypical gap between demand and orders, which
slowed our sales growth in the second half of the year. Excluding ac-
quisitions, our currency-adjusted sales growth fell from 5.2% in the
first half of the year to 1.6% in the second half.

Despite the general economic downturn, prices for raw materials
rose continually in 2008. As the increases began to slow in De-
cember, prices were still more than 5% higher, on average, than in
December 2007. High prices for raw materials led to higher sales-
related costs over the entire year and had a direct, negative impact
on our profit margins. Given the economic crisis, putting our price
increases into place was more difficult than expected. They only
had a positive effect later in the year and were not able to make
up for the increase in sales-related costs. Against this background,
our EBITA fell in the second half of the year by 15%, at local cur-
rency. For the entire year, EBITA fell 5% year-on-year at local cur-
rency. Despite the negative impacts, our EBITA margin remained at
the high level of 16.8% for the entire year.

11. OUTLOOK AND OPPORTUNITIES ASSESSMENT

Underlying conditions and future

development of the Symrise Group

At the start of 2009, the world economy is characterized by several
negative factors: volatile stock and financial markets, fluctuations
in currencies and the price of raw materials, a shortage of liquidity
and a negative consumer climate worldwide. Markets in the emerg-
ing countries - the strategic growth drivers in our business - look
set to grow faster in 2009 than the established markets, albeit not
as rapidly as in recent years. Against this background, we anticipate
that the global F&F market will not grow in 2009.

Despite the unfavorable business environment, we consider our
core business to be as stable and robust as before. We see our
relatively good results in 2008, which was a difficult year, as con-
firmation of our strategy. And we view the economic crisis as an
incentive to further fine-tune and pursue our strategy. Various
different factors have paved the way for a further increase in our
competitiveness:

» the focus on segments with the best growth prospects
» market-driven research worldwide

) an innovative product portfolio, almost 90% of which is
based on satisfying basic needs
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) our position on the core lists of large multinational customers

) our position vis-a-vis regional and local customers in the more
dynamic emerging markets

In 2009 we therefore expect to outpace market growth. Under the
present conditions, we anticipate currency-adjusted growth of be-
tween 5% and 7%, including the acquisitions made in 2008 (1% to
3% without these acquisitions).

With regard to certain raw materials, we expect price increases to
slow down in the course of the year. In the case of raw materials
in short supply worldwide, we expect demand to keep prices sta-
ble or push them up. At the beginning of 2009, we had enough
raw materials and finished goods in stock to meet our require-
ments for five to six months. These raw materials were bought at
prices that were significantly higher than those at the beginning of
2008, and this will be reflected in cost of sales in the first half of
2009. Any possible decline in the cost of raw materials will only
materially affect our results in the second half-year. However, the
effect of the price increases introduced in the fourth quarter of
2008 and of those that will take effect in 2009 will have an impact
on the first-half results.

We will steadily pursue the initiatives we introduced in 2008 to
continually optimize our results. Our policy of cash optimization,
cost reduction and price management, portfolio optimization plus
our focus on innovative products and technologies will ensure that
we are well prepared for crises. We will respond to external factors
that impede our ability to plan by introducing measures that we
ourselves can plan. In 2009 we will continue to actively review fur-
ther consolidation opportunities.

Compared with the strong first half in 2008, we expect the first half
of 2009 will be weaker. Nevertheless we expect sales for the entire
year 2009 to grow at least as fast as the market. Due to the volatil-
ity in the current economic environment, precise statements about
profitability and the EBITA margin are not possible at this time.

Assuming that the price of raw materials remains at a high level
while our revenue growth slows down, we do not anticipate any
substantial increase in working capital. As a result of tax loss carry
forwards in numerous regions and thus lower tax payments, we
expect a positive influence on our cash flow. For 2009 as a whole
we expect strong cash flow.

Our liquidity situation is good and our credit facilities are secure
until 2011. Financially, we are in a position to fully implement our
corporate strategy. We do not foresee any difficulties amortizing on
schedule any debts that are due for repayment.

Itis too early to say whether the planned measures to stimulate the
economy and to normalize the financial and global markets will
have the desired success. We can therefore only make a forecast
for 2010 with certain reservations. We assume the measures
planned to stimulate the economy to take effect in the second half-
year at the earliest. On that premise, we anticipate that the F&F
market will benefit from the recovery of the global economy. We
therefore consider growth of between 1% and 3% possible in 2010.
Based on our growth strategy, our portfolio and our good posi-
tioning in all the key global markets, we assume that Symrise will
also outpace market growth in 2010. For Symrise we think that
growth of 3% - 5% is possible in 2010 at local currency. We also
expect to see a corresponding improvement in our margin and our
operating result.

During economic downturns, people do not cut out their basic
needs but they are particularly open to new ways of satisfying
them. If we succeed in satisfying these basic needs faster and
more creatively and with improved margins, we will not only en-
counter problems in the crisis period but also discover new op-
portunities.

12. REMUNERATION OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD

Remuneration Structure

Members of the Executive Board are remunerated in line with Sec.
87 of the Stock Corporation Act, pursuant to which the Supervi-
sory Board sets the remuneration. Remuneration is comprised of
fixed and variable components as well as fringe benefits. The ap-
propriateness of the remuneration depends upon the responsibil-
ities and the personal contribution of the individual Executive
Board member as well as upon the economic situation and market
environment of the Company as a whole.

All Executive Board members receive their fixed remuneration paid
as a salary in equal monthly payments. The variable component
of the total remuneration in 2008 comprised an annual bonus
based on the achievement of Company targets. To determine the
remuneration payment, the EBIT for the Symrise Group was used
as a key performance indicator for the Group and its divisions, in
accordance with the business plan, as were medium-term strate-
gic targets and qualitative evaluation criteria. The targets upon
which the variable portion of total remuneration is based were
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EXECUTIVE BOARD REMUNERATION FOR SYMRISE AG IN 2008

Salary Remu- Variable Long-term Pension Total  Allocation

neration Remu- bonus plan provision for pension

€ in kind neration ) provision
Dr. Gerold Linzbach (Chairman) 600,000 10,140 138,000 0 0 748,140 63,498
(2007) 550,000 14,840 662,500 6,782,389 4 0 8,009,729 0
Dr. Heinz-Jirgen Bertram 400,000 7,356 117,400 11,2909 1,665 537,711 26,884
(2007) 372,500 7,356 472,140 4,238,993 4 -48,718 5,042,271 0
Achim Daub 400,000 8,210 64,838 11,6349 0 484,682 0
(2007) 383,859 5,355 462,193 529,874 4 0 1,381,281 0
Dominique Yates 300,000 919 139,000 9,0923 0 449,011 34,267
(since October 1, 2007) 75,000 0 75,000 0 0 150,000 0

') The amounts include allocations for the bonus for the current year as well as the
previous year, to the extent that they differ from the provision as of December 31
of the previous year.

2 This amount does not include a currency-related salary overpayment of € 22,973 to
Achim Daub in the United Stated during the second half of 2008. This amount has
been taken into account as a receivable in the financal statement.

agreed upon in target agreements with the individual members of
the Executive Board at the start of calendar year 2008 based on
the agreed company targets. The annual bonus will be paid out in
the following year (2009) on the basis of the approved financial
statements for 2008.

There is a long-term incentive plan for the Executive Board and
eight senior managers. It went into effect in January 2008 and will
run until December 2010. This plan is a performance cash plan
with performance-based components that are linked to the share
price and the medium-term increase in value of the Company. The
plan - including the performance criteria - was discussed and ap-
proved by the Supervisory Board and its committees.

Pensions

All members of the Executive Board have the right to accumulate
deferred compensation benefits by converting their salaries.
A pension commitment exists solely for Dr. Heinz-Jiirgen Bertram,
due to his prior employment contract. This pension commitment
was also offered to all other employees of the former Haarmann &
Reimer GmbH.

In 2008, Dr. Gerold Linzbach, Dr. Heinz-Jirgen Bertram and
Dominique Yates accumulated deferred compensation benefits by
converting his salary.

3 The amount includes provisions from the Long Term Incentive Plan.

4 The amount refers to payments made in 2007 in connection with the Manage-
ment Participation Program.

Early Termination of Employment Contracts

The employment contracts of members of the Executive Board (ex-
cept Dr. Bertram) do not provide for any benefits upon early ter-
mination. In this case, the Executive Board member in question is
only entitled to continued payment of his or her fixed salary for
the duration of the employment contract. He or she is not entitled
to a bonus for the fiscal year concerned.

For Dr. Heinz-Jirgen Bertram, there is an additional agreement
that, upon termination of his Executive Board contract, he will re-
ceive a severance payment based on the employment contract he
had prior to being appointed to the Executive Board and the re-
lated length of service since November 1, 1990.

A post-employment non-compete provision has been agreed upon
with the Executive Board members for 12 months. By way of com-
pensation, the member concerned shall receive 50% of his or her
contractually agreed fixed basic remuneration.

Expiration of Employment Contracts

The employment contracts of members of the Executive Board do
not contain any special provisions as regards remuneration upon
expiration of the contracts, and in particular do not contain any
severance pay provisions.
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Dr. Gerold Linzbach therefore requested that his contract should
not be extended beyond the agreed term of October 2009. His
fixed salary will continue to be paid up until then. He will be enti-
tled to pro rata bonus payments.

Directors and Officers Insurance

Symrise holds liability insurance for the members of its executive
board. The insurance covers personal liability for the members of
this group and does not include a deductible.

Disclosures required by Takeover Law in accordance with
Section 315, para 4 of the HGB (German Commercial Code)
The stated capital of Symrise AG remains unchanged at EUR
118,173,300 and is divided into no-par-value bearer shares with a
nominal value of EUR 1. The associated rights and duties are set
forth in the relevant provisions of the German Stock Corporation
Act (AktG). There are no different types of shares with different
rights and obligations. Nor do any special rights or rights of con-
trol exist for any shareholders.

No shareholder informed us that it had exceeded 10% or more of
voting rights in our Company.

The appointment and removal of members of the Executive Board
(Secs. 84 and 85 of the Stock Corporation Act) and amendments
to the articles of incorporation and bylaws (Secs. 133 and 179) are
based on the provisions of the Stock Corporation Act.

The Executive Board is authorized, subject to the consent of the
Supervisory Board, to increase the stated capital of the Company
until October 31, 2011, by up to EUR 40 million through one or
more issuances of new no-par bearer shares against contribution
in cash and/or in kind.

The new shares may be underwritten by one or more financial in-
stitutions determined by the Executive Board, in order for such
shares to be offered to the shareholders (indirect subscription
right). The Executive Board is authorized, subject to the consent of
the Supervisory Board, to exclude the subscription rights of exist-
ing shareholders in the following instances:

a) in the event of a capital increase against contribution in kind, if
the capital is increased in order to acquire businesses, business
units or participating interests in businesses, or in order to grant
shares to employees of the Company or its affiliates in compliance
with applicable law;

b) to the extent necessary, to grant rights to subscribe for new
shares of the Company to holders of options or convertible bonds
issued by the Company or its subsidiaries to the extent such hold-
ers will be entitled to such shares pursuant to the terms of the op-
tion or convertible bond;

c) to exclude fractional amounts from the subscription rights;

d) in the event of a capital increase against cash contribution, if the
issue price of the new shares is not significantly lower within the
meaning of Sec. 203, para. 1 and 2, 186 para. 3 sentence 4 of
the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) than the market price of
already listed shares of the Company falling into the same class of
shares at the time the issue price is definitively determined by the
Executive Board, and if the amount by which the capital is in-
creased and for which the subscription rights are excluded does
not exceed 10% of the stated capital of the Company at the time
the new shares are issued. Towards such 10% limit shall count
shares that are sold without subscription rights pursuant to sec. 71
para.1 no. 8 sentence 5, 186 para. 3 sentence 4 of the Stock Cor-
poration Act during the term of this authorized capital, and shares
as to which a right or obligation to buy or to convert attaches which
is based on an option or, respectively, a convertible bond that was,
in each case, issued without subscription rights pursuant to sec.
221 para. 4, 186 para. 3 sentence 4 of the Stock Corporation Act
during the term of this authorized capital.

The Executive Board is authorized, subject to the consent of the
Supervisory Board , to determine the further particulars of the cap-
ital increase and its implementation including the scope of the
shareholder rights and the conditions for the share issue.

Furthermore, the general meeting of shareholders held on April
29, 2008 authorized the Executive Board to acquire treasury stock
up to a level of 10% of the current stated capital. The acquired
shares together with any other treasury stock already owned by
the Company, or which pursuant to Sec. 71 a et seq. of the Stock
Corporation Act is attributed to the Company, may not at any time
exceed 10% of the stated capital. The authorization may not be
misused for the purposes of trading in the Company’s own shares.

a) for one or more purposes, the authorization may be invoked by
the Company, or by third parties for the account of the Company,
in one total amount or in a number of partial amounts either singly
or on several separate occasions. The authorization is valid until
September 30, 2009.
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b) The Executive Board has the choice of making the acquisition ei-
ther through the stock exchange or in the form of a published pur-
chase offer, or respectively, in the form of a published request for
tender of such an offer.

aa) if the acquisition of the shares is made through the stock exchange,
the consideration per share paid by the Company (excluding ancillary
acquisition costs) may not exceed or undercut the opening auction
price quoted on the Xetra dealing system (or a comparable replace-
ment system) on the day of stock exchange dealing by more than 5%.

bb) If the acquisition is made in the form of a published purchase
offer, or in the form of a published request for tender of a purchase
offer, the purchase price offered per share, or the limits of the
purchase price spread per share, may not exceed or undercut the av-
erage closing price quoted on the Xetra dealing system (or a compa-
rable replacement system) on the last three stock exchange dealing
days before the date of publication of the offer, or respectively the
date of publication of a request for tender of a purchase offer, by more
than 10%. If, following publication of the purchase offer, or respec-
tively following publication of a request for tender of a purchase offer,
significant fluctuations occur in the applicable reference price, then
an adjustment may be made to the offer, or respectively to the re-
quest for tender of such an offer. In such circumstances, reference
will be made to the average price of the last three stock exchange
dealing dates before publication of any potential adjustment. The pur-
chase offer, or respectively the request for tender of such an offer,
may include further conditions. Inasmuch as the offer is oversub-
scribed, or respectively, in the case of a request for tender of an offer,
inasmuch as not all equivalent offers can be accepted, then accept-
ance must occur on a quota basis. Preferential acceptance of small
quantities of up to 100 shares on offer is permissible.

c¢) The Executive Board is authorized to use shares of the Company
that are acquired based on this authorization for all permitted legal
purposes, but also especially for the following purposes:

aa) The shares may be redeemed without the redemption or its exe-
cution requiring a resolution by a further general meeting of share-
holders. In a simplified procedure, they may be redeemed without a
formal reduction in capital by adjustment of the proportional amount
applicable to the remaining no-par-value shares making up the Com-
pany’s stated capital. The redemption may be limited to only a portion
of the shares acquired. The authorization for redemption of shares
may be invoked repeatedly. If the redemption is performed using the
simplified procedure, then the Executive Board is authorized to adjust
the number of non-par-value shares contained in the Company’s ar-
ticles of incorporation.

bb) The shares may be sold in an alternative manner than through
trading on the stock exchange or via an offer to the shareholders, if
the shares are sold for cash at a price that is not significantly lower
at the time of sale than the price quoted on the stock exchange for
shares of the Company that are of the same type.

cc) The shares may be sold in consideration for contributions in kind,
particularly in connection with the acquisition of other entities, parts
of entities or investments in entities as well as in connection with
business combinations.

d) The authorizations listed under paragraph c) sub-paragraphs aa)
to cc) above also cover the disposition of shares of the Company that
are acquired pursuant to Sec. 71 d sentence 5 of the Stock Corpo-
ration Act.

e) The authorizations listed under c) above may be made use of singly
or repeatedly, wholly or partly, individually or jointly; the authorizations
under c) sub-paragraphs bb) and cc) may also be made use of by en-
tities dependent on the Company, or by entities which are owned in
the majority by the Company, or for their account, or for the account
of third parties acting on behalf of the Company.

f) Shareholder subscription rights in respect of this treasury stock are
excluded to the extent that these shares are disposed of in accor-
dance with the aforementioned authorization contained in paragraph
¢) sub-paragraphs bb) and cc).

g) The Supervisory Board may prescribe that measures taken by the
Executive Board based on this resolution by the general meeting of
the shareholders may only be executed with its permission.

No further disclosure requirements exist pursuant to Sec. 315 para-
graph 4 of the German Commercial Code.

Holzminden, February 18, 2009

Symrise AG The Executive Board
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Dr. Gero d Linzbach
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Dr. Heinz-Jirge ’ Bertram
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/

92 | Annual Report 2008 Symrise AG



o

Consolidated
Income Statement

T€ Notes 2007 2008
Sales 5,6.1 1,274,458 1,319,862
Cost of sales 8.5 -713,701 -762,377
Gross profit 560,757 557,485
Other operating income 6.2 14,228 10,281
Selling and marketing expenses 6.4 -215,717 -215,137
Research and development expenses 5, 6.5 -82,252 -86,185
Administration expenses 6.6 -78,020 -74,155
Other operating expenses 6.7 -3,290 -5,333
EBIT (profit from operations) 195,706 186,956
Share of gain/(loss) of equity accounted investee 57 0
Finance income 6,924 6,070
Finance expenses -62,425 -58,244
Net finance costs 6.8 -55,501 -52,174
Profit/(loss) before tax 140,262 134,782
Income tax 6.9 -42,826 -44,396

Earnings per share (€)

diluted and basic

0.82

0.76

( Consolidated Financial W
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

ASSETS
T€ Notes  Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31,2008
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8.1 79,250 68,860
Trade receivables 8.2 214,478 221,686
Inventories 8.5 239,741 258,974
Prepayments, other assets and receivables 8.4 29,446 35,900
Tax assets 11,965 7,169
Assets held for sale 8.6 10,038 50
584,918 592,639
Noncurrent assets
Deferred tax assets 8.7 45,212 44,392
Other noncurrent assets and receivables 8.3,8.8 11,759 2,895
Other investments 8.9 4,583 4,454
Investment in equity accounted investee 2.4,8.13 0 1,622
Intangible assets 8.10, 8.11 763,013 856,263
Property, plant and equipment 8.12 381,438 388,414
1,206,005 1,298,040
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EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

T€ Notes Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2008
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade payables 8.14 72,424 82,170
Borrowings 8.16 176,695 347,646
Provisions 8.15 4,001 1,716
Tax liabilities 8.7 48,102 48,898
Other current liabilities 8.17 102,563 67,586
403,785 548,016
Noncurrent liabilities
Borrowings 8.20 431,967 362,792
Other noncurrent liabilities 8.18 16,671 27,668
Provisions 8.15 88 94
Retirement benefit obligations 8.19 186,295 191,922
Deferred tax liabilities 8.7 109,404 111,792
744,425 694,268
Total liabilities 1,148,210 1,242,284
EQUITY
Share capital 8.22 118,173 118,173
Capital reserve 8.23 970,911 970,911
Revaluation reserve 2,718 2,718
Fair value reserve -40 -17,201
Cumulative translation differences -70,109 -78,565
Retained earnings -378,940 -347,641
Total equity 642,713 648,395

( Consolidated Financial W
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

T€ Notes  Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31,2008
Profit or loss 97,436 90,386
Share of (gain)/loss of equity accounted investee -57 0
Income tax expenses 6.9 42,826 44,397
Net interest expenses 6.8 39,279 41,206
Cash flow from operating activities 179,484 175,989
Cash flow from operating activities 8.10,8.11,8.12 74,278 75,116
Impairment reversal 8.12 0 -5,156
Change in retirement benefit obligations 8.19 -1,556 -5,250
Change in provisions 8.14 -11,810 -2,246
Change in accruals -1,883 -4,158
Change in the accrual for the Mangement Participation Program 1,914 1,549
Profit (-)/loss on disposal of assets 21 -34
Unrealized (loss)/profit from IAS 39 fair value Adjustments 8.3 1,397 1,703
Unrealized foreign exchange differences 4,496 -2,249
Adjustment for noncash items 67,047 59,275
Cash flow before working capital changes 246,531 235,264
Change in trade and other receivables 8.2,8.4,8.8 -8,180 -23,403
Change in inventories 8.5 -28,428 -5,327
Change in trade and other payables 8.16,8.17 16,233 -6,348
Management Participation Program paid -46,246 -17,303
Income taxes paid -27,322 -29,785
Net cash flows from operating activities 152,588 153,098
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T€ Notes ~ Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31,2008
Balance brought forward 152,588 153,098
Investments in subsidiaries, associates,

and investments (net of cash acquired) 8.13,8.16 -6,683 -283
Payments for the acquisition of business units (including inventories) 0 -138,073
Investments in intangible assets 8.10 -10,293 -14,393
Investments in property, plant, and equipment 8.12 -29,779 -38,140
Payments for investments in financial assets -244 -4,249
Payments for investments in financial assets 361 428
Net change in other financial loans 32 1
Disinvestment 1,989 11,603
Interest received 6.8 1,692 1,482
Cash flow from investment activities -42,925 -181,624
Payments relating to the IPO and repayment of warrant liability -17,687 0
Change in financial borrowings 8.16,8.20 -7,204 365,248
Repayment of bank borrowings -48,054 -266,980
Transaction fees (bank and consultation fees) -1,062 0
Interest paid 6.8 -28,715 -28,776
Dividends paid 0 -59,087
Cash flow from financing activities -102,722 10,405
Net increase/decrease 6,941 -18,120
Effects of changes in exchange rates 7,029 7,730
Cash and cash equivalents as of January 1 8.1 65,280 79,250
Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31 79,250 68,860

( Consolidated Financial )
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Share capital Capital Fair value Revaluation — Cumulated Retained Total
reserve reserve reserve  translation earnings equity
Te differences’
Investments available for sale
Fair value movements, net of tax 0 0 -9 0 0 0 -9
Change in tax rate in 2007 0 0 0 -21 0 0 -21
Currency translation differences 0 0 0 0 -6,832 0 -6,832
Reassessment of 40% of aromatics, net of tax 0 0 0 420 0 0 420
Changes in value reported
directly in the equity 0 0 -9 399 -6,832 0 -6,442
Consolidated net profit 0 0 0 0 0 97,436 97,436
Total of profit or loss plus changes in 90,994
value reported without effect on net income 0 0 -9 399 -6,832 97,436
Amendment of costs allocated to the
issunance of shares in 2006 0 1,079 0 0 0 0 1,079
Release of capital reserve 0 -150,000 0 0 0 150,000 0
Balance on December 31, 2007 118,173 970,911 -40 2,718 -70,109 -378,940 | 642,713
Investments available for sale
Fair value movements, net of tax 0 0 -17,161 0 0 0 -17,161
Currency translation differences 0 0 0 0 -8,456 0 -8,456
Changes in value reported
directly in the equity 0 0 -17,161 0 -8,456 0 -25,617
Consolidated net profit 0 0 0 0 0 90,386 90,386
Total of profit or loss plus changes in
value reported without effect on net income 0 0 -17,161 0 -8,456 90,386 64,769
Dividends paid 0 0 0 0 0 -59,087 -59,087
Balance on Dezember 31, 2008 118,173 970,911 -17,201 2,718 -78,565 -347,641 | 648,395

) The cumulative translation differences comprise all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of foreign operations
as well as from the translation of liabilities that hedge the Group’s net investment in foreign subsidiaries

/
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Symrise Aktiengesellschaft (Symrise AG) is a stock cor-
poration incorporated under German law and principally
produces, markets and sells flavors, fragrances, aroma
chemicals and cosmetic ingredients. The registered office
of the Group is at MuehlenfeldstraBe 1, 37603 Holzmin-
den, Germany (commercial register: District Court of
Hildesheim; HRB No. 200436).

Symrise AG shares are authorized for trading on the offi-
cial market of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange and are listed
in the Prime Standard segment of the MDAX.

The consolidated financial statements of Symrise AG
(hereinafter referred to as “the Company” or “the Group”)
for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2008, were
approved for publication by the Executive Board on
February 18, 2009.

The consolidated financial statements of Symrise AG have
been prepared in accordance with the International Fi-
nancial Reporting Standards (IFRS) of the International Ac-
counting Standards Board (IASB), London as well as the
interpretations of the International Financial Reporting In-
terpretations Committee (IFRIC) as adopted by the Euro-
pean Union and the supplementary commercial law
provisions of Section 315 a (1) of the HGB [“Handelsge-
setzbuch” or German Commercial Code] that were valid at
the balance sheet date.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1.Basis of Preparation of the

Financial Statements
The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a
historical cost basis with the exception of derivative fi-
nancial instruments and available for sale financial instru-
ments that are measured at fair value.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euros
as this is the Group’s functional currency. Unless otherwise
indicated, all financial information presented in euros has
been rounded to the nearest thousand (T€). The individual fi-
nancial statements of the companies included in the consol-
idation were prepared at the balance sheet reporting date
used for preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards requires the Executive Board to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
accounting policies and amounts reported as assets, lia-
bilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are subject to re-
view on an ongoing basis. Changes in accounting esti-
mates are recognized in the accounting period in which
the estimate is changed and in any future reporting peri-
ods affected.

2.2. Changes to Accounting Policies

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those
applied in the previous fiscal year except that the Group
has adopted those new or revised standards or interpre-
tations that are prescribed for the fiscal year. The appli-
cation of the new or revised IFRS standards and inter-
pretations did not have any effect on the consolidated
financial statements. However, they did lead to additional
disclosures.

Changes in IAS 39 and IFRS 7 (“IAS 39/IFRS 7 - Re-
classification of Financial Instruments”) in given cir-
cumstances permit the reclassification of certain financial
assets from the category “at fair value through profit or loss”
to another measurement category. Under certain circum-
stances, the changes also allow financial assets included in
the category “available for sale” to be reclassified to the cat-
egory “loans and receivables.” IFRS 7 was correspondingly
expanded to cater for reclassifications made under the terms
of these new provisions. The changes became mandatory
on July 1, 2008. No impacts to the 2008 consolidated fi-
nancial statements resulted from these changes.

IFRIC 11 (“IFRS 2 - Group and Treasury Share Trans-
actions”) regulates share-based compensation for a pay-
ment transaction in which an entity receives, or is granted,
goods or services in exchange for its equity instruments.
IFRIC 11 became mandatory with effect from January 1,
2008, onwards. The changes have no significant impact
on the consolidated financial statements of Symrise AG.

IFRIC 14 (IAS 19 “The Limit on a Defined Benefit
Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their In-
teraction”) provides direction as to when refunds or re-
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ductions in future contributions to defined benefit plans are
deemed to be available and provides guidelines as to what impact
minimum funding requirements have on such assets. Application
of IFRIC 14 is mandatory from January 1, 2008, onwards. The
changes have no significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements of Symrise AG.

The following accounting standards became effective in fis-
cal year 2008 but have not as yet been applied by the Sym-
rise Group as their approval by the EU is still outstanding:

IFRIC 12 (“Service Concession Arrangements”) provides clar-
ification of certain recognition and measurement issues relating to
public sector service concessions granted to private operators.
IFRIC 12 is mandatory from the consolidated 2008 financial state-
ments onwards. It is not expected that IFRIC 12 will impact the
consolidated financial statements of Symrise AG.

IFRIC 16 (“Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Opera-
tion”): The objective of the interpretation is clarification of two is-
sues arising within the context of the two standards IAS 21 “The
Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates” and IAS 39 “Fi-
nancial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” in connec-
tion with accounting for the hedging of foreign currency risks
within an organization and its foreign business operations. IFRIC
16 provides clarification as to what should be considered as a risk
in connection with the hedging of a net investment in a foreign op-
eration and as to where the hedging instrument to reduce such a
risk may be held within a group of companies. The interpretation
should be applied to fiscal years that commence on or after Oc-
tober 1, 2008. It is not expected that IFRIC 16 will have any impact
on the consolidated financial statements of Symrise AG.

The following new accounting standards have been appro-
ved by the IASB and the IFRIC:

IFRS 1 and IAS 27 (“Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary,
Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate”): These changes make
it possible for entities that are applying International Financial Re-
porting Standards (IFRS) for the first time to recognize the acqui-
sition cost of an investment in their separate financial statements
either at fair value or at the carrying amount deriving from previ-
ous application of national accounting standards. Mandatory ap-
plication of the changes is required for fiscal years commencing on
or after January 1, 2009. No impacts on the consolidated financial
statements of Symrise AG are expected.

IFRS 2 (“Vesting Conditions and Cancellations”) provides clar-
ification on the definition of “vesting conditions” relating to share-
based payment transactions and stipulates that all cancellations of
share-based payment plans should be accounted for in the same
manner - irrespective of the party which is responsible for the can-
cellation. The mandatory application of the changes to IFRS 2 is re-
quired for the first time for all fiscal years commencing on or after
January 1, 2009. It is not expected that IFRS 2 will impact the con-
solidated financial statements of Symrise AG.

IFRS 3 (“Business Combinations”) includes amended provi-
sions for accounting for business acquisitions. The mandatory ap-
plication of the changes to IFRS 3 is required for the first time for
fiscal years commencing on or after July 1, 2009. Impacts on the
Symrise Group are currently being assessed.

IFRS 8 (“Operating Segments”) introduces the “management
approach” for segment reporting. Mandatory application of IFRS
8 is required from January 1, 2009, onwards. The Group currently
provides segment information by division and by geographical re-
gion (see note 5). Apart from the form of presentation, it is not ex-
pected that IFRS 8 will impact the segments reported in the
financial statements of Symrise AG.

The revised version of IAS 1 (“Presentation of Financial State-
ments: A Revised Presentation”) contains new provisions for
the presentation of financial statements. In particular, it improves
the possibilities for users to analyze and compare information con-
tained in the financial statements. Application of the new standard
is mandatory for all fiscal years commencing on or after January 1,
2009. Earlier application is permissible. Impacts on the group con-
solidated financial statements are currently being assessed.

The revised version of IAS 23 (“Borrowing Costs”) excludes the
option to recognize borrowing costs in profit or loss and requires
that subject to certain conditions, borrowing costs that are directly
related to the acquisition, construction or production of so-called
“qualifying assets” are to be recognized as forming part of the cost
of such assets. The revised version of IAS 23 becomes mandatory
for the consolidated 2009 financial statements and will result in a
change in the accounting policies for the Group. The impact on
the Symrise Group is currently under assessment.

IAS 27 (“Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”):
In the revised version of IAS 27, the IASB has made changes to
provisions relating to the accounting for transactions between non-
controlling and controlling shareholder interests for a group as well
as relating to accounting in cases where control over a subsidiary

100 | Annual Report 2008 Symrise AG



company is lost. The changed provisions are to be applied at the
latest for fiscal years commencing on or after July 1, 2009. It is not
expected that the revised IAS 27 will have an impact on future fi-
nancial statements of the Symrise Group.

IAS 32 (“Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Ari-
sing on Liquidation”) includes revised provisions to differentiate
between equity and debt. The changed provisions are to be ap-
plied for the first time to fiscal years commencing on or after Jan-
uary 1, 2009. It is not expected that the changed version of IAS 32
will have any significant impact on the consolidated financial state-
ments of Symrise AG.

The supplementary amendments to IAS 39 (“Financial Instru-
ments: Recognition and Measurement: Eligible Hedged
Items”) explain, amongst other things, the conditions under which
inflation risks can be hedged as hedged items within the context
of hedging transactions as well as the possibility of using options
as hedging instruments to hedge unilateral risks. The interpretation
is to be applied to fiscal years commencing on or after January 1,
2009. Earlier application is recommended. Impacts on the Symrise
Group are currently being assessed.

IFRIC 13 (“Customer Loyalty Programmes”) governs the ac-
counting for companies that offer loyalty programs to their cus-
tomers or that participate in such programs. The type of loyalty
programs covered are those under the terms of which loyalty
award credits for free or discounted goods or services are granted
to customers, who receive these when they purchase other goods
or services. The interpretation should be applied for the first time
to fiscal years commencing on or after July 1, 2009. It is not ex-
pected that IFRIC 13 will have any significant impact the consoli-
dated financial statements of Symrise AG.

IFRIC 15 (“Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate”)
addresses the standardization of accounting practices used by
companies that undertake the development of real estate and in
this capacity sell units - such as, for example, apartments or
houses - “off plan,” i.e. before these are completed. This inter-
pretation should be applied to fiscal years that commence on or
after January 1, 2009. Earlier adoption is recommended. It is not
expected that IFRIC 15 will have any impact on the consolidated
financial statements of Symrise AG.

IFRIC 17 (“Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners”) ad-
dresses issues as to how a company should measure assets used
to make distributions other than cash that are used to pay divi-
dends to shareholders. IFRIC 17 comes into effect for financial

years commencing on or after July 1, 2009. Earlier application is
permissible. It is not expected that IFRIC 17 will have any impact
on the consolidated financial statements of Symrise AG.

2.3.Key Judgments and Estimates

The most important future assumptions and other significant
sources of uncertainty in estimates at the balance sheet date,
which may result in a significant risk that the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities will require adjustment within the next fiscal
year, are discussed below.

Impairment of intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
At least once a year, the Group reviews whether intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives (mainly goodwill and certain recipes)
are impaired. This requires an estimate of the recoverable amounts
of the cash-generating units to which these assets are allocated.
In order to estimate the recoverable amount, the Group has to es-
timate the expected future cash flows deriving from the cash-gen-
erating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of these cash flows. As at December
31, 2008, the carrying amount of intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives was € 521.2 million (2007: € 486.2 million). More de-
tails are provided in notes 8.10 and 8.11.

Recoverability of deferred tax assets

The Group makes an annual assessment as to whether tax loss
carry-forwards can be used to offset against future taxable prof-
its over a foreseeable period. This requires that the Group makes
an estimate of the taxable income for each Group company. As at
December 31, 2008, the carrying amount of the deferred tax as-
sets was € 44.6 million (2007: € 58.7 million). More details are
provided in note 8.7.

Pensions and other post-employment benefits

The expenses deriving from defined benefit pension plans and the
Group’s obligation to provide additional post-employment health-
care benefits are determined on the basis of actuarial computa-
tions. The actuarial valuation is made on the basis of assumptions
pertaining to discount rates, anticipated income from plan assets,
future wage and salary increases, mortality rates and future pen-
sion increases. Due to the long-term nature of such plans, these
estimates are subject to great uncertainty. As at December 31,
2008, the provisions for retirement benefit and similar obligations
amounted to € 191.9 million (2007: € 186.3 million). Further de-
tails are provided in note 8.19.
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2.4.Consolidation Principles

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial state-
ments of Symrise AG and its subsidiaries as at December 31,
2008, respectively.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting date as that of the parent company using uniform
accounting policies. For this purpose, adjustments are made to
compensate for any differences in recognition and measurement
deriving from local accounting policies. All inter-company bal-
ances, transactions and unrealized gains deriving from intra-group
transactions are eliminated. Unrealized losses deriving from intra-
group transactions are also eliminated unless Group acquisition
and production costs cannot be recovered in future.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, i.e.
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. Inclu-
sion in the consolidated financial statements ceases at such time
as the parent company’s controlling influence ends.

Investments are accounted for using the equity method inasmuch
as Symrise does not hold a controlling interest but is still able to
exercise a significant influence over the business and financial poli-
cies of these entities (“associates”). In July 2008, a 20% interest
was acquired in Therapeutic Peptides Inc., Baton Rouge, US. This
investment was accounted for using the equity method of ac-
counting in the consolidated financial statements as at December
31, 2008, for the first time.

The consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2008,
includes 58 (2007: 55) Group companies, of which 11 (2007: 10)
are German and 47 (2007: 45) are foreign.

Dec. 1,2008 Additions Disposals Dec. 31,2008
Fully consolidated
subsidiaries
Domestic 10 1 0 11
Foreign 45 1 0 46
Investments accounted for using
the equity method
Foreign 0 1 0 1
Total 55 3 0 58
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Further information on share interests can be found in the  are included in the consolidated financial statements as at
list of Group shareholdings that is filed with the electronic ~ December 31, 2008, are listed below:
commercial register. The fully consolidated subsidiaries that

NAME AND LOCATION OF COMPANY Share % NAME AND LOCATION OF COMPANY Share %
Germany South America
Symrise AG, Holzminden Symrise Aromas e Fragrancias Ltda., Brazil 100
Symrise GmbH & Co. KG, Holzminden 100 Symrise S.r.l., Argentina 100
Symrise Beteiligungs GmbH, Holzminden 100 Symrise S.A., Chile 100
DrinkStar GmbH, Rosenheim 100 DRAGOCO Colombia Ltda., Columbia 100
Schimmel & Co. GmbH, Holzminden 100 Symrise Ltda., Columbia 100
Kaden Biochemicals GmbH, Hamburg 100 Symrise C.A., Venezuela 100
Tesium GmbH, Holzminden 100
Symotion GmbH, Holzminden 100
Busiris Vermogensverwaltung GmbH, Asia and Pacific
Holzminden 100 Symrise Pty. Ltd., Australia 100
Symrise Verwaltungs GmbH, Holzminden 100 Symrise Ltd., Hong Kong, China 100
Symrise US-Beteiligungs GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 100 Symrise Export Ltd., Hong Kong, China 100
Symrise Ltd., Shanghai, China 100
Symrise SDN. BHD, Malaysia 100
Rest of Europe Symrise Holding Pte. Ltd., Singapore 100
Aromatics, S.A.S., France 100 Haarmann & Reimer (SEA) Pte. Ltd., Singapore 100
Steng Ingredients Ltd., United Kingdom 100 Symrise Pte. Ltd., Singapore 100
Symrise S.A., Switzerland 100 Symrise Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd., Singapore 100
Symrise Ltd., United Kingdom 100 Symrise Ltd., Korea 100
Symrise Holding Ltd., United Kingdom 100 Symrise Ltd., Thailand 100
Flavors Direct Ltd., United Kingdom 100 Thamasarb Co. Ltd., Thailand 100
Symrise B.V., Netherlands 100 Haarmann & Reimer (Thailand) Co. Ltd., Thailand 100
Symrise Iberica S.L., Spain 100 P.T. Symrise, Indonesia 100
Symrise S.A., France 100 Symrise Inc., Philippines 100
Symrise S.r.l., Italy 100 Symrise Pvt. Ltd., India 100
Symrise Vertriebs GmbH, Austria 100 Symrise K.K., Japan 100
Symrise Kimya Sanayi ve Ticaret Ltd.
Sirketi, Turkey 100
Symrise Luxembourg S.a.r.l., Luxembourg 100 Africa and Middle East
WWS Ltd., United Kingdom 100 Ragco (Pty) Ltd., South Africa 100
Symrise (Pty) Ltd., South Africa 100
Symrise Mauritius Ltd., Mauritius 100
North America Symrise S.A.E., Egypt 100
Symrise Inc., United States 100 Aromatics Madagascar S.a.r.L., Madagascar 100
Symrise Holding Inc., United States 100 Origines Madagascar S.a.r.L., Madagascar 100
Symrise S. de R.L. de CV., Mexico 100
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2.5.Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Foreign Currency Translation

The subsidiaries of Symrise AG maintain their accounting records
in the respective functional currency. In their local separate fi-
nancial statements all receivables and payables denoted in a cur-
rency that is not the functional currency are measured at the rate
of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. Any differences
deriving from measurement of items denoted in foreign currencies
are recognized in profit or loss. Assets and liabilities of the foreign
companies at the beginning of the year and at the end of the year
are translated into euros at the rates applicable at the respective
balance sheet dates; all changes during the year as well as ex-
penses and income are translated into euros at transaction-based
rates. Equity components are translated at the historical rates of
exchange effective at the time they were treated as an addition
from a Group perspective. Any translation differences deriving
from this process are disclosed in equity as a separate item:
“Cumulative translation differences.”

The following table shows the changes in exchange rates relative
to the euro for the most important currencies relevant to the
Symrise Group:

Closing rates = € 1

Average rate =€ 1

Country Currencies Dec. 31,2008 Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31,2008 Dec. 31, 2007
Great Britain British Pound GBP 0.978 0.736 0.795 0.687
USA US Dollar usD 1.416 1.471 1.474 1.379
Mexico Mexican Pesos MXN 19.420 15.970 16.244 15.055
Brazil Brazilian Real BRL 3.330 2.587 2.661 2.653
Singapore Singapore Dollar SGD 2.045 2.124 2.077 2.069
China Chinese Renminbi CNY 9.681 10.744 10.240 10.446

Financial Instruments

General information concerning financial risks

Symrise is subjected to changes in market prices deriving from for-
eign exchange rates, interest rates and share prices. Commaodity
price risks exist for procurement purposes. The Group is also sub-
ject to credit-related risks that particularly derive from its trade re-
ceivables. Furthermore, liquidity risks exist that are related to credit
and market-price risks or which accompany a decline in operational
business or, respectively, disruption of the financial markets.

Symrise has issued internal guidelines covering the subject of risk
control processes as well as regulating the deployment of financial
instruments. The guidelines, which are based on the Group’s risk
management processes, are directed towards the identification and
analysis of risks throughout the Group on a global basis. They are
also aimed at suitably limiting and controlling such risks. They are

regularly monitored and adjusted to reflect current market and
product developments.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognized at their fair value
and are initially recorded at the time when the contract for the de-
rivative financial instrument is entered into. Symrise has applied
hedge accounting for significant interest swaps from May 23,
2008, onwards. As a consequence, from this date on, gains and
losses deriving from changes in the values of swap transactions
are no longer included in the financial result.

Gains and losses that derive from changes in the fair value of de-
rivative financial instruments and which do not meet the criteria for
hedge accounting are recognized in the income statement.
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If the requirements of IAS 39 with regard to hedge accounting are
fulfilled, Symrise AG designates and documents such hedging re-
lationships thereafter as cash flow hedges. In the case of a cash
flow hedge, variable cash flows to be paid or to be received relat-
ing to a recognized asset or recognized liability or highly probable
future cash flows are hedged. The documentation of the hedging
relationship includes risk management objectives and strategies,
the nature of the hedging relationship, the nature of the risk being
hedged, the relationship between the hedging instrument and the
hedged item and also a description of the method used to assess
the effectiveness of the hedge. The hedging relationships are as-
sessed as being highly effective in achieving compensation for
risks deriving from changes in fair value or cash flows attributable
to the hedged risk and are regularly examined to ensure whether
they are highly effective during the whole reporting period for
which they are designated.

Changes in the fair value of the derivatives are either recognized
in the result or recognized in equity as a component of other re-
serves. Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments that are
allocated to a cash flow hedge are initially recognized in equity in
the amount of the portion that is determined to be an effective
hedge. The ineffective portion of the change in fair value is recog-
nized directly as part of the financial result. The transfer to the in-
come statement occurs at the same time as the impact deriving
from the hedged item is recognized in profit or loss.

If derivative financial instruments are not part of, or are no longer
considered to be part of, a hedge accounting relationship because
the conditions for hedge accounting are not fulfilled, or are no
longer fulfilled, then these are classified as held for trading.

The fair value of interest swaps is calculated from the present value
of the future payments, based on publicly quoted interest rates,
using mathematical models for financial valuation.

Non-derivative financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise share interests, trade
and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, and loans as well
as trade and other payables.

Non-derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at their
fair value including any directly attributable transaction costs. This
does not apply to non-derivative financial instruments included in the
category “at fair value through profit and loss,” which are recognized
solely at their fair values, and the transaction costs of which are rec-
ognized directly in profit or loss. Following their initial recognition, non-
derivative financial instruments are treated as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits.
Bank overdrafts, which make up a considerable part of the Group’s
cash management facilities are considered to be a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purposes of the cash flow statement.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Symrise holds marketable securities and other available-for-sale
financial assets to a limited extent. Financial assets that are in-
tended to be held for an indefinite period and which are to be sold
in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates are
classified as available-for-sale and included as noncurrent assets.
However, should management express the intention of selling the
financial assets within twelve months of the balance sheet date, or
should these need to be sold in order to generate liquid funds for
operational purposes, then they are classified as current assets.

Following their initial recognition, they are recorded at their fair
value; all changes in fair value, with the exception of impairment
losses (see note 8.11) and foreign exchange gains and losses on
available-for-sale financial assets (see note 8.6), are recognized
as a component of equity. If an asset is derecognized, the cumu-
lative gain or loss is transferred from equity to profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

A financial instrument is measured at fair value through profit or loss
if it is held for trading or it is designated as such upon initial recog-
nition. Financial instruments are measured at fair value through
profit and loss when the Group manages these assets and makes de-
cisions to purchase or sell them based on their value in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management or investment strat-
egy. Financial instruments are recognized at their fair value and any
change in their fair value is recognized in profit or loss.

Loans and receivables

The Group’s loans and receivables are financial instruments with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted on an active
market. After initial recognition, loans and receivables are recog-
nized at amortized cost applying the effective interest method,
less any impairment. Amortized costs are determined under con-
sideration of any premiums or discounts granted at the time of ac-
quisition and include all charges that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate and transaction costs. Gains and losses are
recognized in the income statement if the loans and receivables
are derecognized, impaired or amortized.
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Share Capital

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Ancillary costs that di-
rectly result from the issue of ordinary shares or share options are
recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Sale of Merchandise and Products

Revenue from the sale of merchandise and products is shown at
the fair value of consideration received or receivable less any re-
turns, trade discounts and rebates. Sales revenue is recognized
when the significant risks and rewards deriving from ownership of
the merchandise or products have been transferred to the buyer,
recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs
and possible return of the goods can be reliably estimated and the
amount of revenue can be measured reliably. The transfer of risks
and rewards to the buyer is determined in accordance with
INCOTERMS (International Commercial Terms).

Leases

Leases, under the terms of which the lessor retains all significant
risks and benefits deriving from ownership of the leased object
are to be classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments
are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the term
of the lease. There are no significant finance leases.

Financial Income and Expenses

Financial income comprises interest income on funds invested, div-
idend income and changes in the fair value of financial instruments
(interest swaps). Interest income is recognized in the income state-
ment as it accrues using the effective interest rate method.

Financial expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings, un-
winding of discount on liabilities, changes in the fair value of fi-
nancial assets and impairment losses on financial assets. All
borrowing costs are recognized in the income statement using the
effective interest rate method.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are disclosed on a net basis.

Income Taxes

Income taxes comprise both current and deferred taxes. Income
taxes are recognized in the income statement unless they are di-
rectly related to items that are directly recognized in equity.

Current taxes are taxes that are expected to be payable on tax-
able profits of the current fiscal year. They are recognized using the
tax rate applicable to the year reported. Additionally, any adjust-
ments to tax expenses for previous years are also included here.

Deferred taxes are recognized as at the balance sheet date by ap-
plying the liability method to all temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets, or respectively liabilities, in the
IFRS-based consolidated financial statements and the amounts
used for taxation purposes. No deferred taxes were recognized
with respect to the following temporary differences:

) The initial recognition of goodwill

)» The initial recognition of an asset or a liability relating to a trans-
action that does not constitute a business combination and
which affects neither the profit for commercial accounting pur-
poses nor the taxable result.

Deferred taxes are determined using the tax rates that are ex-
pected to be applicable to the temporary differences when these
reverse and are based on tax legislation that has been enacted or
announced before the balance sheet reporting date as being ap-
plicable at the time of the reversal. Deferred tax assets and liabil-
ities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
taxes and liabilities and they relate to income taxes levied by the
same tax authority on a company, or in the case of joint assess-
ment, to different companies that have the intention to settle cur-
rent assets or current liabilities on a net basis or to realize tax
assets and tax liabilities simultaneously.

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is proba-
ble that taxable profits will be available in future against which de-
ductible temporary timing differences can be offset. The carrying
amount of the deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance
sheet reporting date and is reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
offset the deferred tax asset.

Sales Tax
Sales revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are recognized net

of sales tax.

The following exceptions apply:

~

if the sales tax incurred on the purchase of goods and services
cannot be recovered from the tax authorities, then the sales tax
is accordingly considered to be a component of the expense
item; and

~

receivables and payables are recognized with the amount of the
sales tax included.
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The sales tax amount that is recoverable from or payable to the
tax authorities is included in the balance sheet under other current
receivables or other current liabilities.

Earnings per Share

The Group reports basic undiluted and diluted earnings per share
for its ordinary shares. In determining the undiluted earnings per
share, the profit or loss attributable to the ordinary shareholders
of the parent company is divided by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

The diluted earnings are calculated by adjusting the profit or loss
attributable to the ordinary shareholders of the parent company
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares for the ef-
fects of all potentially dilutive ordinary shares, including convert-
ible notes and share options granted to employees.

Segment Reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group in which
either related products and services are offered (business seg-
ment) or in which products and services are offered within a par-
ticular market environment (geographical segment) and for which
the risks and opportunities are distinguishable from those of other
segments. Segment information is summarized according to busi-
ness segments and geographical segments in which the Group is
involved. The business segments are determined based on the
Group’s reporting and administration structures.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include both items that are
directly attributable to the segment as well as items that can be al-
located to the segment on a reasonable and consistent basis. Seg-
ment capital expenditure investment comprises all expenditure
incurred during the reporting period to acquire property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets.

Assets Held for Sale

Assets held for sale comprise undeveloped real estate that has
been classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5. In the
previous year, the classification mainly included production sites.
The fair values of these assets were determined based on market
values and expert appraisals. Liabilities relating to the disposal
groups were not identified.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
scheduled depreciation and impairment losses. If individual com-
ponents of assets have differing useful lives, then these are treated

as separate items (major components) within property, plant and
equipment.

Gains and losses deriving from disposals of property, plant and
equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds of disposal
and the carrying amounts of the items of property, plant and equip-
ment and the differences are recognized net within “other oper-
ating income” in the income statement.

Depreciation

Depreciation is charged in the income statement on a straight-line
basis over the expected useful life of the item of property, plant or
equipment. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter term
of the contractual term of the lease and the useful life of the item
unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will become the
owner of the leased asset at the end of the lease period. Land is
not depreciated. The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative reporting periods are as follows:

Buildings 20 to 50 years
Plant and machinery 2 to 20 years
Equipment 3 to 20 years

The carrying amounts attributable to items of property, plant and
equipment are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in cir-
cumstances indicate that the carrying amount is not recoverable.

The carrying amounts, useful lives and depreciation methods for
items of property, plant and equipment are reviewed each year
and adjusted if appropriate.

Costs relating to the general overhaul of assets are considered as
part of the carrying amount of the asset if the recognition criteria
are satisfied.
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Business Combinations and Goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase
method. This comprises the recording of identifiable assets (in-
cluding intangible assets that were not previously recognized) and
liabilities (including contingent liabilities, but not giving consider-
ation to future restructuring measures) of the acquired operations
at their fair value.

Goodwill deriving from a business combination is recognized ini-
tially at cost and represents the excess of the cost of the business
combination over the Group’s share in the fair values of the ac-
quired identifiable assets and liabilities.

Any acquired goodwill is allocated at the acquisition date to the
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the syn-
ergies deriving from the business combination.

In accordance with IFRS 3, goodwill is not amortized on a sched-
uled basis. An impairment test is conducted on goodwill at least
once per year or more often, if indications of impairment exist.

Investments in Associates

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity
method. An associate is an entity over which Symrise exercises
significant influence but which represents neither an affiliate nor
a joint venture.

Under the equity method, the equity investment is recognized at
cost plus any changes in the net assets of the entity. Any goodwill
arising from an investment in an associate is included in the up-
dated carrying amount of the investment and is not amortized. The
income statement includes the share of the result of the associate.

Gains and losses deriving from transactions between the Group
and the associate are eliminated according to the share interest in
the associate. The financial statements of the associate are pre-
pared as at the same balance sheet reporting date as that of the
consolidated financial statements and using uniform accounting
policies.

Other Intangible Assets

Intangible assets that are separately acquired are measured at
cost for the purpose of initial recognition. The cost of an intangi-
ble asset acquired during a business combination is at its fair value
at the time of the acquisition. Following initial recognition, intan-
gible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and
all accumulated impairment losses. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.

Acquired computer software is recognized at cost and is amor-
tized on a straight-line basis over a period of between three and ten
years. Patents and other rights are amortized on a straight-line
basis over a period of between five and twenty years.

The Group has recognized recipes with both finite and indefinite
lives. The useful lives of recipes with finite useful lives are deter-
mined based on typical life cycles; the amortization is over a pe-
riod of between seven and twenty years.

The Group has recognized recipes and trademarks with indefinite
useful lives for which the period over which these assets generate
cash flows is not foreseeable. For this reason, it is not possible to
assess their useful lives. In consequence, these recipes and trade-
marks are reviewed annually to ensure that the carrying amount
does not exceed their recoverable amount. This review is per-
formed at least once per year, irrespective as to whether indica-
tions of impairment exist.

Internally generated intangible assets are not recognized as as-
sets; all costs associated with their generation are charged to profit
or loss in the year that they are incurred.

The useful life of an intangible asset with a finite useful life is re-
viewed once a year to ensure that the presumption with respect to
the finite useful life is still justifiable. If this is not the case, then ad-
justment is made on a prospective basis.

The useful lives and amortization methods for intangible assets
with finite useful lives are reviewed annually for suitability and
prospectively adjusted as necessary.

Gains and losses deriving from the disposal of intangible assets
are determined at the time of disposal by comparing the proceeds
of disposal and the carrying amounts of the intangible assets and
the differences are recognized in the income statement.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are treated as expenses in the
period in which they are incurred. Symrise recognizes develop-
ment costs as assets for projects in the cosmetic ingredients area,
since future recoverability can be reasonably regarded as assured
through use of market studies, and because the other criteria for
recognition are fulfilled.

Following initial recognition of development costs as assets, the
cost model is applied, under which the asset is recognized at cost
less accumulated amortization and impairment losses. The devel-
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opment costs recognized are amortized over the period of
expected future sales revenues connected to the related project.

The carrying amount of the development costs is reviewed annu-
ally for impairment if the asset is not yet in use or more frequently
if indications of impairment arise during the course of the year.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
The cost of inventories includes the cost of acquiring the invento-
ries, production or conversion costs, and other costs incurred to
bring the inventories to their existing location and condition.

Net realizable value is determined as the estimated selling cost
less the estimated costs of completion and any necessary selling
expenses.

Raw materials are valued using the weighted average purchase
cost.

Finished goods and work in process are valued with the cost of di-
rect materials, direct labor as well as other direct costs and a rea-
sonable proportion of manufacturing overheads, based on normal
capacity utilization, excluding borrowing costs.

Trade and Other Receivables

Trade receivables are recognized at their original invoice amounts
less an allowance for uncollectible receivables. An allowance is
made when there is substantial objective evidence that the Group
will not be able to collect the receivables. Receivables are derec-
ognized as soon as they become uncollectible.

Impairment

Financial assets

Financial assets are measured at each reporting date to determine
whether there is any objective evidence of impairment. An im-
pairment loss is recorded if objective evidence exists that one or
more events have had an impact on the future cash flows deriving
from the asset.

An impairment loss with respect to a financial asset measured at
amortized cost is determined as the difference between its carry-
ing amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. An impair-
ment loss with respect to a financial asset held as available-for-
sale is determined by reference to its fair value.

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on
an individual basis. All other financial assets are collectively as-
sessed in groups that share similar default risk characteristics.

All impairment losses are recognized in the income statement. Any
cumulative losses with respect to an available-for-sale financial
asset previously recognized in equity are transferred to the income
statement.

Assets recognized at amortized cost

If objective evidence exists that loans and receivables accounted
for at amortized cost are impaired, then the amount of the loss is
determined as the difference between the carrying amount of the
asset and the present value of the estimated future cash flows de-
riving from the asset, discounted at the original effective interest
rate. The carrying amount is either reduced directly or indirectly
using an allowance account. The amount of the loss is recognized
in profit or loss.

The Group first of all assesses whether objective evidence of im-
pairment exists for financial assets that are individually significant
and also assesses, for assets which are not individually significant,
whether such evidence exists that these are individually or collec-
tively impaired. If the Group determines that there is no objective
evidence of impairment of an asset, whether the asset is individu-
ally significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial
assets with similar default risk characteristics and collectively as-
sesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which a new impairment loss is recognized,
or for which an impairment loss continues to be recognized, are
not included in any collective assessment of impairment.

If the amount of the impairment loss decreases in a subsequent re-
porting period and the decrease can be objectively related to an
event that occurred after the impairment loss was recognized, then
the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed. The sub-
sequent reversal of the impairment loss is recognized in profit or
loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not
exceed its amortized cost at the date of reversal.

Non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether evidence ex-
ists that an asset is impaired. The carrying amount of items of
property, plant and equipment is reviewed for impairment when
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the asset is not recoverable. If any such indications
exist, or if an impairment test for the asset is required, then the
Group estimates the recoverable amount for the asset. An asset’s
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recoverable amount is the higher amount of the fair value of the
asset or a cash-generating unit less any costs to sell it and its value
in use. The recoverable amount must be determined for each in-
dividual asset unless the asset itself does not generate any cash
inflows that are largely independent of those generated by other
assets or groups of assets. If the carrying amount of the asset ex-
ceeds its recoverable amount, then an impairment loss is recorded
to reduce the value of the asset to its recoverable amount. In order
to determine an asset’s value in use, estimated future cash flows
deriving from the asset are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market interest ex-
pectations and the specific risks associated with the asset.

Impairment losses are recorded in the expense categories that re-
flect the function of the impaired asset.

At each reporting date, the Group reviews all assets other than
goodwill to check whether any indications exist that any impair-
ment loss recognized in an early reporting period is no longer
required or can be reduced. If such indications exist, then the re-
coverable amount of the asset is estimated. Any previously rec-
ognized impairment loss is only reversed if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recover-
able amount since the previous impairment loss was recognized.
If this is the case, then the carrying amount of the asset should be
adjusted to its higher recoverable amount. This higher amount may
not exceed the carrying amount of the asset that would have been
determined, net of accumulated depreciation or amortization, if
no impairment loss had been recognized in earlier years. Such re-
versal is recognized immediately in the income statement unless
the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the in-
crease is treated as a revaluation increase.

Goodwill

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least once per year. If events
or changes in circumstances indicate that an impairment loss may
need to be recognized, then a test is carried out more frequently.

Impairment is determined by determining the recoverable amount
attributable to the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill re-
lates. If the recoverable amount attributable to the cash-generat-
ing unit is less than the carrying amount, then an impairment loss
is recognized. Impairment losses on goodwill may not be reversed
in future periods. The Group carries out its annual impairment test
for goodwill as at September 30.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impair-
ment at least annually either individually or at the level of the cash-
generating units. These intangible assets are not amortized on a
scheduled basis.

Assets Held for Sale

Assets (or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities) which
are primarily designated for sale and not for continuing use are
classified as held for sale. Any impairment loss attributable to a
disposal group is first allocated to goodwill and then to other as-
sets and liabilities on a pro rata basis. However, no impairment
loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets and deferred tax
assets, which continue to be measured in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policies.

Pensions and Other Post-Employment Benefits

The companies within the Group have various pension schemes
set up in accordance with the regulations and practices of the
countries in which they operate. Additionally, in two countries
agreements exist to provide additional post-employment health-
care benefits. More than 90% of these benefits are unfunded.

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan
under the terms of which a company pays fixed contributions to
another entity and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay
further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contri-
bution plans are recognized as an employee benefit expense in
the income statement as they become due. Prepaid contributions
are recognized as assets to the extent that a cash refund or a re-
duction in future payments is applicable.

Defined benefit plans

Defined benefit plans comprise all pension plans other than de-
fined contribution plans. The Group’s net pension obligation with
respect to the defined benefit plans is calculated separately for
each plan by estimating the amount of future pension benefit en-
titlements that employees have earned in return for their service
in current and prior periods; the amount of this pension benefit is
discounted to its present value. Any unrecognized past service
costs and the fair value of any plan assets are deducted. The dis-
count rate is determined as the rate on the reporting date of AA-
rated bonds that have maturity dates that approximate to the
payment terms of the Group’s obligations and that are denomi-
nated in the same currency as the pension benefits are expected
to be paid. The computation is performed annually by a qualified
actuary using the projected unit credit method. If the computa-
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tion results in a gain, any recognized asset is limited to the sum of
all accumulated unrecognized actuarial losses, past service costs
and the present value of any future refunds from the plan or re-
ductions in future contributions to the plan. Actuarial gains and
losses are recognized as income or expense, if the net amount of
the cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and losses for each in-
dividual plan at the end of the previous reporting period exceed
the higher amount of 10% of the defined benefit obligation or 10%
of the fair value of the plan assets at that date. The gains or losses
are allocated over the expected average remaining period of ser-
vice of the employees included in the plan.

The past service cost is recognized as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the average period until the entitlement to the ben-
efits becomes vested. Inasmuch as the benefit entitlement
becomes vested upon introduction of, or at the time of changes to,
a pension plan, then the past service cost is recognized immedi-
ately in profit or loss.

Gains deriving from an amendment to a plan in the US are recog-
nized on a straight-line basis over the average remaining period of
service of the employees benefiting from the plan.

The amount of the liability to be recognized deriving from a de-
fined benefit plan comprises the present value of the defined ben-
efit obligation plus or minus actuarial gains or losses after
deduction of prior service costs not yet recognized, plus any un-
recognized gains deriving from amendments to the plan and minus
the fair value of plan assets out of which obligations are to be set-
tled directly.

Any pension-related interest is disclosed as part of the financial result.

Provisions

A provision is recognized if the Group has a current (legal or con-
structive) obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be re-
quired to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation. Inasmuch as the Group expects that
some or all of the recognized provision will be reimbursed (e.g. from
an insurance contract), then the amount to be reimbursed is only
recognized as an asset if the reimbursement is virtually certain. The
expense relating to the provision is recognized in the income state-
ment after deducting the amount of any reimbursement. If the effect
of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market expecta-
tions as regards the effect of the time value of money and, where ap-
plicable, the specific risks associated with the liability. Where

discounting takes place, the increase in the provision that results
from the passage of time is recognized as a finance expense.

Thus, the Group sets up provisions for probable and ongoing litiga-
tion cases, if the risks can be reasonably estimated. In making the
determination, legal advisory fees and settlement costs are consid-
ered. The probable amounts are determined for each individual liti-
gation case by reference to written documentation and cost
estimates for settlement of the litigation that are prepared by the
Group’s attorneys and provisions are set up accordingly. The provi-
sions are regularly reviewed for reasonableness and adjusted as
necessary.
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3. DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUE

Many of the Group’s accounting policies and note disclosure re-
quirements require that a fair value is determined for financial and
non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair value for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes has been determined using the meth-
ods described below. Where applicable, further information re-
garding the assumptions used to determine fair value is contained
in the notes specific to the particular asset or liability.

Derivatives

The fair value for an interest swap corresponds to the market price,
inasmuch as an active market exists. If no market price is avail-
able, then fair value is estimated by discounting the difference be-
tween the contractually agreed price and the current price for the
remaining term of the contract using a risk-free interest rate (based
on government bonds).

The fair value of a currency swap is based on listed market prices.
These prices are validated by discounting estimated cash flows
based on the individual contracts, using a market interest rate for
a similar instrument at the date of the validation.

Property, Plant and Equipment

The fair value for items of property, plant and equipment recog-
nized as a result of a business combination is based on market
values. The market value for real estate is based on the estimated
value at which the real estate could be sold on the day of meas-
urement under the presumption that this would represent a busi-
ness transaction between a willing buyer and a willing seller under
the terms of which both parties operate knowledgeably, prudently
and without compulsion and the transaction is preceded by ade-
quate marketing activities. The market values of items of plant,
equipment, fixtures and fittings are based on quoted prices for
similar items.

Intangible Assets

The fair value of recipes recognized as a result of a business com-
bination is based on discounted estimated royalty payments that
were avoided as a result of the recipe becoming owned. The fair
value of other intangible assets is based on the discounted cash
flows that are expected to derive from the use and eventual sale
of the asset.

Investments and Other Financial Liabilities

The fair value of investments that are traded on regulated financial
markets is determined by reference to the stock exchange quoted
market (bid) price. The fair value of investments for which no reg-

ulated market exists is derived by reference to the current market
price of comparable instruments or is calculated based on the
cash flows expected to derive from the underlying asset. The fair
value of financial liabilities determined for disclosure purposes is
calculated on the present value of future principal and interest pay-
ment cash flows which are discounted using an interest rate valid
at the balance sheet closing date.

4. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

It is management’s policy to maintain a strong capital base in order
to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain
the future development of the business. The Executive Board reg-
ularly monitors the ratio of net debt (including pension liabilities)
to EBITDA. The Executive Board also regularly monitors the level of
dividends paid to ordinary shareholders, for whom we aim to pro-
vide a level of dividend yield that justifies confidence in future busi-
ness results.

The Executive Board strives to maintain a balance between more
favorable weighted average capital costs (WACC) by taking up ad-
ditional borrowing and the advantages and security provided by a
solid equity base. This also applies to suitable acquisition oppor-
tunities that are made possible for the Group by virtue of solid fi-
nancing.

The average interest expense on interest-bearing loans was 4.8%
and the ratio of net debt to EBITDA was 3.2.

There was no change in the Group’s approach to capital manage-
ment during the reporting period. Neither the Company itself
nor its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.
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5. SEGMENT REPORTING

For the purpose of segment reporting, the activities and products
of the Group are grouped together into business divisions in which
the conditions governing market risks and opportunities are sub-
stantially the same.

As a result, Symrise maintains two business divisions: Flavor &
Nutrition, which develops, produces and sells flavors for bever-
ages, foods and pharmaceutical products; and Scent & Care,
which develops, produces and sells fragrances, scents and
cosmetic ingredients.

The Group makes separate disclosures below, as required under
IAS 14 for the divisions Flavor & Nutrition and Scent & Care (pri-
mary segments) and for geographical regions (secondary seg-
ments).

Geographical segment reporting is based on asset locations. Sales
to customers are reported in the geographical segment in which
the customer is located.
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PRIMARY SEGMENT - BUSINESS DIVISIONS

2007
Flavor & Scent & Non- Total

T€ Nutrition Care allocable divisions
Sales
External sales 603,208 671,250 0 1,274,458
Result
Operating result 97,140 98,597 -31 195,706
Share of associate’s loss 57
Financial result -55,501
Earnings before taxes 140,262
Income taxes -42,826
Result 97,436
Assets and liabilities
Segment assets 799,088 804,735 187,100 1,790,923
Segment liabilities 167,190 207,030 773,990 1,148,210
Other segment information
Investments including company acquisition

Property, plant and equipment 17,033 14,249 0 31,282

Intangible assets (excl. goodwill) 10,342 4,158 0 14,500

Goodwill 10,114 0 0 10,114
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment -18,239 -18,608 0 -36,847
Amortization of intangible assets -21,479 -17,741 0 -39,220
Income from write-ups/impairment losses recognized in
profit or loss for the period 1,560 229 0 1,789
Significant other noncash expenses -15,098 -17,713 0 -32,811
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2008
Flavor & Scent & Non- Total

T€ Nutrition Care  allocable divisions
Sales
External sales 648,084 671,778 0 1,319,862
Result
Operating result 92,128 94,828 0 186,956
Share of associate’s loss 0
Financial result -52,174
Earnings before taxes 134,782
Income taxes -44,396
Result 90,386
Assets and liabilities
Segment assets 892,947 899,895 97,837 1,890,679
Segment liabilities 167,562 181,764 892,958 1,242,284
Other segment information
Investments including company acquisition

Property, plant and equipment 21,567 20,916 0 42,483

Intangible assets (excl. goodwill) 42,160 49,368 0 91,528

Goodwill 0 0 45,169 45,169
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment -17,928 -18,126 0 -36,054
Amortization of intangible assets -21,972 -17,089 0 -39,061
Income from write-ups/impairment losses recognized in
profit or loss for the period 83 5,050 0 5,133
Significant other noncash expenses 16,622 18,138 0 34,760
The main noncash expenses include the increase in  recognition of liabilities (mainly personnel-related

provisions (mainly for pensions and restructuring) and the

liabilities).
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SECONDARY SEGMENT - GEOGRAPHICAL REGIONS

EAME* North Asia/ South Total
T€ America Pacific America
2007
Sales
Sales according to region 712,214 224,165 248,545 89,534 1,274,458
Other segment information
Segment assets 1,233,345 248,504 205,611 103,463 1,790,923
Investments (incl. acquisitions)
Property, plant and equipment 19,068 5,868 2,896 3,450 31,282
Intangible assets (excl. goodwill) 13,799 0 110 591 14,500
Goodwill 10,114 0 0 0 10,114
Research and development expenses 52,325 15,048 9,362 5,517 82,252
2008
Sales
Sales according to region 705,419 257,229 262,223 94,991 1,319,862
Other segment information
Segment assets 1,176,909 319,070 215,175 179,525 1,890,679
Investments (incl. acquisitions) 21,092 8,206 4,549 8,636 42,483
Property, plant and equipment 13,312 77,902 20 294 91,528
Intangible assets (excl. goodwill) 0 44,739 430 0 45,169
Research and development expenses 53,582 15,535 11,014 6,054 86,185

*Europe, Africa, Middle East
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6. CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

6.1.Sales Revenue

Sales revenue results mainly from the sale of products. For pres-
entation of sales by business division and geographical region, we
refer to the segment reporting information presented under note

5 above.

6.2.0ther Operating Income

T€ 2007 2008
Income from service units 1,236 2,433
Income from insurance compensation 193 1,880
Income from reversal of provisions

and other liabilities 8,094 1,816
Rental income 715 894
Reversal of valuation allowances

for receivables 0 424
Other income 3,990 2,834
Total 14,228 10,281

The presentation of prior year figures for other operating income
has been adjusted to improve comparability.

The total for remaining operating income is made up of many
individually immaterial items.

6.3.Personnel Expenses

The following personnel expenses are included in the income state-
ment:

T€ 2007 2008
Wages and salaries -224,886 -229,866
Social security charges -46,782 -46,640
Pension expense

(excluding interest expense) -10,424 -6,504
Performance-related remuneration -1,978 -549
Total -284,070 -283,559

The unwinding of discount on pension liabilities is included as a
component of the financial result under note 6.8 below.

As at December 31, 2008, the Group employed 5,219 (2007:
5,046) employees, distributed over the following functions:

Number 2007 2008
Manufacturing and technology 1,900 1,982
Sales and marketing 1,390 1,420
Research and development 901 964
Administration 409 409
Service entities 326 322
Trainees 120 122
Total 5,046 5,219

The average number employed by the Group was 5,152 (prior year:
4,957).

Success-based Remuneration (Long Term Incentive
Program and Strategic Share Bonus):

In 2008, expenses deriving from success-based remuneration
were allocated to the respective functions for which the related
managers had responsibility. In the year 2008, T€ 338 were in-
curred as administration expenses and T€ 211 as selling and mar-
keting expenses. Of these, T€ 466 are included as other current
liabilities and T€ 83 as other noncurrent liabilities.

Long Term Incentive Program

In a meeting dated May 14, 2007, the Supervisory Board, represented
by the Presidential Committee, resolved to introduce a long-term in-
centive program which came into effect on January 1, 2008.

The program is based on the “performance cash bonus” concept; i.e.
after expiration of the performance period of three years, the man-
agers that are entitled under the program receive a variable mone-
tary bonus depending upon achievement of defined performance
objectives and if the relevant conditions are complied with.

For the four members of the Executive Board, 70% of this perform-
ance cash bonus is based on the development of the share price and
30% is based on the so-called “Symrise Value Added.” A further eight
second level senior managers (so-called “regional presidents”) have
been included in the long-term incentive program. Their bonus enti-
tlement is based on the same performance criteria but with an equal
weighting (50% respectively) for the share price component and the
“Symrise Value Added” component.

A comparison will be made of the share price at the end of 2010
with the initial share price of € 17.93 as at January 1, 2008. The
terms include a minimum performance expectation of 20% and a
maximum share price limitation (cap). Measurement of the prob-
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ability of achieving these targets was made based on a “Black-
Scholes” formula using a share price of € 9.50 and an anticipated
volatility of 43.5%. A dividend yield is not factored into the required
performance of the share component.

The “Symrise Value Added” is a value-oriented assessment basis
which is calculated independently from the share price and which
comprises an absolute earnings value less an interest yield on cap-
ital employed. The cumulative target value for the three year period
of the plan is € 233.8 million.

The legally binding specifications for the long-term incentive pro-
gram are defined in the “Legal Terms and Conditions for Tranche
2008,” which was also approved by the Supervisory Board.

No other members of senior management have been included in
the program.

Strategic Share Bonus

With effect from January 1, 2008, the Executive Board launched a
global share-based bonus program for a total of 24 strategically
important employees and senior managers for the first time. For
all 24 of these employees, a monetary bonus has been defined.
55,905 virtual shares were “issued” based on a share price of €
20.39.

The cash payment is to be made at the end of a term of two years
(term to the end of 2009) based on the quoted average share price
for the last 20 trading days on the stock exchange. Thus, the bonus
is tied to the development of the share price. The fair value was
calculated at T€ 466 based on the closing share price of € 9.50 at
the balance sheet reporting date.

Any dividends were not considered in determining the fair value.

In order to retain the commitment of the strategically important
employees to the organization if the share price falls, a virtual
hedge was fixed for 50% of the share price relevant for bonus pur-
poses. Furthermore, to exclude non-performance-related share
price impacts, a maximum share price was fixed as being 200% of
the share price relevant for bonus purposes.

6.4. Selling and Marketing Expenses

In addition to the costs of the marketing departments and the field
sales forces, selling and marketing expenses include costs for ad-
vertising, logistics and commissions.

6.5. Research and Development Costs

In addition to the costs of research departments, this item also in-
cludes costs for external services and costs related to trials.
Activities in this area include basic research as well as develop-
ment of products to generate sales revenues and also develop-
ment of new or improved processes to reduce the cost of sales.
Information regarding allocation of research and development cost
by geographical region is available under the segment reporting
disclosures in note 5 above.

6.6. Administration Expenses

Administration expenses are made up as follows:

TE 2007 2008
Information technology -22,515 -21,291
Finance and financial controlling -18,830 -19,465
Human resources -9,653 -9,362
Other administration expenses -25,044 -23,699
Subtotal -76,042 -73,817
Performance-related remuneration -1,978 -338
Total -78,020 -74,155

6.7.0ther Operating Expenses
The increase in costs is mainly due to higher outlays for other ex-
ternal services.
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6.8.Financial Result

A reconciliation of the income tax expense to the tax expense de-
termined on the basis of local tax rates produces the following pic-

TE 2007 2008 ture for the fiscal years ending December 31, 2008 and 2007:
Interest income:

from bank deposits 1,004 653

from derivatives 5113 4,396 T€ 2007 2008
Other interest income 688 869 Group profit/(loss) before tax 140,262 134,782
Other finance income 119 152
Finance income 6,924 6,070 Tax expense/income calculated -48,450 -38,589
Interest expense on bank at local tax rates
loans and overdrafts -31,932 -32,122 Tax effect on tax-free income 1,084 252
Other interest expense -14,152 -15,001 Tax effect of nondeductible expenses -6,718 -2,845
Foreign currency losses/gains, Tax effect of adjustments on
primarily from external and internal deferred tax assets 4,027 -463
group-lending -14,534 -9,102 Effects from tax losses for which
Change in value of financial assets no deferred tax asset was set up -47 -18
on the basis of effective performance Taxes saved by the utilization of tax losses for
evaluation at fair value -1,397 -1,695 which no deferred tax asset was set up 117 3,754
Other financial expenses -410 -324 Effect from the change of tax rate 18,310 -32
Financial expenses -62,425 -58,244 Non-recoverable withholding tax -2,633 -257
Financial results -55,501 -52,174 Tax effect from prior periods -8,637 -5,848

Other tax effects 121 -350

Changes in the fair value measurement of derivative financial in-  Tax expense/income -42,826 -44,396

struments (interest swaps) impacted results by a total of € -1.7
million (2007: € -1.4 million).

Other interest expenses amounting to € -15.0 million (2007: € -

14.2 million) include unwinding of discount on pension liabilities
amounting to € 10.7 million (2007: € 9.9 million).

6.9.Income Taxes

T€ 2007 2008
Current tax expense -39,812 -33,949
Deferred tax income/expense:
from loss carry forward -33,290 -15,144
from temporary differences 30,276 4,697
Subtotal deferred tax -3,014 -10,447
Income tax expense -42,826 -44,396

The effect deriving from non-deductible expenses mainly derives
from interest expenses incurred in Germany and Singapore. In
2008, there was a significant reduction in this effect as compared
to the previous year because it was possible, to a large extent, to
avoid non-deductible interest expenses and also foreign exchange
impacts following a realignment of the financing arrangements for
the companies in Singapore.

The positive tax effect, arising from utilization of loss carry for-
wards for which no deferred tax asset was set up, mainly results
from France, where taxable income was earned through the sale
of real estate and equipment deriving from discontinued opera-
tions.

Additional tax payments relating to previous years, arising from tax
audits in some countries, increased the tax expense by € 5.2 million.

6.10. Depreciation and Amortization

Further information regarding amortization of intangible assets and
depreciation of property, plant and equipment is contained in the
schedules showing movements in noncurrent assets (see notes
8.10,8.11 and 8.12).
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7. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic undiluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the
profit for the year attributable to the holders of the parent com-
pany’s ordinary shares by the average number of ordinary shares

8.3.Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognized as assets or liabili-
ties at their fair value.

outstanding during the year. Face Value Fair value
2007 2008 2007 2008
No option or conversion rights were issued either in 2008 or 2007,  Financial instruments held
so that the diluted and basic undiluted results are identical. for trading
Interest rate swaps T€ 480,000 760,000 10,366 9,089
Interest rate swaps TUS$ 75,000 265,000 273  -8,117
2007 2008
Earnings per share in € 0.82 0.76
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares, in thousands 118,173 118,173 Carrying Carrying
Balance Sheet Presentation amount amount
TE 2007 2008
8. CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET Prepayments, other assets
and receivables current 1,251 0
8.1.Cash and Cash Equivalents Other assets noncurrent 9,301 0
Other current liabilities
(Point 8.17) 0 -503
T€ 2007 2008 Other noncurrent liabilities
Cash 78,991 68,664 (Point 8.18) 0 -14,859
Cash equivalents 259 196 Net receivables from derivatives
Cash and cash equivalents 79,250 68,860 and liabilities 10,552 -15,362

Bank balances in the Group’s key currencies earn interest at vari-
able rates of up to 7.0% (2007: between 3.0% and 6.0%). The car-
rying amounts for cash and cash equivalents correspond to their
fair value.

8.2.Trade Receivables

T€ 2007 2008
Trade receivables 218,625 224,007
Less: Provision for doubtful accounts -4,147 -2,321
Trade receivables, net 214,478 221,686

The risk of default for trade receivables is limited due to the large
number of customers and their widely diversified activities in dif-
ferent markets. In view of this, management believes that the risk
has been appropriately measured. Any allowances for bad debts
are mainly based on an individual assessment of the default risk.

The carrying amount of trade receivables corresponds to their fair
value.

Derivative financial instruments with a nominal value of € 380 mil-
lion (2007: € 100 million) and $ 90 million (2007: $ 75 million)
have a term to maturity of less than one year.

The nominal value of derivative financial instruments with a term
to maturity of between one and five years amounted to € 380 mil-
lion and $ 175 million (2007: € 531 million).

Cash Flow Hedges

The Group has designated cash flow hedges related to the hedg-
ing of interest risks. The hedged item consists of borrowings that
form part of an overall credit facility amounting to € 800 million,
which has a term until December 13, 2011.

As a result of contracted plain vanilla payer interest swaps, Sym-
rise is charged variable interest by its bank trading partner and
pays a fixed interest rate in return. This interest rate is fixed over
the term of the swap and eliminates the risk of fluctuating cash
flows, which would result from the variable interest bearing liabil-
ities that have been designated as the hedged item.
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The interest risk that is hedged is the interest risk deriving from
changes in the risk-free EURIBOR, or respectively LIBOR, reference
rate (excluding the credit spread).

The fair value of the interest hedges at the balance sheet report-
ing date amounted to €-15.3 million (2007: € 10.6 million). Thus,
the change for fiscal year 2008 amounted to € -25.9 million. Dur-
ing fiscal year 2008, net unrealized losses after tax deriving from
the measurement of derivatives amounting to € 17.2 million were
recognized in equity without impacting profit or loss.

The consolidated results for the year are stated after recognizing
net losses after tax of € 1.1 million deriving from the measure-
ment of derivative financial instruments that were classified as in-
effective hedges.

The terms of the interest hedges correspond to the terms of the
hedged items. As at December 31, 2008, Symrise held derivative
instruments with a maximum residual term of 36 months. The re-
lated hedging quota for the contracted interest hedges at the bal-
ance sheet date was 76% of liabilities designated in euros and 58%
of liabilities designated in $.

8.4.Prepayments, Other Assets and Receivables

T€ 2007 2008
Non-income taxes 14,777 18,962
Prepayments 7,706 8,531
Security, guarantee and

rental deposits 1,313 1,488
Loans to customers/employees 1,382 2,259
Derivative financial instruments 1,251 0
Other assets 3,017 4,660
Total 29,446 35,900

Non-income taxes mainly comprise value added tax.

The carrying amount of the other assets corresponds to their fair
value.

8.5.Inventories

T€ 2007 2008
Raw materials 87,304 96,318
Work in progress 66,206 67,094
Finished goods 97,277 106,180
Less: Impairment losses -11,046 -10,618
Total 239,741 258,974

Costs of materials amounting to € 547.2 million were recognized
in the income statement and are included in the cost of sales for
2008 (2007: € 499.9 million).

The impairment losses of € 10.6 million (2007: € 11.0 million) are
made up as follows: € 4.6 million (2007 € 5.1 million) for raw ma-
terials, € 1.6 million (2007: € 1.6 million) for work in progress and
€ 4.4 million (2007: € 4.3 million) for finished goods.

8.6.Assets Held for Sale

In accordance with IFRS 5, assets with a carrying amount of T€ 50
(2007: € 10.0 million) are classified as held for sale.

The measurement of assets held for sale in accordance with IFRS
5 did not result in any impairment-related losses in fiscal years
2008 and 2007. Fair values were derived from market prices and
appraisals.

Management expects that these assets will be sold off before the
end of 2009.
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2007 Land and Plant and Equipment Total

T€ buildings machinery

Carrying amount before reclassification as held for sale

France 8,378 16 6 8,400
Germany 164 0 0 164
Subtotal 8,542 16 6 8,564
Attributions 1,474 0 0 1,474
Total carrying amount 10,016 16 6 10,038
2008 Land and Plant and Equipment Total
T€ buildings machinery

Carrying amount before reclassification as held for sale

Germany 50 0 0 50
Total carrying amount 50 0 0 50

8.7.Deferred Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities deriving from temporary differ-
ences relate to the following items:

2007 2008

Assets Liabilities  + Income/ Assets Liabilities + Income/

T€ - Expenses - Expenses
Intangible assets 237 97,633 27,984 5,776 94,770 9,003
Property, plant and equipment 3,296 42,924 9,796 6,344 47,251 -1,370
Investments 0 5 3 0 16 -12
Inventories 6,187 1,267 1,344 7,427 1,992 552
Receivables 534 946 206 887 40 1,349
Other current assets 1,512 5,649 -338 1,172 5,574 -284
Pension provisions 10,547 174 -1,134 9,604 586 -1,451
Other provisions and accruals 5,172 711 9,192 3,929 244 -819
Other liabilities 1,924 2,995 1,607 12,776 9,412 -2,271
Loss carry-forwards 58,703 0 -33,290 44,568 0 -15,144
88,112 152,304 -3,014 92,484 159,885 -10,447

Set-off -42,900 -42,900 0 -48,093 -48,093 0
Total 45,212 109,404 -3,014 44,392 111,792 -10,447

In 2008, deferred tax expenses increased to € 10.4 million (2007:  the fact that the effects of the tax reform in Germany and the re-
€ 3.0 million) although it was possible to utilize tax loss carry-for-  sultant reduction in deferred tax liabilities provided relief for the de-
wards to a greater extent in 2007. This change is primarily due to  ferred tax expense in 2007.
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The deferred tax assets and liabilities include foreign cur-
rency translation effects amounting to € 0.2 million (2007:
€ 0.6 million). A deferred tax asset amounting to € 7.0 mil-
lion derived from interest hedges. In accordance with
hedge accounting requirements, the contra booking was
recognized directly in equity.

2007 2008
T€ Total  Not utilizable utilizable Total Not utilizable utilizable
One year 0 0 0 0 0 0
Two years 124 124 0 0 0 0
Three years 32 32 0 319 68 251
Four years 293 293 0 445 445 0
Five years or more 51,086 16,599 34,487 47,140 13,310 33,830
No expiry date 165,023 16,482 148,541 122,441 15,672 106,769
Total 216,558 33,530 183,028 170,345 29,495 140,850

In order to calculate the figures in the above table, the loss
carry-forward of those entities subject to two types of in-
come tax was determined using the combined tax rate,
taking the resulting deferred tax assets as a basis (where
applicable, before any adjustment for impairment).

Total corporate income tax loss carry-forwards amounted
to € 170.8 million (prior year: € 233.6 million). In addition,
tax loss carry-forwards of € 116.5 million (prior year: €
164.1) existed for other categories of income tax, prima-
rily for trade tax in Germany and US state tax.

Use of the tax loss carry-forwards, and thus the meas-
urement of corresponding deferred tax assets, is sup-
ported by tax planning.

In 2008, tax loss carry-forwards were utilized in Germany,
France and Mexico. Only a small amount of new tax loss
carry-forwards arose.

The expectation is that, despite legal restrictions, it will
continue to be possible to use tax loss carry-forwards in
Mexico (€ 18.9 million). The restriction of utilization pos-
sibilities was taken into account by making an allowance
for impairment of € 3.0 million (prior year: € 4.0 million)
against the related deferred tax assets.

Furthermore, the tax loss carry-forwards for US state
tax purposes were partially categorized as being not
utilizable as they result from the time prior to the busi-
ness combination and their use is restricted due to

local tax regulations. The corresponding impairment of
deferred tax assets amounted to € 1.1 million (prior year:
€ 0.9 million).

The high level of taxable income in France for 2008, which
mainly resulted from special factors, and the resultant re-
duction of the impairment allowance correction on the de-
ferred tax assets amounting to € 3.7 million had a positive
impact on the Group’s overall tax rate. Nevertheless, the
corporate tax losses in France continue to be partly cate-
gorized as not utilizable, as it cannot be assumed that they
can be fully offset against taxable income in the foresee-
able future. The corresponding correction for impairment
of deferred tax assets amounted to € 1.3 million (prior
year: € 5.0 million).

The calculation of foreign taxes is based on the legal reg-
ulations prevailing in the respective countries. The tax
rates for the individual companies vary from 15% to 42%,
excluding financing entities.

8.8. Other Noncurrent Assets and Receivables

TE 2007 2008
Derivative financial instruments 9,301 0
Security, guarantee and

rental deposits 1,239 1,393
Loans to customers/employees 976 707
Other receivables 243 795
Total 11,759 2,895
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The carrying amount of the other noncurrent assets and receiv-
ables corresponds to their fair value.

For further information regarding the development of derivative
financial instruments, we refer to notes 8.3 and 8.18.

8.9. Other Noncurrent Investments

Noncurrent investments comprise mainly fixed interest govern-
ment bonds, state bonds, bank bonds and share interests, as well
as shares in investment funds that have to be held in compliance
with legislative requirements for pension obligations in Austria.

8.10. Intangible Assets

2007

Goodwill Recipes” Recipes? Other intan- Other intan- Advance Total

with finite with gible assets?  gible assets® payments
useful life indefinite with finite  with indefinite

T€ useful life useful life useful life
Cost
As at January 1, 2007 447,307 485,342 63,990 30,435 11,202 7,199 1,045,475
Acquisition 10,114 2,500 0 1,131 0 0 13,745
Additions 0 2,686 0 1,996 0 6,187 10,869
Currency translation
differences -12,378 9,826 -928 -816 0 0 -23,948
Disposals 0 -226 0 -1,420 0 0 -1,646
Transfers 0 0 0 1,857 0 -1,857 0
As at December 31, 2007 445,043 480,476 63,062 33,183 11,202 11,529 W 1,044,495
Accumulated Amortiza-
tion/Impairment
As at January 1, 2007 -34,912 -199,789 0 -15,853 0 0 -250,554
Charges for the financial year 0 -35,414 0 -3,806 0 0 -39,220
Currency translation differences 1,794 4,443 0 569 0 0 6,806
Attributions 0 0 0 55 0 0 55
Disposals 0 11 0 1,420 0 0 1,431
As at December 31,2007 -33,118  -230,749 0 -17,615 0 0 -281,482
Carrying amounts
As at January 1, 2007 412,395 285,553 63,990 14,582 11,202 7,199 794,921
As at December 31, 2007 411,925 249,727 63,062 15,568 11,202 11,529 763,013
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2008

Goodwill Recipes” Recipes' Other intan- Other intan- Advance Total

with finite with gible assets? gible assets®) payments
useful life indefinite with finite  with indefinite

T€ useful life useful life useful life
Cost
As at January 1, 2008 445,043 480,476 63,062 33,183 11,202 11,529 1,044,495
Acquisition 44,740 74,917 0 2,714 0 0 122,371
Additions 434 0 0 6,788 0 7,110 14,332
Currency translation
differences -4,182 -152 -982 728 0 -5 -4,593
Disposals 0 0 0 -2,477 0 0 -2,477
Transfers 0 1,119 0 5,339 -4,443 -2,015 0
As at December 31, 2008 486,035 556,360 62,080 46,275 6,759 16,619 1,174,128
Accumulated Amortiza-
tion/Impairment
As at January 1, 2008 -33,118 -230,749 0 -17,615 0 0 -281,482
Charges for the financial year 0 -34,055 0 -5,006 0 0 -39,061
Currency translation differences -597 1,141 0 -337 0 0 207
Attributions 0 0 0 60 0 0 60
Disposals 0 0 0 2,411 0 0 2,411
As at December 31, 2008 -33,715 -263,663 0 -20,487 0 0 -317,865
Carrying amounts
As at January 1, 2008 411,925 249,727 63,062 15,568 11,202 11,529 763,013
As at December 31, 2008 452,320 292,697 62,080 25,788 6,759 16,619 856,263

) Recipes mainly consist of production formulas
2 Software, concessions and patents, development costs

In 2008, development expenses of € 7.7 million (2007: € 1.4 mil-
lion) were capitalized at cost; € 4.0 million of this amount derived
from our co-operation with Cambridge Theranostics Limited, Eng-
land. Thus, at the year end, the total of capitalized development
costs amounted to €10.7 million. The assets have been assessed
as having a finite useful life and they are being amortized on a
straight-line basis over a period of five years. All other intangible
assets with finite useful lives mainly comprise acquired software in-
cluding related internal implementation costs incurred.

Trademarks with a value of € 11.2 million, which are classified as
other intangible assets, were mainly recognized in connection with
a business combination which took place on October 1, 2002. In
fiscal year 2008, due to changes in the market environment, the
useful life of trademarks amounting to € 4.4 million was amended
from indefinite use to a period of use of 15 years.

3 Trademarks
4 See note 8.13

Recipes with finite useful lives are amortized over their estimated
useful life in accordance with their product life cycle, but not ex-
ceeding 20 years.

The recoverable amount of an asset is based on its calculated
value in use and is determined at the relevant cash-generating unit
level. In determining the value in use for the cash-generating unit,
future cash flows are estimated and are discounted using an in-
terest rate of 8.0% (prior year: 7.6%), representing the average cost
of capital on a post-tax basis.

In conformity with IFRS, goodwill is tested annually for impairment.
Based on the impairment test made as at September 30, 2008,
no impairment loss had to be recognized.
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Acquisitions of businesses amounting to € 122.4 million result
from the acquisition of the flavor business from Chr. Hansen and
of the fragrance businesses from Intercontinental Fragrances and
Manheimer Fragrances.

The amortization of recipes is allocated to production and is there-
fore included in the cost of sales. The amortization of other intan-
gible assets is allocated to the respective functional areas included
in the income statement.

8.11. Impairment Testing of Goodwill, Recipes and Trade-
marks with Indefinite Useful Lives

Goodwill arising through business combinations has been allo-

cated to the following two cash-generating units, which are tested

for impairment:

) Flavor & Nutrition
) Scent & Care

The recoverable amount of a business division is determined based
on the value in use as at September 30, 2008. Cash flow projec-
tions are based on the Group’s three year financial planning. A net
tax discounting factor of 8.0% (prior year: 7.6%) was used to dis-
count cash flow projections.

The carrying amount of goodwill as at September 30, 2008
amounted to € 309.3 million in the Flavor & Nutrition division and
€ 156.1 million in the Scent & Care division. As compared to the
balance sheet reporting date as at December 31, 2008, the esti-
mated goodwill recognized for the Manheimer acquisition was then
some € 10.6 million ($ 15.0 million) higher. Within the context of
a purchase price reduction made in December 2008, a corre-
spondingly lower goodwill was derived at the balance sheet re-
porting date.

As in the previous year, the total amount (€ 62.1 million) relating to
recipes with indefinite useful lives has been allocated to the Scent
& Care division. In this case, an impairment test was also carried
out as of September 30, 2008, at the level of the cash-generating
unit with the result that no impairment requirement was identified.

Trademarks with indefinite useful lives were also tested for impair-
ment as at September 30, 2008. No impairment was identified.

An impairment loss of € 35.7 million was recognized in 2003 with
respect to goodwill attributed to the Scent & Care division. The im-
pairment related to the former Aroma Chemicals business sector.

Key assumptions used in determining the
recoverable amount

The Group determined the value in use as the recoverable amount.

The key assumptions are described below which provided the basis
for management’s cash flow projections used in making the im-
pairment tests for goodwill, recipes and trademarks.

The value in use was calculated using the discounted cash flow
(DCF) method under which free cash flows are discounted using
the weighted average cost of capital (WACC).

The Group has calculated the cash flows of the individual divisions
during the period from 2008 to 2011 based on varying growth
rates. For 2009, the data used was based on the detailed budget
data for 2009, whereas for the years 2010 and 2011 a constant
growth rate of 4.5% was used for the Flavor & Nutrition division
and a constant growth rate of 3.5% was used for the Scent & Care
division. An overall growth rate of 0.5% was assumed for the year
2012.

The WACC comprises a risk-free interest rate of 4.8%, which is de-
rived from the interest rate on German federal government bonds,
and a market risk premium of 5.0%. The unlevered beta factor is
0.75 and the levered beta factor is 0.9. The estimated cost of eqg-
uity is 9.3% and the cost of debt is 6.3%.

The ICF and Manheimer acquisitions (see note 8.13) were included
in the impairment test as at September 30, 2008.

Applying the assumptions described above, the impairment test
carried out as at September 30, 2008, confirmed that there was
no impairment of either goodwill or recipes. The recoverable
amount was higher than the respective carrying amounts in both
business divisions.
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8.12. Property, Plant and Equipment

2007

Land and Plant and Equipment Advance Total
T€ buildings machinery payments
Cost
As at January 1, 2007 284,565 207,125 94,700 27,149 613,539
Acquisition 706 681 116 0 1,503
Additions 1,213 5,061 5,492 18,013 29,779
Currency translation differences -4,763 -5,038 -1,339 -629 -11,769
Disposals -2,485 -1,776 -2,249 977 -7,487
Transfers 2,765 9,119 3,661 -15,545 0
Transfers/IFRS 5 -283 0 0 0 -283
As at December 31, 2007 281,718 215,172 100,381 28,011 625,282
Accumulated
Depreciation/Impairment
As at January 1, 2007 -52,987 -106,818 -56,060 -823 -216,688
Charges for the financial year -9,941 -15,346 -11,516 -44 -36,847
Impairment losses -48 0 0 0 -48
Currency translation differences 1,143 2,426 686 36 4,291
Reversal of impairments 175 39 94 0 308
Disposals 798 1,405 1,987 831 5,021
Transfers 129 988 -1,117 0 0
Transfers/IFRS 5 119 0 0 0 119
As at December 31, 2007 -60,612 -117,306 -65,926 0 -243,844
Carrying amounts
As at January 1, 2007 231,578 100,307 38,640 26,326 396,851
As at December 31, 2007 221,106 97,866 34,455 28,011 381,438

) See note 8.13
2 Germany. See note 8.6

The column “Advance Payments” includes assets under
construction with an original acquisition and construction
cost of € 27.5 million.

Additions deriving from business combinations amounting
to € 1.5 million include the acquisitions of WWS Ltd. /
Steng Ingredients Ltd., Suffolk, Great Britain on February
28, 2007, and Aromatics SAS, France on July 31, 2007.
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2008

Land and Plant and Equipment Advance Total
T€ buildings ~ machinery payments
Cost
As at January 1, 2008 281,718 215,172 100,381 28,011 625,282
Acquisition 0 4,070 274 0 4,344
Additions 1,722 4,250 5,755 26,411 38,138
Currency translation differences -370 -1,617 -1,710 -193 -3,890
Disposals -759 -2,469 -4,400 -232 -7,860
Transfers 6,720 13,555 5,538 -25,813 0
Transfers/IFRS 5 212 0 0 0 212
As at December 31, 2008 289,243 232,961 105,838 28,184 656,226
Accumulated
Depreciation/Impairment
As at January 1, 2008 -60,612 -117,306 -65,926 0 -243,844
Charges for the financial year -9,961 -16,217 -9,876 0 -36,054
Unscheduled depreciation -18 0 0 0 -18
Effects of exchange rate changes -314 212 948 11 857
Reversal of impairments 1,358 3,499 0 256 5,113
Disposals 269 1,906 4,057 0 6,232
Transfers 0 -50 50 0 0
Transfers/IFRS 5 -98 0 0 0 -98
As at December 31, 2008 -69,376  -127,956 -70,747 267 -267,812
Carrying amounts
As at January 1, 2008 221,106 97,866 34,455 28,011 381,438
As at December 31, 2008 219,867 105,005 35,091 28,451 388,414

1 See Note 8.13

A impairment loss of € 5.0 million that had been recognized in
profit or loss in previous years with respect to equipment at our
American plant in Bushy Park (Scent & Care segment) was re-
versed in the period reported. The reversal of the impairment loss
is included as part of cost of sales and resulted in a positive impact
after depreciation of € 4.7 million.

The gross amount disclosed in the column “Advance Payments” in-
cludes € 27.9 million of assets under construction at their original
cost of acquisition or construction.

Additions deriving from business combinations amounting to € 4.3
million derive from the acquisitions of the flavor business of
Chr. Hansen on April 25, 2008, and Intercontinental Fragrances on
September 3, 2008.
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8.13. Acquisitions

Cambridge Theranostics Ltd.

In December 2007, we agreed on a co-operation with Cambridge
Theranostics Ltd. A payment of € 2.0 million made in January 2008
is reported in the cash flow statement as a payment for financial
assets.

Acquisition of Chr. Hansen’s Flavor Business

We acquired the flavor business of the Danish producer
Chr. Hansen on April 25, 2008 for an amount of $ 110.0 million
(€ 71.9 million). The acquisition comprised the flavor business
areas: Seasonings, Sweet, Savory, Dairy and Confectionary. The
fair values attributed to identifiable assets at the date of the ac-
quisition were:

2008
T€ Fair value
Recipes 32,703
Trademark Co-Existence agreement 769
Competition ban 1,796
Equipment 3,901
Inventories 6,603
Net identifiable assets and liabilities 45,772
Goodwill arising on acquisition 26,115
Cost of acquisition/Cash outflow 71,887

From the acquisition date on April 25, 2008, onwards, the flavor
business contributed sales revenue of € 30.6 million ($ 45.0 mil-
lion) and an EBIT of € -2.8 million ($ -4.1 million, including amor-
tization of recipes) to the Group. The EBIT includes restructuring
costs of € 5.1 million ($ 7.6 million). If an assumption is made that
the acquisition had taken place on January 1, 2008, then the prob-
able contribution would have been € 45.8 million ($ 67.5 million)
to the Group’s sales revenue and €-1.5 million ($ -2.3 million) to
the Group’s EBIT. A sales revenue forecast for 2009 is no longer
possible as the flavor business of Chr. Hansen was fully integrated
at the year end.

As well as adding further production sites, the acquisition in-
creased our sales and marketing capabilities through the addition
of qualified employees. Particularly in the Seasoning, Dairy and
Confectionary areas, we were able to acquire customer-specific
recipes and, as a consequence, to expand our technological ca-
pability as well as increase our range of customers. The acquisition
opens up long-term growth possibilities.

Therapeutic Peptides Inc. (TPI)

In July 2008, Symrise acquired a 20% interest in Therapeutic Pep-
tides Inc., Baton Rouge, US, for an amount of $ 2.3 million (€ 1.6
million). A provisional purchase price allocation was made in ac-
cordance with IFRS 3 as at December 31, 2008. The provisional
unaudited financial statements as at December 31, 2008 disclose
total assets of T€ 709 ($ 1.0 million) and liabilities of T€ 310 (T$
439). Sales revenue for fiscal year 2008 was T€ 667 (T$ 983), pro-
ducing a result for the period of T€ -159 (T$ -234).

Acquisition of Intercontinental Fragrances (ICF)

Symrise acquired the fragrance business of the American fragrance
producer Intercontinental Fragrances on September 3, 2008, for
€ 15.1 million ($ 21.4 million). A provisional purchase price
allocation was made in accordance with IFRS 3 as at December
31, 2008. The purchase price was allocated to inventories (€ 1.1
million / $ 1.6 million), property, plant and equipment (€ 0.2 mil-
lion / $ 0.3 million), recipes (€ 8.2 million / $ 11.5 million) and
goodwill (€ 5.6 million / $ 8.0 million).

From the acquisition date on September 3, 2008, onwards, Inter-
continental Fragrances contributed sales revenue of € 3.2 million
($ 4.7 million) to the Group and generated an EBIT of T€ -389 (T$
-573, including amortization of recipes). The EBIT includes re-
structuring costs of T€ 287 (T$ 423). Due to the short period of
membership in the Group, it has not been possible to disclose es-
timates of the sales revenue and EBIT contribution that would have
been made if the acquisition had been made on January 1, 2008.
Sales revenue of € 10.9 million is expected for 2009.

Acquisition of Manheimer Fragrances

Symrise acquired the fragrance business of the American fra-
grance producer Manheimer Fragrance on November 6, 2008, for
€ 50.3 million ($ 70.7 million). A provisional purchase price allo-
cation was made in accordance with IFRS 3 as at December 31,
2008. The purchase price was allocated to inventories (€ 3.5 mil-
lion / $ 5.0 million), recipes (€ 33.8 million / $ 47.8 million) and
goodwill (€ 13.0 million / $ 17.8 million).

From the acquisition date on November 6, 2008, onwards, Man-
heimer Fragrances contributed sales revenue of € 1.8 million ($
2.6 million) and an EBIT of € -1.1 million ($ -1.6 million, including
amortization of recipes) to the Group. The EBIT includes
restructuring costs of T€ 811. Due to the short period of mem-
bership in the Group, it has not been possible to disclose estimates
of the sales revenue and EBIT contribution that would have been
made if the acquisition had been made on January 1, 2008. Sales
revenue of €21.8 million is expected for 2009.

Notes

/
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The acquisitions of Intercontinental Fragrances and Manheimer
Fragrances make it possible for Symrise to strengthen its position

in the US market, particularly in the Air Fragrances area.

8.14. Trade Payables

As in the previous year, trade payables are all due within one year.

8.15. Provisions

2008

Environ- Restruc- Other Total
T€ mental turing
As at January 1, 2008 199 3,592 298 4,089
Utilized during the year -140 -2,401 -21 -2,562
Reversals -59 -78 0 -137
Additional provisions 0 408 45 453

0 1,521 322 1,843

Currency translation
differences 0 -83 50 -33
As at December 31,2008 0 1,438 372 1,810
Thereof:
Current 0 1,344 372 1,716
Noncurrent 0 94 0 94
Total 0 1,438 372 1,810

Restructuring Provisions

The Group has continued the project “Fit for Growth,” which in-
volves a number of restructuring measures that are designed to
make the Group’s organization leaner and more efficient and which
aim to reduce the activities of the Group to its core areas of com-

petence.

8.16. Current Borrowings

T€ 2007 2008
Bank borrowings 174,931 345,928
Interest accruals 411 293
Other financial liabilities 1,353 1,425
Total 176,695 347,646
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Current bank borrowings are not secured and are attributable to:

2007

Installments/ Nominal Carrying
Borrowings Maturity date value amount Nominal interest rate
T€
Symrise GmbH & Co. KG
Senior Facility - Term B March 2008 40,000 39,559 Euribor  +0,5% 5,27%
Senior Facility - Term A - EUR Dec. 13, 2008 11,700 11,614 Euribor  +0,5% 5,27%
Senior Facility - Term A - US$ Dec. 13, 2008 6,800 6,759 Libor +0,5% 5,35%
Symrise Luxembourg S.a.r.l., Luxemburg
Senior Facility - Term B March 2008 33,000 32,820 Euribor  +0,5% 5,27%
Senior Facility - Term A - EUR Dec. 13, 2008 11,000 10,920 Euribor  +0,5% 5,27%
Symrise Mauritius Ltd., Mauritius
Mauritius Senior Facility - Term B March 2008 55,000 54,700 Euribor  +0,5% 5,27%
Senior Facility - Term A - EUR Dec. 13, 2008 13,000 12,904 Euribor  +0,5% 5,27%
Symrise Holding Ltd., UK
Senior Facility - Term A - EUR Dec. 13, 2008 2,300 2,267 Euribor  +0,5% 5,27%
Symrise Holding Inc., USA
Senior Facility - Term A - US$ Dec. 183, 2008 3,398 3,213 Libor +0,5% 5,35%
Aromatics SAS, Frankreich Credit line
Bank overdrafts 175 175 16,0% 16,0%
Total 176,373 174,931

—

2008

Installments/ Nominal Carrying
Borrowings Maturity date value amount Nominal interest rate @
T€ B
Symrise GmbH & Co. KG =z
Senior Facility - Term B - EUR January 2009 125,000 125,000 Euribor  +0,5% 3,244%
Senior Facility - Term B - US$ January 2009 116,501 116,501 Libor +0,5%  0,97225%
Senior Facility - Term A - EUR Dec. 13, 2008 57,000 56,816 Euribor  +0,5% 3,244%
Senior Facility - Term A - US$ Dec. 13, 2008 15,886 15,609 Libor +0,5%  0,97225% ~
Symrise Luxembourg S.a.r.l., Luxemburg
Senior Facility - Term B - EUR January 2009 33,000 32,002 Euribor  +0,5% 3,244%
Total 347,387 345,928
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The current bank borrowings deriving from the Senior Facility -
Term B, amounting to € 273.5 million (2007: € 127.1 million) re-
late to borrowings available to the Group under the terms of a re-
volving credit arrangement of € 300.0 million that is available until
December 31, 2011.

For further information on the short term loan of € 72.4 million
deriving from the Senior Facility - Term A, we refer to note 8.20.

As at December 31, 2008, Symrise had an unutilized line of credit
available amounting to € 44.1 million (2007: € 172.0 million).

Bank borrowings with a nominal value of € 132.4 million (2007:
€10.4 million) are designated in $ 187.5 million (2007: $ 15.0 mil-
lion).

Due to the variable interest rates and the related payment obligations, it can

be assumed that the carrying amounts for all borrowings correspond to
their fair value at the balance sheet reporting date.

8.17. Other Current Liabilities

T€ Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31,2008
Taxes on wages and social security 19,607 6,005
Outstanding invoices 19,728 13,056
Purchase price adjustment 0 709
Liabilities to personnel 35,881 23,520
Performance-related remuneration 2,015 466
Other taxes 0 4,575
Miscellaneous other liabilities 25,332 19,255
Total 102,563 67,586

The purchase price adjustment amounting to T€ 709 relates to the
acquisition of Intercontinental Fragrances and was set up within
the context of the provisional purchase price allocation for obliga-
tions that are linked to particular conditions.

The reduction in payroll taxes is related to payments made from
the Management Participation Program in the previous year.

Liabilities to personnel primarily relate to bonus liabilities already
earned but not yet paid out to employees as well as liabilities arising
from vacation yet to be taken and from accrued flextime credits.

Miscellaneous other liabilities mainly relate to wages and salaries,
social security contributions, value added tax and other taxes as
well as to short-term derivative financial instruments (note 8.3)
and remaining purchase price obligations deriving from the acqui-
sitions of Kaden Biochemicals GmbH (€ 1.2 million), Aromatics
SAS (T€ 300) and Steng Ingredients Ltd (T€ 193) that were made
in previous years.

8.18. Other Noncurrent Liabilities

T€ Dec. 31, 2007 W Dec. 31,2008
Liabilities to personnel 7,967 9,105
Derivative financial instruments - 0 14,859
Miscellaneous other liabilities 8,704 3,704
Total 16,671 27,668

Liabilities to Personnel
Liabilities to personnel mainly relate to provisions for long-service
awards, phased early retirement and other personnel costs.

Miscellaneous Other Liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities amounting to T€ 284 resulted from the acqui-
sition of Aromatics SAS (for disclosures relating to the current por-
tion, we refer to note 8.17).

8.19. Defined Benefit Obligations

Individual Group companies have established pension plans that
are either financed by themselves directly by the recognition of
provisions or by making contributions to external investment fund
companies. The manner in which these benefits are provided to
employees varies depending on the legal regulations and the fis-
cal and economic environments of the respective countries in-
volved. In addition, in some countries, the Group has agreed to
provide certain additional post-employment healthcare benefits to
its employees. Retirement benefits and healthcare benefits are
generally measured based on the wages or salary of the employ-
ees and their respective years of service. The obligations relate to
both existing retirees and also to entitlements of future retirees.
With the exception of pension-related interest costs, current ex-
penses for the fiscal year are included in the Group’s operating result.

The active participation of employees of the former Haarmann &
Reimer GmbH, Germany in the Bayer AG pension fund was termi-
nated with effect from March 31, 2003. The employees of Haar-
mann & Reimer GmbH who had already acquired vested pension
rights as of this date automatically became passive members of
the pension fund.
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A new pension plan was established in Germany covering all Sym-
rise employees on equal terms. In addition, the former Haarmann
& Reimer employees have been guaranteed that their benefits will
continue at the same level that existed before the business com-
bination took place.

Liabilities deriving from defined benefit obligations:

T€ 2007 2008
Defined benefit obligation, unfunded 176,302 177,264
Defined benefit obligation, funded 24,266 26,719
Total value of obligations 200,568 203,983
Fair value of plan assets -20,613 -19,593
Unrecognized plan amendment gain 6,311 5,923
Unrecognized actuarial gains/losses 29 2,433
Unrecognized past service costs 0 -824
Recognized liability for defined benefit obligations 186,295 191,922
Payment liability management participation program 2,015 0
Total employee benefit 188,310 191,922
The liabilities for defined benefit obligations relate particularly to Germany in the
amount of € 153.9 million, to the US in the amount of € 27.4 million and to Austria
in the amount of € 9.2 million.
The pension expense is made up as follows:
2007 Defined Post-employment Total 2008 Defined Post-employment Total
Group healthcare pension Group healthcare pension
benefied benefits, USA plans of benefied benefits, USA plans of
T€ plans the Group T€ plans the Group
Current service cost 11,685 199 11,884 Current service cost 8,032 189 8,221
Past service cost 94 0 94 Past service cost 104 0 104
Interest expense 9,396 466 9,862 Interest expense 10,267 446 10,713
Expected return Expected return
on plan assets -1,189 0 -1,189 on plan assets -1,215 0 -1,215
Scheduled US plan 0 -648 -648 Scheduled US plan 0 -606 -606
Actuarial losses 283 0 283 Actuarial losses 98 0 98
Expenses for retirement Employee contributions -98 0 -98
benefits 20,269 17 20,286 Expenses for retirement
Actual return on benefits 17,188 29 17,217
plan assets 298 0 298 Actual expenses
from plan assets 3,556 0 3,556
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The present value of the vested rights has developed as follows: The fair values of the main groups of plan assets amount to:

T€ 2007 2008
Projected benefit obligation at January 1 219,383 200,568 Plan USA Plan Japan [ Plan USA Plan Japan
Currency translation differences -3,644 1,700 T€ 2007 2007 2008 2008
Current service cost 11,974 8,221 Debt securities 7,070 1,460 6,865 1,764
Interest expense 9,862 10,713 Equity instruments 7,175 1,783 5,527 1,303
Gains deriving from plan change -707 -146
Additions of a new scheme 3,106 0 The actuarial assumptions and valuations are based on the fol-
Actuary gains -28,640 -6,644 lowing parameters that differ from country to country, due to vari-
Benefits paid by the plan -10,766 -10,429 ations in their economic situations:
Anwartschaftsbarwert am 31. Dezember 200,568 203,983
Parameter Parameter
% 2007 2008
The pension expenses are recognized under the following line  Discount rate
items in the income statement: Germany 5.35 6.20
USA 6.50 6.00
T€ 2007 2008 Other countries vary from 2.00 to 6.00 1.50 to 6.05
Cost of sales 4,409 2,622
Selling and marketing expenses 3,461 1,494 Projected return on plan assets
Research and development expenses 1,813 1,415 Germany n.a. n.a.
Administration expenses 741 973 USA 7.00 7.00
Total 10,424 6,504 Other countries (Japan only) 2.10 3.00 to 7.50
Salary increases
The fair value of the plan assets developed as follows: Germany 1.90 2.50
USA 4.25 4.25
T€ 2007 2008 Other countries vary from 1.50 to 5.00 1.50 to 8.00
Fair value of plan assets at January 1 18,681 20,613
Contributions paid into the plan 2,563 2,338 Pension increase
Benefits paid by the plan -2,218 -1,408 Germany 1.90 2.25
Expected return on plan assets 1,189 1,215
Actuary losses (-)/gains (+) -217 -4,771 Medical cost trend rate USA 9.00 l 9.00
Additions of a new scheme 2,454 0
Currency translation differences -1,839 1,606
Fair value of plan assets at December 31 20,613 19,593 A 1% change in the assumption made for cost trends for healthcare

benefits would have the following effect:

The experience adjustments to plan assets in the US in 2008 amounted to € -3.9
million (2007: TE-50). In Japan, the experience adjustments to plan assets in 2008

amounted to €-1.0 million (2007: T€ -168). Compensating impacts resulted from Increase  Decrease Increase Decrease
experience adjustments to plan assets in Switzerland and India. T€ 2007 2007 2008 2008
Effect on defined benefit
obligation 361 324 384 344
Effect on service cost 39 35 40 36
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The entity in the US provides healthcare benefits to its employees.
The costs are determined based on the assumption that the cost
trend for 2009 and 2010 remains unchanged at 9% (2007: 9%) and
then falls by 2% every two years until it reaches a minimum level
of 5%, which is expected to be applicable in 2013 and later years.

The pension liability has changed as follows:

Historical information:

The Group made statutory and other retirement benefit contribu-
tions amounting to € 10.0 million (2007: € 10.3 million). Of this
amount, the share attributable to German companies amounted
to € 9.9 million. These contributions were classified as being to
defined contribution plans.

T€ 2004| 2005 2006 2007 2008
2007 Present value of
Defined Post-employment Total defined benefit
benefit plans healthcare pension obligation 183,221|217,017/219,383|200,567 @ 204,449
of the Group benefits, USA plans of Fair value of
T€ the Group plan assets -15,691|-17,126 | -18,681| -20,613 -19,593
Liability Deficit in plan 167,530(199,891/200,702|179,954 W 184,856
Liability as benefit Experience
obligation as at January 1 163,822 16,642 180,464 adjustments
Exchange gains/losses -793 -1,724 -2,517 arising on
Pension expense 20,269 17 20,286 plan liabilities
Employer contributions -2,123 -349 -2,472 (Germany) n.a. na. -1,334 -3,074 4,502
Benefit payments -8,548 0 -8,548 Experience
Disposal USA 918 0 918 adjustments
Pension liability as at arising on
December 31 171,709 14,586 186,295 plan assets n.a. n.a. 420 -217 -4,771
In 2009, the Group expects contributions of T€ 225 into the
2008 funded defined benefit plans.
Defined Post-employment Total
benefit plans healthcare pension The experience adjustments to liabilities arising from defined
of the Group benefits, USA plans of benefit plan obligations for Germany amounted to € 4.5 million
T€ the Group (actuarial loss) (2007: € 3.1 million actuarial gain).
Liability
Liability as benefit
obligation as at January 1 171,709 14,586 186,295
Exchange gains/losses -382 545 163
Pension expense 17,189 28 17,217
Employer contributions -1,841 -400 -2,241
Benefit payments -9,020 0 -9,020
Disposal USA -492 0 -492
Pension liability as at
December 31 177,163 14,759 191,922

All significant pension obligations are measured using annual

actuarial valuation appraisals.
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8.20. Noncurrent Borrowings
Noncurrent borrowings are made up as follows:

T€ 2007 2008
Bank borrowings 430,625 362,792
Interest accruals 11 0
Other financial liabilities 1,331 0
Total 431,967 362,792

Bank borrowings (nominal value) include amounts designated in
foreign currencies ($) in the amount of € 79.4 million (2007:
€ 91.8 million).

The differences between the carrying amounts and the nominal

amounts for bank borrowings, deriving from unamortized transac-
tion costs, amounted to €1.6 million (2007: € 3.2 million).

BORROWINGS 2007

T€ Due on Nominal value Carrying amount Nominal interest rate
Symrise GmbH & Co. KG, Holzminden

Senior Facility - Term A - EUR Dec. 13, 2011 105,300 104,526 Euribor  +0,5% 5,27%
Senior Facility - Term A - US$ Dec. 13, 2011 61,190 60,757 Libor +0,5% 5,35%
Symrise Luxembourg S.a.r.l.,, Luxemburg

Senior Facility - Term A - EUR Dec. 13, 2011 99,000 98,272 Libor +0,5% 5,27%
Symrise Mauritius Ltd., Mauritius

Senior Facility - Term A - EUR Dec. 13, 2011 117,000 116,044 Euribor  +0,5% 5,27%
Symrise Holding Ltd., UK

Senior Facility - Term A - EUR Dec. 13, 2011 20,700 20,526 Euribor  +0,5% 5,27%
Symrise Holding Inc., USA

Senior Facility - Term A - US$ Dec. 13, 2011 30,597 30,500 Euribor  +0,5% 5,27%
Total 433,787 430,625

BORROWINGS 2008

T€ Due on Nominal value Carrying amount Nominal interest rate
Symrise GmbH & Co. KG, Holzminden

Senior Facility - Term A - EUR Dec. 13, 2011 152,000 151,314 Euribor +0,5% 3,244%
Senior Facility - Term A - US$ Dec. 13, 2011 79,432 79,078 Libor +0,5% 0,97225%
Symrise Luxembourg S.a.r.l.,, Luxemburg

Senior Facility - Term A - EUR Dec. 13, 2011 110,000 109,504 Euribor +0,5% 3,244%
Symrise Holding Ltd., UK

Senior Facility - Term A - EUR Dec. 13, 2011 23,000 22,896 Euribor +0,5% 3,244%
Total 364,432 362,792

Due to the variable interest rates and the related payment
obligations, it can be assumed that the carrying amounts for all

borrowings correspond to their fair value at the balance sheet re-

porting date.
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Repayment of Bank Borrowings
The Senior Facility Term A is repayable in the period from 2009 to
2011 in the following installments:

2009 2010 2011
15% 15% 60%

10% of the Senior Facility Term A has already been repaid in 2008,
as scheduled. The next installment of 15% due in 2009 has been
classified under current borrowings (note 8.16).

The basis for the computation of the repayment installments is the
nominal amount of the borrowings considering usage in the re-
spective currency. The amount comprises a) a component de-
nominated in euros amounting to € 380.0 million; and b) a
component denominated in $ amounting to $ 150.0 million. The
exchange rate used for currency translation of the Senior Facility
Term A was 1.4163 $/€.

Securities

The total nominal amount of the above-mentioned credit agree-
ments is € 800.0 million, of which amounts of € 500.0 million and
$ 300.0 were drawn upon as at December 31, 2008. The loans
are measured at amortized cost and are disclosed as a current
component and a noncurrent component in accordance with the
terms to maturity. As a consequence, the Group had unutilized
credit lines available at December 31, 2008 amounting to € 44.1
million (prior year: € 172.0 million). We refer to the disclosures in
note 8.16.

Symrise has agreed financial covenants with the financing banks
to comply with agreed limits to the following key ratios:

a) EBITDA/net interest expense
b) Net debt/EBITDA.

These key ratios are monitored on a quarterly basis.

8.21. Contingent Liabilities and

Other Financial Commitments
As at December 31, 2008, the Group had the following contingent
liabilities and other financial commitments:

Operating Leases

Payment commitments derive from non-cancelable operating
lease agreements mainly entered into for motor vehicles and build-
ings. Some of the agreements contain renewal options or escala-
tion clauses but do not include purchase options. The aggregate
net future cash outflows are phased as follows:

Minimum Operating Net Net

operating sublease operating [ operating

lease pay- payments lease lease

ments receivable payments Q§ payments

T€ 2008 2008 2008 2007

In the fiscal year 9,660 -324 9,336 8,349

Due next year 9,764 -116 9,648 7,967

Due in two years 7,924 -44 7,880 5,933

Due in three years 5,188 0 5,188 4,239

Due in four years 3,912 0 3,912 2,934

Due in five years 3,091 0 3,091 2,385
Due in six years

or thereafter 6,294 0 6,294 10,672

Total 45,833 -484 45,349 42,479

Insurance and Endorsement of Bills

As at December 31, 2008, commitments and contingent liabilities
amounting to T€ 239 (2207: T€ 22) derived from the issue and en-
dorsement of trade and commercial bills.

Other Commitments

As at December 31, 2008, the group had commitments of € 7.1
million (2007: € 4.7 million) for the purchase of property, plant
and equipment. These mainly related to production equipment.
Further commitments of € 31.7 million (2007: € 38.7 million) de-
rived from open contracts for other assets and services.

With effect from February 1, 2006, Symrise GmbH & Co. KG en-
tered into a service agreement with Atos Origin GmbH to out-
source its internal information technology functions for a term of
ten years. The fees payable reduce successively over the term of
the agreement from € 12.1 million in 2008 to € 10.8 million
in 2015. The total remaining obligation to Atos amounts to
€ 92.2 million.

Notes

/
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On March 30, 2007, Symrise GmbH & Co. KG signed two research
and development agreements, each with a term of three years and
total costs of € 3.8 million. These agreements became effective on
April 1, 2007. The two partners to the contracts are AnalytiCon
Discovery GmbH (Potsdam) and BRAIN Biotechnology Research
and Information Network AG (Zwingenberg). As at December 31,
2008, the total residual commitment arising from these agree-
ments was € 1.6 million.

Claims for damages were made against Symrise during 2008 with
respect to defective products; the claims have not yet been
brought to court. In view of the uncertainty relating to the actual
commencement of litigation proceedings and the related chance
of success, it is not possible at present to estimate the potential
financial impact. Furthermore, it is possible that any potential
legally binding claim may be recoverable through insurance.

Contingent Assets
As in the previous year, there were no contingent assets at
December 31, 2008.

8.22. Share Capital

During 2008, the subscribed capital of Symrise AG remained un-
changed. The total number of shares is 118,173,300, each of which has
a nominal value of € 1.00. No capital contributions were outstanding.

Authorized Capital

On December 1, 2006, an extraordinary general meeting of the
shareholders authorized the Executive Board to increase the Com-
pany’s capital stock, with the consent of the Supervisory Board, by
up to € 40.0 million in one or more issues of new non-par value
bearer shares up until October 31, 2011. In this connection, the
participation rights for the new shares may be determined in
deviation from Section 60 AktG [“Aktiengesetz”: German Stock
Corporation Act].

Existing shareholders are to be granted a subscription right. How-
ever, the Executive Board may exclude this subscription right, with
the approval of the Supervisory Board, in the following circum-
stances:

1.In the case of capital increases in return for non-cash contribu-
tions in kind for the purpose of acquiring companies or share in-
terests in companies.

2.Inasmuch as this is necessary, in order to grant holders of war-
rants and convertible bonds issued by Symrise AG or its sub-
sidiaries a right to subscribe to new shares to the extent that

they would be entitled to such a right when exercising the war-
rants or options or when meeting obligations arising from the
warrants or options.

3. To offset fractional amounts arising as a result of a capital in-
crease in return for cash contributions.

4.In order to issue new shares at an issue price that is not sub-
stantially less than the market price of shares already quoted
on the stock exchange at the date the issue price is finally de-
termined, whereby within the context of restricting this author-
ization to a total of 10% of the capital stock, those shares are to
be set off for which the subscription right of the shareholders in
application of Section 186 (3) Sentence 4 AktG is excluded
upon use of the authorization to sell treasury stock and upon
use of the authorization to issue conversion options or warrants.

8.23. Capital and Other Reserves
The capital reserve remained unchanged in 2008.

9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Default Risk

Items for Which There Is a Risk of Default

The financial instruments classified in accordance with IAS 39 are
as follows:

T€ 2007 2008
Assets

Trade receivables 214,478 221,686
Other assets and receivables 6,265 9,463
Loans and receivables 220,743 231,149
Financial assets available for sale 4,583 2,261
Financial instruments stated

as fair value 9,301 0
Liabilities

Trade payables 72,424 82,170
Borrowings 608,662 710,438
Sundry liabilities 7,061 22,962
Financial liabilities stated

at amortized costs 688,147 815,570
Financial instruments stated

as fair value 0 15,362
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The following table shows amounts recognized in the income

statement:

T€ 2007 2008

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss (Interest hedges) 5,232 4,548

Loans and receivables

(Impairment allowances) -4,147 -2,321
1,085 2,227

Credit Risk

The carrying amount of financial assets reflects their maximum
exposure to credit risk. At the reporting date, the following items

were exposed to credit risk:

T€ 2007 2008

Financial assets available for sale 2,605 2,261

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss 9,301 0

Loans and receivables 220,743 231,149

Cash and cash equivalents 79,250 68,860
311,899 302,270

The maximum credit risk for loans and receivables by region was

as follows:

TE 2007 2008

EAME 128,056 129,176

North America 19,482 30,777

Asia/Pacific 47,369 42,308

South America 25,836 28,888
220,743 231,149

The aging of trade receivables as of the reporting date was as

follows:
2007 2008

T€ Gross Impairment Net Gross Impairment Net
Not yet due 184,448 0 184,448 190,366 0 190,366
Overdue since 1-30 days 21,631 3 21,628 22,176 2 22,174
Overdue since 31-90 days 7,524 24 7,500 7,647 38 7,609
Overdue since 91-360 days 3,303 2,401 902 2,556 1,447 1,109
More than one year 1,719 1,719 0 1,262 834 428

218,625 4,147 214,478 224,007 2,321 221,686
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The movement on allowances for impairment with respect to trade
receivables during the year reported was as follows:

T€ 2007 2008
Balance on January 1 3,024 4,147
Currency translation differences -124 14
Impairment loss recognized 2,803 2,304
Utilized during the year -1,001 -916
Reversal -555 -3,228
Balance on December 31 4,147 2,321

The major currency exposure that Symrise has is with respect to
the US dollar. For other currencies, items are generally either de-
nominated in the functional currency of the respective territories
or in euros. The net risk from foreign currency translation was as
follows:

2007 2007 2008 2008
Dec. 31 in TUS$ in T€ in TUS$ inTE
Currency risk from
balance sheet items 12,609 8,573 31,553 22,987
Thereof financial
assets 33,566 22,822 70,435 50,593
Thereof financial
liabilities -20,597 -14,004 -38,883 -27,606
Change in future net
income and equity
resulting from a 10%
rise in the euro 545 371 2,868 2,734

This sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption that all
variables other than a change in foreign currency exchange rates
remain constant.

Liquidity Risk for Loans

The following summary shows the contractually agreed redemption
payments with respect to financial liabilities, including estimated
interest payments (5%), as the loans deriving from revolving credit
lines will be available to us on a long-term basis.

2007
Terms - disbursements
Carrying | Disbursements less than more than
T€ amount 1 year 1 year
Financial
liabilities | 605,556 666,283 79,799 586,484
2008
Expected
terms - disbursements
Carrying Expected less than more than
T€ amount | disbursements 1 year 1 year
Financial
liabilities | 708,720 804,178 108,322 695,856

Cash Flow Forecast for Derivatives
The following summary shows the periods in which cash flows
arise from contracted interest hedges.

2007
Receipts - terms
Carrying Receipts less than more than
T€ amount 1 year 1 year
Receivables 10,552 4,396 -333 4,729
2008
Term - expected
disbursements
Carrying Expected | less than more than
T€ amount |disbursements 1 year 1 year
Liabilities -15,362 -9,431 -4,020 -5,411

* Expected cash flow deriving from financial instruments with a remaining term to
maturity of less than/more than one year.
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Sensitivity Analysis for Derivatives as at December 31, 2008
A parallel transformation of the interest curve by 1% upwards or
downwards would have the following impact on the financial re-
sult and on equity. The analysis is based on the assumption that all
other variables, in particular exchange rates, remain constant.

Financial result Equity
Carrying 1% 1% 1% 1%
amount Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

Interest swaps

T€ -9,089 209 -209 10,226  -10,226
Interest swaps
TUSS -8,117 98 98 4,826 -4,826

Sensitivity Analysis Deriving from Utilized
Total Lines of Credit

Nominal thereof: thereof: 1% 1%

secured  unsecured Increase Decrease

T€ 500,000 380,000 120,000 7,200 4,800
TUS$ 300,000 175,000 125,000 7,500 5,000

10. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Executive Board members, former general managers as well as
Supervisory Board members and former shareholder representa-
tives qualify as related parties.

A receivable amounting to T€ 23 resulted from overpayments,
which derived from foreign currency conversion of salary compu-
tations on behalf of a member of the Executive Board (see report
on remuneration), due to the fact that the basis for the salary com-
putation was changed to US $ in the second half of 2008. This re-
ceivable has been recognized as a component of other assets.

In fiscal year 2008, the former Executive Board member Mr. Horst-
Otto Gerberding received the following monthly payments within
the context of a termination agreement (Amended and Restated
Services Agreement) deriving from 2003:

~

an interim allowance amounting to T€ 42 up to March 31, 2008

~

compensation payments amounting to T€ 42, deriving from a
subsequent non-competition agreement. This entitlement exists
up to and including September 2009. The payment relating to
the period from September to December 2007 was made in
2008.

~

retirement and pension entitlements totaling T€ 23 from April 1,
2008 onwards. The pension entitlement derives from a contract
of employment and benefits, dated July 29, 1983.

Provisions for current pensions and pension entitlements for for-
mer members of the Executive Board amounting to € 2.1 million
were recognized as at December 31, 2008.
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The total remuneration for members of the Supervisory Board
amounted to T€ 673 (2007: T€ 589).

SUPERVISORY BOARD REMUNERATION 2008

Name Remuneration Remuneration ~ Committees ~Remuneration  Committees Payable for
p.a. for earnings p.a. total 2008
€ per share
Andreas Schmid, Chairman 40,000 30,400 32,500 102,900 15,500 118,400
Horst-Otto Gerberding 20,000 15,200 5,000 40,200 11,000 51,200
Sanna Suvanto-Harsaae 20,000 15,200 7,500 42,700 11,000 53,700
Klaus Kiihn, until Dec. 31, 2008 20,000 15,200 9,589 44,789 11,000 55,789
Dr. Peter Grafoner 20,000 15,200 2,911 38,111 12,000 50,111
Dr. Hans-Heinrich Giirteler 20,000 15,200 0 35,200 8,000 43,200
Dr. Helmut Frieden 20,000 15,200 0 35,200 8,000 43,200
Karl-Heinz Huchthausen, Vice Chairman 30,000 22,800 5,000 57,800 11,000 68,800
Regina Hufnagel 20,000 15,200 5,000 40,200 11,000 51,200
Helmut Tacke 20,000 15,200 0 35,200 8,000 43,200
Peter Winkelmann 20,000 15,200 2,500 37,700 13,000 50,700
Francesco Grioli 20,000 15,200 0 35,200 8,000 43,200
Total 270,000 205,200 70,000 545,200 127,500 672,700

1) Earnings per share: € 0.76

The remuneration of the Executive Board members is reported in
the management report.

The following table summarizes the stock transactions reported to
the Company pursuant to Section 15a WpHG [“Wertpapierhan-
delsgesetz”: German Securities Trading Act]:

Name and position Type of Type of Date, Number of Price Total volume
transaction- security place shares (€) (€)

Horst-Otto Gerberding Purchase Symrise  03/27/2008 16.26 1,656,417.11

(member of the Supervisory Board) no-par shares Xetra 101,850

Dominique Robert Yates Purchase Symrise 03/31/2008 16.48 65,928.00

(member of the Executive Board) no-par shares Xetra 4,000

Dr. Heinz-Jlrgen Bertram Purchase Symrise  07/29/2008 10.96 298,190.88

(member of the Executive Board) no-par shares Xetra 27,200

Karl-Heinz Huchthausen Purchase Symrise 07/29/2008 11.00 5,500.00

(member of the Supervisory Board) no-par shares Xetra 500

Sanna Suvanto-Harsaae Purchase Symrise 08/20/2008 12.11 26,633.07

(member of the Supervisory Board) no-par shares Xetra 2,200

Dominique Robert Yates Purchase Symrise  08/22/2008 12.05 223,518.23

(member of the Executive Board) no-par shares Xetra 18,550

Dr. Heinz-Jlrgen Bertram Purchase Symrise 11/05/2008 9.85 36,371.37

(member of the Executive Board) no-par shares Xetra 3,692

Dr. Heinz-Jlrgen Bertram Purchase Symrise 11/06/2008 9.87 163,856.19

(member of the Executive Board) no-par shares Xetra 16,608
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11. LONG TERM FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVITIES AND POLICIES

We refer to the risk report included as part of our management
report.

12. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS SUBSEQUENT
TO THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

No events occurred after the balance sheet date that require
reporting.

13. AUDIT

On April 29, 2008, the Shareholders’ Meeting of Symrise AG
appointed KPMG Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft AG Wirtschafts-
prifungsgesellschaft (as from October 1, 2008, KPMG AG
Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft) as auditors for fiscal year 2008.

The following table provides an overview of fees awarded to the
auditors:

Fees 2008

T€ 2007 2008
Auditing 864 872
Audit-related services 30 164
Tax advisory services 155 181
Other services 124 8
Total 1,173 1,225
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14. SHAREHOLDINGS IN SYMRISE AG PURSUANT TO
SECTION 160 (1) NO. 8 AKTG

As of the balance sheet reporting date, Symrise AG received the
following notifications from shareholders of the Company pursuant
to the provisions of the German Securities Trading Act:

% Threshold Share-
level exceeded holding in %

Company Location Notification dated Effective as of W or fallen below afterwards Voting rights
Gerberding Vermdgens- Holzminden Dec. 28, 2006 Dec. 13, 2006
verwaltung GmbH 4 10.00%
Herr Horst-Otto Gerberding 4 Holzminden Dec. 28, 2006 Dec. 13, 2006 5.86% 6,928,087
Gerberding Vermdgens- Holzminden Dec. 28, 2006 Dec. 13, 2006
verwaltung GmbH & Co.KG 4 - 5.00%
The Bank of New York Pittsburgh, Feb. 1, 2008 July 1, 2007 5.24% 6,190,618
Mellon Corporation " Pennsylvania, USA 5.00%
The Bank of New York New York, USA Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 30, 2008 4.98% 5,888,136
Mellon Corporation " 5.00%
Mellon International Luxembourg Nov. 9, 2007 Jan. 25, 2007 5.58% 6,595,115
Holdings S.a.r.l 3.00%
Deutsche Bank AG Frankfurt, Germany July 31, 2008 July 25, 2008 3.00% 2.90% 3,428,355
Deutsche Bank Wilmington, July 28, 2008 July 22, 2008 2.87% 3,393,317
Americas Holding Corp." Delaware, USA 3.00%
Deutsche Investment New York, USA July 28, 2008 July 22 2008 2.87% 3,393,317
Management Americas Inc.% 3.00%
DWS Investment GmbH Frankfurt, Germany May 7, 2008 May 6, 2008 3.00% 2.97% 3,511,300
Egerton Capital Limited London, UK Feb. 22, 2008 Feb. 13, 2008 2.98% 3,521,323
Partnership 2 3.00%
Egerton Capital Limited ") London, UK Feb. 19, 2008 Feb. 13, 2008 5.00% 2.98% &5721 8723
Fidelity Management & Boston, Nov. 27, 2008 Nov. 24, 2008 4.90% 5,791,400
Research Company 2 Massachusetts, USA 5.00%
FMR LLC 1 Boston, Oct. 30, 2008 Oct. 24, 2008 5.17% 6,107,440

Massachusetts, USA 3.00%
John Armitage London, UK Feb. 22, 2008 Feb. 13, 2008 3.00% 2.98% 3,521,323
JPMorgan Asset Management London, UK Jan. 27, 2009 Jan. 22, 2009 2.94% 3,474,305
(UK) Limited 2 3.00%
JPMorgan Asset Management London, UK Sep. 29, 2008 April 18, 2008 3.78% 4,468,488
Holdings (UK) Limited " 5.00%
JPMorgan Asset Management New York, USA Jan. 30, 2008 Jan. 30, 2008 4.49% 5,311,526
Holdings Inc. " 3.00%
JPMorgan Asset Management London, UK Sep. 29 2008 April 18, 2008 3.78% 4,468,488
International Limited " 5.00%
JPMorgan Chase & Co.% New York, USA Feb. 13, 2008 Feb. 8, 2008 5.00% 4.90% 5,794,360
Newton Investment Management London, UK Feb. 20, 2007an. 25, 2007/Correc- 5.58% 6,595,115
Limited, Mellon Financial Centre 2 tion Feb. 8, 2007 3.00%
Lazard Asset Management LLC 2 New York, USA Sep. 30, 2008 Sep. 25, 2008 5.00% 2.75% 3,246,887
M&G Group Limited" London, UK March 3, 2008 Feb. 28, 2008 5.00% 5.17% 6,114,758
M&G Investment Funds London, UK March 25, 2008 March 18, 2008 5.06% 5,974,017
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continuance % Threshold Share-
level exceeded holding in %

Company Location Notification dated Effective as of or fallen below afterwards Voting rights
M&G Investment London, UK March 3, 2008 Feb. 28, 2008 5.00% 5.13% 6,056,787
Management Limited")
M&G Limited" London, UK March 3, 2008 Feb. 28, 2008 5.00% 517% 6,114,758
M&G Securities Limited? London, UK March 25, 2008 March 18, 2008 5.00% 5.18% 6,115,017
Massachusetts Financial Boston, Oct. 7, 2008 Sep. 30, 2008 5.00% 5.02% 5,929,174
Services Company (MFS)2 Massachusetts, USA
New Star Asset Management London, UK Dec. 17, 2008 Dec. 12, 2008 3.00% 2.92% 3,453,794
Limited?
Prudential plc." London, UK Feb. 27,2008 Feb. 21, 2008 5.00% 5.08% 6,013,331
Schroders Administration London, UK Feb. 4, 2008 Jan. 25, 2008 5.00% 4.96% 5,865,659
Limited?
Schroders Investment Manage- London, UK Feb. 4, 2008 Jan. 25, 2008 5.00% 4.96% 5,865,659
ment Limited?
Schroders plc.? London, UK Feb. 4, 2008 Jan. 25, 2008 5.00% 4.96% 5,865,659
Sun Life Assurance Company of Wellesley Hills, Oct. 7, 2008 Sep. 30, 2008 5.00% 5.02% 5,929,174
Canada - US Operations Massachusetts, USA
Holdings Inc.”
Sun Life Financial (U.S.) Hol- Wellesley Hills, QOct. 7, 2008 Sep. 30, 2008 5.00% 5.02% 5,929,174
dings Inc." Massachusetts, USA
Sun Life Financial (U.S.) Wellesley Hills, Oct. 7, 2008 Sep. 30, 2008 5.00% 5.02% 5,929,174
Investments LLCY Massachusetts, USA
Sun Life Financial Inc.” Toronto, Ontario, Kanada QOct. 7, 2008 Sep. 30, 2008 5.00% 5.02% 5,929,174
Sun Life Global Investments Inc.  Toronto, Ontario, Kanada Oct. 7, 2008 Sep. 30, 2008 5.00% 5.02% 5,929,174
(vormals Sun Life Financial Corp.)"
Sun Life of Canada (U.S.) Boston, QOct. 7, 2008 Sep. 30, 2008 5.00% 5.02% 5,929,174
Financial Services Holdings Inc.”  Massachusetts, USA
Taunus Corp." Wilmington, July 28, 2008 July 22, 2008 3.00% 2.93% 3,458,490

Delaware, USA
William Bollinger" London, UK Feb. 22, 2008 Feb. 13, 2008 3.00% 2.98% 3,521,323

" The voting rights are attributed pursuant to Sec
of the WpHG [German Securities Trading Act].

2 The voting rights are attributed pursuant to Sec

3 The voting rights are attributed pursuant to Sec
2 and 3 of the WpHG.

4 The voting rights are attributed pursuant to Sec

.22 (1) S.1 No.6 together with Sentence 2

.22 (1) S.1 No.6 WpHG.
.22 (1) S.1 No. 6 together with Sentences

.22 (1) 8.1 No.1 of the WpHG.

9 All voting rights are attributed to the company pursuant to Sec. 22 (1) S.1 No. 6 of the
WPHG, thereof 0.03% (37,394 voting rights) together with Sec. 22 (1) S.2 of the WpHG.

9 Of these voting rights, 4.35% (or respectively 5,141,441 voting rights) are attributed to the

company pursuant to Sec. 22 (1) S.1 No.6 and
spectively 652,919 voting rights) are attributed
S.1 No. 1 of the WpHG.

S.2. of the WpHG. A further 0.55% (or re-
to the company pursuant to Sec. 22 (1)
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15. PROPOSAL FOR PROFIT APPROPRIATION

The Executive Board proposes distribution of a dividend of € 0.50
per share.

16. EXEMPTION FROM THE OBLIGATION TO PREPARE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PURSUANT TO SECTION
§ 264B HGB

Symrise GmbH & Co. KG is included in the consolidated financial
statements of Symrise AG in accordance with the provisions ap-
plicable for corporations and has taken advantage of the exemp-
tion provisions covering preparation, audit and publication of
financial statements pursuant to Section 264b HGB.

Drinkstar GmbH is included in the consolidated financial state-
ments of Symrise AG in accordance with the provisions applicable
for corporations and has taken advantage of the exemption provi-
sions covering the publication of financial statements pursuant to
Section 264 Il HGB.

17. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The declaration of compliance made pursuant to Section 161 AktG
has been submitted for 2008 and has been made available to share-
holders on an ongoing basis through our website www.symrise.com.

Holzminden, February 18, 2009

Symrise AG
The Executive Board

ﬁf /fm b . \tzJ‘ULT

Dr. 1éerold Linzbach Dominique Yates

1

" % I / d&”‘
Dr. Heinz-Juirgen Bertram Achim Daub
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Auditor’s Report

We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by
the Symrise AG, Holzminden, comprising the consolidated balance
sheet, the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement
of changes in equity, consolidated cash flow statement and the
notes to the consolidated financial statements, together with the
group management report for the business year from January 1 to
December 31, 2008. The preparation of the consolidated finan-
cial statements and the group management report in accordance
with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements
of German commercial law pursuant to Section 315 a Abs. 1 HGB
are the responsibility of the parent company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated finan-
cial statements and on the group management report based on
our audit. We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with section 317 HGB [Handelsgesetz-
buch ,German Commercial Code“] and German generally ac-
cepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated
by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprifer (IDW). Those standards re-
quire that we plan and perform the audit such that misstatements
materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, financial
position and results of operations in the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework and in the group management report are detected with
reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and
the economic and legal environment of the Group and expecta-
tions as to possible misstatements are taken into account in the
determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the ac-
counting-related internal control system and the evidence sup-
porting the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
and the group management report are examined primarily on a
test basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes as-
sessing the annual financial statements of those entities included
in consolidation, the determination of entities to be included in

consolidation, the accounting and consolidation principles used,
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evalu-
ating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial state-
ments and group management report. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. Our audit has not led
to any reservations. In our opinion, based on the findings of our
audit, the consolidated financial statements comply with IFRSs as
adopted by the EU, the additional requirements of German com-
mercial law pursuant to Section 315 a Abs. 1 HGB and give a true
and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of op-
erations of the Group in accordance with these requirements. The
group management report is consistent with the consolidated fi-
nancial statements and, as a whole, provides a suitable view of the
Group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities and risks
of future development.

Hanover, February 19, 2009

KPMG Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft
Aktiengesellschaft
Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft

KPMG AG
Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft

(formerly

KPMG Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft
Aktiengesellschaft
Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft)

Dr. Thimler
Wirtschaftsprifer

Dr. Bartels-Hetzler
Wirtschaftsprifer
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Responsibility Statement
(“Bilanzeid”)

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the appli-
cable reporting principles, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position
and profit or loss of the group, and the group management report
includes a fair review of the development and performance of the
business and the position of the group, together with a descrip-
tion of the principal opportunities and risks associated with the
expected development of the group.

Holzminden, Germany, February 18, 2009

Symrise AG
The Executive Board

Dr. Gérold Linzbach Dominique Yates
Dr. Heinz-Jirgen Bertram Achim Daub

Further Information W
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Bodies

Executive Board
The Executive Board of the Symrise AG consists of the following members:

Dr. Gerold Linzbach Dr. Heinz-Jiirgen Bertram

Chairman Board Flavor & Nutrition

» Member of the Board of Directors, Duni AB, Sweden ) Regional Advisory Council of the North LB
(until May 2, 2008) (Holzminden)

Dominique Robert Yates Achim Daub

CFO Board Scent & Care

Function Other positions held

~

Andreas Schmid* Chairman of the Supervisory Oettinger Imex AG (Davidoff Group) (President of the Board
Chairman Board of Symrise AG of Directors)

Unique (Flughafen Zirich AG) (President of the

Board of Directors)

Barry Callebaut AG (Vice President of the Board of Directors)
Gate Gourmet Group Holding LLC (Vice President of the
Board of Directors und Lead Independent Director)

Karl Steiner AG (Member of the Board of Directors)

Badrutt’s Palace Hotel AG (Member of the Board of Directors)

~

~ ~

~ ~

Karl-Heinz Chairman of works council and
Huchthausen general works council of
Vice Chairman Symrise GmbH & Co. KG

Dr. Helmut Frieden Corporate Vice President Product,
Safety, Health and Environmental
Compliance of Symrise GmbH &
Co. KG, Holzminden

~

Dr. Peter Grafoner* Vercammen & Cie, Andernach SKF AB, Goteborg, Sweden
(General Manager) (Member of the Board of Directors)
Beumer Maschinenfabrik GmbH & Co. KG, Beckum
(Member of the Advisory Board)
Drissler PapiergroBhandel GmbH & Co. KG, Dietzenbach
(Member of the Advisory Board)
MASA Aktiengesellschaft, Andernach
(Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
SCANIA Deutschland GmbH, Koblenz
(Chairman of the Advisory Board)

~

~

~

~
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Dr. Peter Grafoner*

Horst-Otto
Gerberding*

Francesco Grioli

Dr. Hans-Heinrich
Girtler*

Regina Hufnagel

Klaus Kiihn*
(until December 30,
2008)

Sanna Suvanto-
Harsaae*

Helmut Tacke

Peter Winkelmann

Managing partner of the Drago
Invest GmbH & Co KG

Director of the works council of IG
BCE Hannover

Vice Chairwoman of the works
council and general works council
of the Symrise GmbH & Co. KG

Member of the board of directors
Bayer AG (CFO)

Freelance consultant

Member of the works council of
Symrise GmbH & Co. KG

Head for the region Alfeld of IG BCE

*Shareholder representative

~ ~

~

~ ~ v >~ o~

~ ~

~ ~

~ ~

~ ~

~

~

~ v~~~

SCANIA Osterreich GmbH, Wien, Austria
(Chairman of the Advisory Board)
SCANIA Schweiz AG, Kloten, Switzerland
(Chairman of the Board of Directors)

VTl Technologies Oy, Finland

(Chairman of the Board of Directors)

Georg Lemke & Co. KG (Chairman of the Advisory Board)
Gottfried Friedrichs KG (Member of the Advisory Board)

Kahl GmbH & Co. KG (Chairman of the Advisory Board)
Druck- und Verlagshaus Hiipke & Sohn Weserland-Verlag GmbH
(Taglicher Anzeiger Holzminden) (Member of the Advisory Board)
InfoTech AG, (Member of the Supervisory Board)

Teehaus J.T. Ronnefeldt KG (Member of the Advisory Board)
Yanick + Fée AG (Member of the Advisory Board)

RAG Bildung GmbH (Vice Chairman of the Advisory Board)
RAG Bildung Saar GmbH

(Vice Chairman of the Advisory Board)

BWS GmbH (Member of the Advisory Board)

Deutsche Bank AG (Member of the Advisory Board)
Triton Beteiligungsberatung GmbH, Frankfurt
(Member of the Advisory Board)

Bayer CropScience AG (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
Bayer Business Services GmbH

(Chairman of the Supervisory Board)

Bayer Schering Pharma AG (Member of the Supervisory Board)

Sunset Boulvard AS, Denmark

(Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board)

Babysam AS, Denmark (Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board)
Duni AB, Sweden (Member of the Supervisory Board)

Paulig AB, Finland (Member of the Supervisory Board)
Jetpak AB, Sweden (Member of the Supervisory Board)
Candyking AB, Sweden (Member of the Supervisory Board)

Further Information W

{
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Financial Calendar

March 4, 2009
Annual Press Conference/Analyst Conference
Financial Year 2008

May 7, 2009
Interim Report 1st Quarter 2009

May 11, 2009
Annual General Meeting, Frankfurt

May 12, 2009
Dividend Payment

August 6, 2009
Interim Report 2nd Quarter 2009

November 5, 2009
Interim Report 3rd Quarter 2009
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FSC

Mix
Produktgruppe aus vorbildlich bewirtschafteten
Wildern und anderen kontrollierten Herkiinften

www.fsc.org Zert.-Nr. GFA-COC-1374
© 1996 Forest Stewardship Council

The FSC Logo identifies products which contain wood
from well managed forests certified in accordance with
the rules of the Forest Stewardship Council.
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